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 BEFORETHE
~ MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
In the Matter of the Accusation against‘:'

KEVIN SANFORD SMITH, M.D., Respondent
Case No. 800-2016-025316
OAH No. 2019110287
PROPOSED DECISION

Mary Agnes Matyszewski, Administrative Law Judge, Office of Administrative

Hearings, State ‘6f C_alifornia, heard this matter on September 21, 22, 23, and 24, 2020.1 '

TIn light of the Govérn'or’s proclamation of a State pf Ehergency and Executive
Orders N-25-20, N-33-20, and N-63-20 ari'éing out of the COVID-19 pandemic; the
declarations of county and city publi\c health e'merge.ncies throughout the State; the
directives from state and Iocél officials to ensure and faéilitate physical distancing and
~ to shelter-in-place; é_nd.in.order to protect the health and safety of all public and OAH

personnel; this matter was conducted telephonically.



LeAnna E. Shields, Deputy Attorney General, Department of Justice, State of

California, represented complalnant,' William Prasifka, Executive'Director, Medical

Board of California, Departm_ent__, o_f Consum:e_r Affairs; State_otCaIitornia.2

'Robert W. Frank, Attorney at Law, Neil, Dymott; F'ranlc;-McF'all; Trexler, McCabe

& Hudson APLC, represented’ respondent, Kevin Sanford Smith, M.D.,iwho was present. -

| The matter was submitted on September 24, 2020,
PROTECTIVE ORDER SEALING CONFIDENTIAL RECORDS

Exhibits4 through 16, inclusivé 18, '19 20, 22, F, G, H, and I. medical reports'
: and records, were received and contalned confldentlal rnformatlon Exh|b|t D was |
offered but not recelved and also contained confldentlal lnformatlon Itis |mpract|cal
to redact the lnformat|on from these exhibits. To protect patlents prlvacy and
confldentla| personal lnformatlon from inappropriate dlsclosure those exhlblts are
ordered sealed ThIS seallng order governs the release of documents to the publlc A
'reVIewmg court, partres to thls matter their attorneys, and a government agency
dec15|on maker or desrgnee under Government Code sectlon 1151 7 may review the
documents subJect to this order, prowded that the documents are protected from

reIease to the publlc

2 Ki_mberly'Kirchmeyer'was the Executive Director when the accusation was filed.



-~ SUMMARY

Dr. Smith treated three pain patients, during different periods of time, between
2013 and 2017. Pain management is an evolving ﬁe_ld of medicine and Dr. Smith has
made changes to his.practice because of recent developments. Dr. Smith presented as

a caring and knowledgeable physician.

However, complainant established by clear and convincihg evidencé fhét during
the time he treated these three patients, he was grossly negligent and committed _ |
repeated negligent acts when he prescribed a combination of high-dose opioids and
Soma, failed to adequately modify the patients’ controlied substance regimens; failed
to obtain sufficient CURES? reports; failed to order urine drug screens, or follow-up on
those that were ordered; and failed to adequately document detailed physical -
examinations. Dr. Smith repeatedly documented that he “did not recommend” the very
high-dose opioid therapy he routinely prescribed and he made no changes to the-

patiehts’ prescriptions despite his notations in the charts that he would.

Complainant did not establish by clear and convincing evidence that Dr. Smith
failed to maintain tfmely medical records; or that he failed to obtain adequate

consultations; or that he failed to adequately document his treatment obje‘ct'ives..

Based upon totality of the evidence presented, Dr. Smith's license will be placed

on probation with terms and conditions that address the allegations proven.

3 CURES is the acronym for Controlled Substance Utilization Review and
Evaluations System, a database of all Schedule IL, III, and IV controlled substance

prescriptions dispensed in California. (See Health & Saf. Code, § 11165 et seq.)
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FINDING OF FACTS

‘D'r. Smith’s Licensing Hi:l:tvory

1. The board issued P‘hysician and Surgeon's Certificate No. G 70647 to Dr.
Smith on January 14, 1991. That certificate was in full force and effect at alI times -

herein and will explre on June 30, 2022 unless renewed

2. On July 25, 2013 the board issued a publlc letter of reprrmand4 to Dr.
Smlth in Case No. 10-2011-213184, arlsmg out of his care and. treatment of one - : -
patient. Dr. Smith was publicly reprlmanded for commrttlng repeated negligent acts in

v10latlon of Busmess and Professmns Code section 2234, subdmsnon (c) for falllng to

' properly assess and treat chronic parn " and “adequately document_the patlent s

medical records. _T_hat - decision_is_now final_and.is mcorpor _t_e_d_b_y_r_eference asiffully

- set forth herein: No fac_ts regardlng» ‘that matter were offered at this hearmg.

Jurisdictional Background

3. The accusatlon was srgned by the complalnant the former Executlve

Dlrector in her ofﬂual capaCIty on January 3, 2019. Complalnant aIIeged Dr. Smlth

vnolated Busnness and Professions Code sectlons 2227 and 2234, subdlwsron (b), by

' commlttmg gross negligence in his care and treatment of three patlents (First Cause

for Discipline); violated Business and Pro_fess‘ions Code sections 2227 and 2234,
subdivision (c), by comrnitting repeated negligent acts in his care and treatment of the

three patients (Second Cause for Discipline); and violated Business and Profes.sions

4 Business and Professions Code section 2233 authorizes the board to issue a

public letter of reprimand, rather than filing a formal accusation, for “minor violations.”
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Code sections. 2227 and 2234, subdivision (a), violating or attempting to violate the
Medical Practice Act (Thrrd Cause for Discipline).® Complarnant alleged Dr. Smlth s

letter of reprlmand as a drscrplrnary consideration.

4. Dr. Smith timely submitted a notice of defense, and this hearing followed.

Dr. Smith’s Education, Background, and Medical Practice

:AS. - Dr. Smlth obtamed a Bachelor of Scrence degree in zoology from
Marshall UnlverS|ty in 1980. He obtalned his medlcal doctor degree from Marshall
Unrversrty in 1986. From 1986 to 1990 he did a re5|dency at the Unrversrty of Lowsvrlle
Affiliated Hospltals Dr. Smith is board certified in Anesthesrology by the American
Board of Anesthesrology He was board certlfled in Pain Management by the Amerrcan

Board of Anesthesrology in 1978 and recertlfled in 2010

Dr. Smith was a clinical instructor invanesthe'sia at the University of Louisville
School of Medicine from 1990 to 1991. He practiced as an anestheswlogrst from 1991
to 2002 at San Diego’s Anesthesia Serwce Medical Group, Inc. He was a pain
management specrallst at Interventronal Pain Specialist of Southern Cahfornla from
2002 to 2006. Slnce 2006, he has been a pain management specialist at Integrated
Parn Specialists of Southern Callforma where the three patients at issue in this matter

were treated. Dr. Smlth.has privileges at several facilities, has served on numerous

> Complainant_also alleged that Dr. Smith's acts subjected him to the provisions
of Business and Professions Code section 2228.1, which reqdires a.dd-itional notification
to patients if the physician caused harm. However, at hearing complainant’s expert
withdrew his opinions that Dr. Smith ca-osed harm and complainant withdrew this |

allegation.”



A

.commlttees is a member of many professmnal organrzatlons and has grven multlple

: presentatlons on paln management rssues _

46. Dr. Smlth began hlS medlcal practlce as an anesthe5|olog|st As paln
management was evolvmg as a specnalty practlce anesthesnologlsts were the ones
) ‘__Ieadrng and developlng this practlce Dr Smlth and his colleague began practlcmg
both anesthe5|a and paln managevment whlle at Anesthesra SerV|ce Medlcal Group, Inc. _'
Dr. Smith served as the charrman of the Chronlc Pain’ Management Commlttee for the

| .group Because of the Iltlgatron rnvolved and the Ilablllty for pa|n management the _
anesthesra group, whlch was self msured was concerned about costs As a result the
- group asked the paln management physrcnans to start thelr own practlce Dr Smlth
| 'and hlS colleague amlcably left the group to form therr own paln management
‘practice, Interventional Pain SpeC|alrst of Southern Cal|forn|a The anesthe5|a group 's

attorneys helped. Dr Smlth and his partner form the new pain management practlce
and the anestheSIa group referred patlents to Dr. Smlth and his colleague As Dr Smlth

‘testified, the anestheSIa group was “one of my blggest referrals and he stlll remains -

close wrth hIS former colleagues

In 2006 Dr. Sm|th and his. partner ended thelr partnershlp and Dr Smlth formed
' Integrated Paln Specrahsts of Southern Callfornla where the treatment at issue in thrs
case was provnded The structure of Dr Smith’s parn management practlce has been -
the same smce the busrness model he and h|s ex- partner estabhshed when they

L created the practlce one treatlng physncran two or three medlcal assrstants and one
phy5|C|an assrstant At times, there has been a second part tlme physraan aSS|stant |

and Dr. Smlth had a nurse practrtloner for short perlod of time, but no Ionger

7. Dr. Smith described the evolving nature of pain management Inltrally :
when he opened his practlce he was one of only two or three pain management ‘
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practices in San Diego County. Back then, insurance companies did not authorize
monthly visits, so patlents were only seen every two to three months, and glven

) prescnptlons for two to three month supplies. This "changed rapidly” to the current
model where insurance companies now authorize patlents to be seenon a monthly
basns with 30-day prescriptions of opioids and other pa|n management medlcatlons
which is how Dr. Smith operates his practice. Dr. Smith continues to make changes to

his practice as standards of care evolve.

- Dr. Smith described how his medical assistants take the patieht’s Vital sighsband
review information with the patlent before he or the phySICIan aSS|stant meets with the
patlent The lnformatlon obtained by the medical assistant is not in the chart when Dr.
Smith sees the patlent, it is entered later. Dr. Smith relies upon the medical assistant or -
physicién assistant to bring ény significant fihdings, such as inconsistent urine drug
4 scréens (UDS), elevated blood préssure readings, or other concerns to His attention. He
also relies on his office staff to obtain the UDS reports and advise him when they.ere
received When Dr Smith found out that these three patients were not following his
instructions or v10|at|ng office poIIC|es he discharged them. He attributed hIS lack of
knowledge regardlng v10latlons that took place long before he discharged the patlents

to the failure of his staff to bring it to his attentlon

_Dr. Smith testiﬁed about each patient’s care, his .rationale for treatment 6rdered,
and the reasons for decisions made as charted in the records. Dr. Smfth’s_festimo’ny is _
incorporated in the findihgs feached below. He also introdueed notes documenting
weekly staff meetings and weekly meetin'gs with his physieian assistants and nurse

practitioner to review patients’ care, which were considered herein.



Physician Responsibility for Physician Assistants

8. "ITtwas suggest'edvat hearing th"at because many of these patients were ‘
seen by the physician assistants, that Dr. Smith was somehow not responsible forany
care provided at those visits. That suggestion is rejected. Busiriess-and Professions
Code section'3502 subdivision (")(1) authorizes a"ph'ySiCia'n assistant to' perform |
medical services “under the superv15|on of a licensed physnaan California Code of
regulatlons title 16, section 1399 540, subd1v15|on (a) allows a phy5|c1an assnstant to

“only prov1de those medlcal serv1ces which he or she is competent to perform and

which are consnstent With the phy5|c1an assnstant s education tralnlng, and experience

o ‘ and whlch are- delegated in writrng by a supervrsmg phy51c1an who is responSIbIe for '

the patients cared for by that phyS|cran assrstant Accordingly, despite who rendered

: the treatment Dr. Smith was responsrble for all medical care prowded to the patlents.A
Expert_Witnésses -
- COMPLAINANT’S EXPERT. .

9. Complalnant retalned Foead Geula M D., who authored a report two-
supplemental reports, and testified at this hearing. Dr. Geula obtalned hIS Bachelor of
,Sczence in b'ochemistry and cell biology from the University of Californla San Diego in
- 1999; hIS medical degree from Washington Univer5|ty in St. Lou15 Missouri ln 2004;
and his Master of Arts degree from Washington UniverSIty in 2002. He did an. lnternal

medicine internship. at University. of California, Los Angeles from 2004 to 2005 He d|d
an anesthesiology residency at University of Californla,_ San Francisco from .\2005'to
2008., and a pain management 'fel.l-oWship at -Uiniversity California, San Fran_cisco from'
2008 to 2009. He was board.certified in both anesthesia and_p_ain medicine by the

American Board of Anesthesiology. Since 2009 he has been a clinical instructor at
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Overview-UCLA Medical Center; from 2008 to 2009 he worked per diem at Kaiser
Permanente Medical Center in San Francisco; and from March 2012 to the preeent he
Has been in private practice. He has been an expert for the board since 2013; but took

himself “off of availability” in 2019 or 2020 because his practice has gotten very busy. -

From 2012 to 2018 Dr. Geula had both a pain ma’nageme'nt and an anesthesia
practice of “varying percentages " Since cIosing the pain management portion'of his
practlce in 2018 he has ' excluswely performed anesthesia. Dr. Geula explalned that
‘ when he was provrdlng paln management, he performed lnterventlonal treatment at
various ambulatory surgical centers in Los Angeles, performlng tngger point |nJect|ons,
epidurals, facets, blocks, mJectlons and spinal cord stimulator trials. He prescnbed
controlled substances, generally short acting opnords of low dosage although

‘occasionally he inherited patients WIth high-dose prescriptions, referred to in this

hearing as “legacy patients,"’.and he adjusted those prescriptions by lewering them.

During the time he was practicing pain management, Dr. Geula worked alone,

he did not supervise physician assistants or other staff, and did not operate a practice

similar to that operated by Dr. émith. When he was practicing pain management, Dr.
Geula kept current on.the etandard of care through continuing educatipn and online
courses, attending conferences, and reading periodicals. lDr. Geula a'cknoWledge'dv |
asking the board’s inr/estigator whether he was qualified to be an expert‘in this case
since he no longer practiced pain management; The investigator advised him that
since he practiced pain management during the years at issue in this matte_r, he could

render opinions on the applicable standard of care.



- RESPONDENT'S EXPERT

-10.  Dr. Smith retained Standiford Helm, II, M.D. Dr. Helm au'thored-a're‘port
"and testified at this hearing'-Dr Hel.m"graduate’d’ with a Bachelor of"Arts deg'ree from
Harvard College in 1972 He obtalned h|s medlcal degree from Tufts Umversrty in 1977
Dr HeIm did an rnternal medlcme mternshlp at Boston Clty Hospltal from 1977 to _
1978 He d|d a resrdency in anesthe5|ology at the Umversrty of Callfornla Los Angeles
from 1978 to 1980 He obtalned h|s Master's in Busmess Admlnlstratlon from .
Pepperdlne Unlversrty in 1988 Dr. Helm is a dlplomat of the Amerlcan Board of
Anesthe5|ology W|th a subspeualty certlflcatlon in paln medlcme He is certrfled in 7
addiction medlcme by the Amerlcan Board of Preventlve Medlcme He isa dlplomate |
of the Amerlcan Board of Paln Medlcme He isa dlplomate of the Amerlcan Board of
Interventlonal Paln PhySlClanS W|th competency certlflcatlon in Regeneratlve Medlcme

in Interventlonal Pain Management He is also a FeIIow ofInterventlonaI Paln Practlce

| Dr HeIm has served on the edltonal board of nomerous paln management :
publlcatlons has staff pnvrleges at several medlcal centers |s a member of many
medrcal SOC|et|es where he has held multlple Ieadershlp roles and has authored
. numerous publrcatlons Dr Helm is the medrcal dlrector of The HeIm Center for Paln ‘
Management a prlvate practlce treatlng paln management patlents Dr. Helm has |
overseen physrc1an assrstants and other staff and treated patlents SImllar to the ones

at lssue here Dr Helm S practlce is very srmllar to Dr Smlth s practlce

Dr. Helm began his.career as an anesthesiologist and as the pain management '
field deyeloped he “did with it.” He succes‘sfully passed the first board certification for
pain medicine. Dr. Smlth also had this matter reviewed by Tlmothy Deer, M.D.,
D.AB.P.M,, F.I P P., a nationally recognized pain management expert. After he wrote his

report, Dr. Helm reviewed Dr. Deer’s report and was "pIeased to see Dr. Deer’s
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_impre.ssion's and'my impressions were very closely aligned.” Because Dr. Helm had not
reviewed and relied upon Dr. Deers report when forming his oplnlons complainant’s
obJection to the |ntroduct|on of Dr. Deer’s report was sustained However, Dr. Helm

~ was asked specn‘lc questlons about flndings conta_med in Dr. Deer's report and he
agreed with the o_pinions and conclusions Dr. Deer reached. As not'ed during that

questioning, these tWo experts expressed similar opinions.

" Dr. Helm has treated thousands of patients I|ke the ones at issue here for more
“than 20 years He has rewewed hundreds of pain management cases for the board
attorneys, and physicians. He has acted as an expert or consultant in a variety of

different roles” f_or the board.

Dr. Helm explained how pain mana'gementfor treating patients with opioids has
-evolved from 2010 to the present. In 2016 when the Center for Disease Control (CDCQ)
came out with its morphine equivalent dosage of 90, that was a sngniflcant change in
~_the pain management practlce and led to many changes, includlng increased referrals

from primary care physrcnans and op|0|d weaning.
Evaluation of the Experts

11. - In determining the weight of each expert’s testimony; the expert's
qualifications, credibility and basis for his opinions were considered. California courts
repeatedly underscore that an expert’s opinion is only asigood as the facts and reason -
upon which that opinion is based: “Like a house built on sand, the expert's opinion is
no better than the facts on which it is based " (/(ennemur v. State ofCa//forn/a (1982)

133 Cal.App.3d 907, 923.)

Dr. Geula gave very careful, measured responses, even researching during

breaks to verify or correct his testimony. He based his opinions on specific entries in
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the medlcal records However he often testlfled about chart entries that ”concerned"

. h|m what he would have llked to see, what he would have wanted" Dr Smlth to do
- at the VISItS or-how the patlent S, flndmgs could be” related to varlous medlcal
condltlons Dr. Geula d|d not speclflcally testlfy that these concerns meant Dr Smith
fell below the standard of care and |t often appeared that much of Dr Geula s

testimony centered on “best practices” and not the standard of care.

Dr Geula only spent a few years practlcmg paln management part -time and did
not superVIse physman asslstants or operate the klnd of practlce at lssue here Dr
Geula pr|mar|ly prov1ded mterventronal paln management treatment as opposed to |
prescrlbmg the long-term, long actlng op10|d medications that Dr. Smith and Dr. Helm'
“have prescrlbed Dr. Helm much I|ke Dr. Smith, had extensrve paln management
expenence and has operated a paln management practlce for decades similar to the
~one Dr. Smith operates Dr. Helm s vast experlence doing the type of | paln
management Dr. Smlth provrded made some of Dr. Helm s opinions more’ rellable than
Dr. Geula s to the contrary Dr. Helm also repeatedly C|ted to. publlshed studies, artrcles
-~ and authorltles as the basis of his opmlons maklng them founded upon and
- 'supported by outside sources, unlike Dr. Geula who did’ not spec:flcally c1te to such :

authorrt_les during h|s_testlmony.: .

- However, Dr Helm took a more global approach to each patlent s care |
agreelng that there were areas where Dr Smith could have made better chorces but
ultlmately concluding that, overall, he metthevstandard of care. Dr._ Helm opined that
“he did not 'see’anything' in these three patients' records where Dr. Smith fell\"’below the
standard of care. Dr. Helm tended to gloss over entries in the r.eCOrds that Dr. Ceula
‘had concerns,about and seemed to tal<e :a no ha.rm, no foul approach, which made

many of Dr. Helm's opinions unpersuasive. Dr. Helm's credibility was also questionable
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because in other disciplinary matters where he was complainant's expert, he opined
that the board’s pain management guidelines were the standard of care as opposed to
those cases as a-respondent’s_ expert where he opined that the guidelines were not the
standard of care like he' did here. Dr. Helm has a[so testified ebnsistently in othe.r
d|5C|phnary matters with the oplnlons he offered here so the concerns raised about his
| credibility were not sufﬂaent to discount all of his oplnlons offered at this hearing,
espec:ally given Dr. Geula s Iack of experlence both in years of treatlng pain patients
and the types of pam management he rendered, wh|ch was a factor affectlng the

reliability of his opinions. ,

12.  Complainant’s request for judicial notice of a previoUs,ly adopted board
decision containing findings critical of Dr. Helm’s credibility was denied because that
| 'decision was not precedential, so is not controlling here. Moreover, the two expert.é
referenced in that decision were equally qualified and experienced, unlike the two

| experts here.
Pain Management Guidelines

13.  The board created Pain Management Guidelines which na\_/e been revieed
several times. The most recent version was revised in 2'014 Although net offered at
hearing, both experts referred to these and earlier gu1dehnes when renderlng opinions.
The main contention between the experts was whether the gwdehnes were the

standard of care.

14.  Official Notice is taken of the board’'s preamble in the 2014 Pain
Management Guidelines, pursuant to Government Code section 11515. The preamble

states in part:
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Theseguidelines are intended to help physicians improve '

outcomes of patient care and top prevent overdose deaths
. due to op|01d use. They particularly address the use of
op|01ds in the long ~term treatment of chronlc pain
These gmdelines underscore the extraordinary complexnty
in treating pa|n and how long term op|01d therapy should
be conducted |n practlce settlngs where careful evaluation
regular follow up, andclose superV|S|on are insured
These guidelines are not mtended to mandate the
standard of care>The board recognizes the deV|at|ons
from these gundelines will occur and may be appropriate |
depending upon the unique needs of mdrwdual patients
" Medicine is prac_tlced one patient at a time and’ each patient |
, has-individualnee'ds'a'nd vulnerabilities. (Emphasis

added)s

5. No ewdence was mtroduced that the board has ever stated thatits pain '

management gwdelmes are the standard of care.

16. Dr. Geula”s initial report was written in the format of the guidelines. He
based his opinions upon violations of the guidelines Dr. Helm t.estified that the
‘ gU|del|nes were not the standard of care ‘and that the board s former Executive -
Director confirmed this in discussions hie had with her Dr. Helm cntrcuzed Dr. Geula for

opining that vrolating the gurdellnes equated wnth vrolatlng the standard of care. Dr.

6 The 2014 preamble was consistent vvith the board’s prior statements rega.rding

earlier versions of the guidelines and the standard of care.
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Helm also opined that the guidelines are “directed to primary care physicians.” Setting
aside the credibility issues noted above, Dr. Helm's opinion that the guidelines were
not the standard of care was consistent with the board'’s published position. Dr.
Geula's report stated that the guidelines were “fully consistent” with the standard of

care; to the extent he opined that the guidelines were the standard of care, those’

opinions are not accepted.
Dr. Smith's Care and Treatment of Patient A

17.  PatientA, a 59-year-old female, first presented to Dr. Smith on October
10, 2013, for pain management of chronic pain in her face, lower back and knees. She _
describea the pain as “pulsing, throbbing, pounding, aching, radiafing, pe‘netratir.lg,
shooting, tender, tight, squeezing, tiring, pinching, cramp.ing, pulling, tingling, intense,
unbearable” with a severity of 6-7 out of 10. There was no precipitating event or
trauma and she was status post bilateral total knee replacements. She had numbness -
and tingling on the right side of her head, weakness, andv bladder leaks. Her condition
improved with pain medications and was aggra\)ated by activity. Other thera-pié,s she
had tried were TENS unit,” chiropractor, biofeedback/relaxation training, bedrest,

physical therapy, and pain clinic treatments. Patient A indicated on her questionnaire

" TENS is the acronym for Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation, a non-

~invasive device used for nerve related pain conditions.
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she was a ”Prop 21 5 patlent " informatlon that Dr. Smlth c1rcled8 and that ”ln the 90s

[Patlent A] overdld drlnklng

Dr. Smith reviewed Patient A's lumbar spine MRI._Dr. Smith's Ac,hart"note‘ :
thoroughly documented Patient A’s current medications, past medical history, surgical
history, history of present lllness, vital signs, family history, social history, allergies,

. review of systems, and hospitalizations,_ Dr._Sm‘ith performed an extensiye phys'ical

- examination. His assessments were t-rigemina_l neuralgia; osteoarthrltis, generall'zed‘;
knee pain, deoene'ration of Iumbar disc(Sl; displacement of lumbar disc without
myelopathy;-facetjoint syndrome, Iumbar spine' spinal stenosis [umbar sping; and
long- term use meds nec.? Included among the current medications Dr. Smlth noted
she was taklng OxyContin, Oxycodone Dllaudld Soma Klonopm Xanax10 as needed

and medlcal marijuana, as well as other controlled substances

“In his treatment plan for the trlgemmal neuralgla Dr. Smlth noted the patlent S
sngnlflcant medlcal hlstory which lncluded a cerebral tumor removed in 1994 and that
~her hlstory was srgnlflcant for chronic oprord dependency, but patlent wnshes to be

‘weaned and or detoxed from opioids when_approprlate.” He noted that de_splte the

8 Proposition 215 exempted patients who possess marijuana used for medical
treatment recommended by a physician from criminal laws. Dr. Geula'did not know

what ”Prop 215 patient” meant; Dr. Smith and Dr.Helmdid.
E l\lo testimony defining “nec” was offered, presumably it meant “necessary.”

19 All of these medications are controlled substances. OxyContin, Oxycodone,
and Dilaudid are opiates; Soma is a muscle relaxant; Klonopin and Xanax are

benzodiazepines.
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findings on her lumbar spine MR, she had not received any diagnostic/tnerapeutic
injections of her lumbar spine. Patient A wished to discontinue Dilaudid and ad'mitted :
to using reCreatio'naI/medicinal marijuana. Dr. Smith documented' “Patient
“understands I do not recommend controlled substance use with recreatlonal drug use,
and one would need to be dlscontlnued Patient understands I do not recommend
chronic oral systemlc op101d therapy nor high- dose oraI systemlc op|01d therapy for -
“her condition. Patlent understands she i 1s currently recelvmg high-dose oral op|01d

therapy.”

Patient A also reported she was being treated for anxiety and depression, was

on benzodiazepines, and was currently stable from that condition. Dr.ASmith-wrote:

Patien.t was‘ warned and understands I do not recommend

. opioid therapy mixed with benzodiazepine thera_py due to
the increased risk of respiratory depression and death.
Patient is motivated today and wishes to discontinue her
'opioid therapy when her knees feel better. She is hopeful
that she can be off of his [sic] medications by January 2014.
Patient understands I do not recommend OxyContin as a
sustained-release medication. I recom_mend discontinoing
Oxyéontin and trialing MS Contin 60 mg‘b.i.d.. I recommend
continuing oxycodone 30 mg tablets 6 per day. I
recommend continuing Soma 350 mg tid. p.r.n. spasm. I
recommend discontinuing hydromorphone. I recommend
proceeding with diagnostic/therapeutic injections of her

lumbar spine that may include epidural steroid theraoy,
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facet inject'ions“facet rhizotomies, and a MILD™" procedure .
'for splnal sten05|s due to I|gamentum fIavrum hypertrophy
‘These treatments couId help srgnlflcantly |mprove her Iow ‘
'back paln whlle her knee pain rmproves and enable us to
wean her from oplord medications. Patlent_gunder_stands Ido -

" not perform'detox{ but she is'vyillin'g. to.enter and entertain
a det‘ox program |n order toget off of her opioids. Patient
may also benefit from a referral to either a neuro_‘surgeon or
and‘oral facial p_a‘in 'Specialists for treatment of trigeminal

* neuralgia pain.’

- Patient A reported :seeing-a neuroSurgeon “many y’ears ago andWOUId consider
ca reevaluatlon A medication management’ agreement was dlscussed and signed by
the patient today.” The medlcatlon management agreement stated the patlent agreed
to foIIow Dr. Smith’s paln program procedures including takrng prescrlptlons exactly
as prescribed, utlllzmg onIy one pharmacy to fill the prescrlptlons for opronds
.malntalnmg a relatlonshlp with the patlent s prlmary care physrcran and
understandrng that the patlent may be termlnated from the program for vrolatlng the |
agreement The chart also contalned a "Bowel Regimen™ document that provrded ways
to prevent and treat constipation which was a “common and serious side effect

associated with long-term and even short-term opioid dsage.” -

11 MILD. is the acronym for Minimally Invasive Lumbar Disc procedure, an FDA-
approved, minimally—invasive treatment to remove excess tissue in the spinal canal,

“with the goal of relieving pressure on the spinal nerves.
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Dr. Smith provided a 30-day supply of medication and Patient A “understands
the risk of continued oral medication management.” Dr. Smith started Patient A on 60
mg of extenc‘{ed-r-elease M.S Conftin,A to be taken twice a day; refilled her 30 mg of
Oxycodone, two tablets to be taken every fou.r'td six hours as needed for pain, with a
maximum of six tablets per day;‘a'nd refilled her 350 m'g of Soma to‘ bé taken three
times a day for spaéms. Patient A would follow-up in one'month fora m'edicaﬁon
management visit and to diécu%s Iumbar epiduraf steré)id fherapy. There was ho

documentation of reviewihg CURES and no urine dfug screen (UDS) was ordered.

18.  An October 31, 2013, telephone note indicated-that Patient A's husband
called advising Patient A “was on a CAP machine,”’® was experiencing aerophagia, '3
and her home treatment of standing in the shower was not helping. Dr. Smith advised
Patient A to go to the Emergency Room (ER), and explai'n she was,‘on “high dose -

opioids.”

19.  Patient A was next seen by a,ph)}sician assistaﬁt on November 4, 2013.In -
her Questionnaire Patient A réported severe stomach cramping, distenSio_h, “over the
top pain,” with “severe voﬁwiting lasting all day to dry—heévihg." She had 75 pércent |
pain relief and her current pain was 6 out of 10. She had been to the ER on three |

occasions, including today. She reported that she had not taken Xanax since October

2 presumably this referred to a C-PAP machine that is used to treat sleep

apnea, a condition noted in Patient A’s records.
13 Aerophagia is a condition where an individual swallows air.
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10, 2013 14 The physxcnan aSS|stant documented Patlent A’s referral by her prlmary care
physician for an endoscopy Patlent A admltted to usmg medical marijuana and the .
physician a55|stant noted that Patlent A's use of maruuana v10|ated the medlcatlon ' ”
| management agreement Wthh may result in her belng dlscharged Patlent A reported
that she was no longer usmg benzodlazeplnes however her daily use of KIonopln a
benzodlazeplne was documented in the “Current Medlcatlons Taklng sect|on of the‘
chart at thls v1snt and at each VISlt thereafter There was no documentatlon of thls
. lncon5|stency or any documentatlon that usmg Klonopln was contrary to the warnlng
| 4Dr Smith gave her at the first visit about the rlsks of combining benzodiazepines with
opioids. The phySIC|an assistant reV|ewed Dr.: Smlth’ "medlcatlon management
N philosophy” of using medlcme asa brldge to more approprlate theraples and that
' Dr.'Smith “doesn't recommend_chronlc oral systemrc oplate_ therapy nor high-dose oraI
'systemic Opioid therapy for her condition.” The phys'ician.assistant continued Patient A
on the MS Contln Oxycodone and Soma and Patlent A agreed to take her _
medications as prescrlbed Patlent A would be seen in one month for medlcatlon 7
'management and a urlne drug screen "NOV” was noted > No testlmony regalrdln-g.

what NOV meant was offered There was no documentatlon of a CURES report belng

revi ewed

“ Dr. Geula.opined that her gastrointestinal issues couId be due to the
medication changes Dr. Smith made at the first visit so-should “certainly be on the
~differential.”

13 Although Dr. Geula testified that a UDS was not ordered at this visit, “UDS

'NOV” was noted in the plan.
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20.  Patient A was next seen by a physician assistant on December 2, 2013.
She reported receiving 50 percent relief with her current treatment -but had increased
right shoulder pain and difficulfy sleeping or eating because of the severity of her |
pain. The phyéician assistant docUmentéd‘in the medications sectioh of the chaft_the
numerous medications Patient A wés taking, includin-g Klonopin, despif_é her prior
representation she.waé no Iohger taking benzodiazepines. No further inq"uiry
regarding this incohsisteﬁcy was. documented. fhe physical 'exa-m'inati-,on- documented
was extrerhely cursory. Patient A’s medicatiohs were refilled with no changes, a UDS.
wastordered, and éhé was refefred back to her neurosurgeon for folldW—up on her

trigeminal neuralgia.

21.  Alab report docume"nted a urine collection on December 2, 2013, Which '
was faxed to Dr. Smith's office on December 30, 2013. The report was positive for
marijuana metabolite which was ihc;ansisteht with Pa.ﬁent A’s report of 'ho longer using
marijuana. The results Were also negative for opioids which was inconsistent with the‘

medications Dr. Smith was prescribing.

22. At her next visit on December 30, 2013, with a physician assistanf, Patient
A reported no change i-n-her chronic pain and continued to receive approximately 55
percent pain relief With her current t-reatment. She reported a flareup of her
gastrointestinal issues for which she was seéing a physician and hér primary care
physician had taken x-rays of her right shoulder and referred her.to an orth.opedist.
She reported difficulty sleeping and eating due to héf pain. The physical examination
documented was very bfief. The physician assistant noted that Patient A was a
candidate for diagnostic/therapeutic injections of her lumbar spine that may include
epidural steroid therapy and that option would be discussed with her after “most

intense abdominal issues have been treated.” The patient verbalized her
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understanding of this plan. The physician assistant reviewed the patient S |ncon5|stent
UDS results w1th her. As noted Patient A "swears she was not usmg maruuana and
_was taking her morphine as prescribed The phy5|c1an assnstant explained that this

incon5|stent UDS was a vrolation of Patient A's s medication management agreement

- and further V|olat|ons may result in her being discharged The patient agreed to

comply The phy51c1an a55|stant documented that since Patient A was ”stable and
ttolerating her medication w1thout difficulty, no change was made to her prescriptions
today.” In the med|cat|ons section the phySICIan aSS|stant documented patlent A s daily
use of Klonopin but, again no |an|ry regarding this was documented A follow up
UDS was not ordered and there was no documentation of a CURES report being

reviewed. -

23. At Patient A s next visit on January 27 2014 W|th a phySIClan aSSlStant

‘ her blood pressure was recorded at 164/100 She reported 50 percent pain relief W|th
her current treatment and was working Wlth her orthopedic provnder regarding "her
frozen shoulder.” Her abdominal pain, nausea and vomiting had resolved She was
working with her prir_na_ry care phyS|c1an regarding her sleep apnea. The physical
examination documented was brief and did not reference an examination of Patient
A’s back. Given her low back complaints, an epidural steroid injection was.
recommended and the patient agreed to contact the office when she “desires to
proceed.” The physician assistant documented: “In the meantim'e; the patient would
like to continue medication management with her current regimen.” Her medications
were ref_illed with no changes. The “Current Medicatio‘ns-Taking" section of the note
doc'umented that Patient A was taking Klonopin once a day, but again, there-was no
inquiry charted regarding her use of this benzodiazepine. Patient A agreed “to -

continue to work with her medical provnders to optimize her general health and well—
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being as well as her elevated blood pressure obtained at the visit today.” There was no

UDS ordered or documentation of CURES being reviewed.

24.  The chart entry for Patient A’s February .24, 2014, visit with a physician
assistant, were almost identical to the entries made'on January 27, 2014, including the
brief physical examination and Patient A’s daily use of Klonopin. Her medications were

refilled and a UDS was ordered.

' 25. A March 18, 2014, teAIephone encounter note documented a call from-
Patient A advising that because o‘f‘_her "extreme nausea With stomach pain” and
throwinc} up, Patient A was going to be‘out of medication by rhe end of the week and
wanted to know if she could gef an early refill. The patient was reminded to take her
medications as prescribed per the signed medication managernent agreement and
“further violations may result‘in discharge from our office.” Ah appointment was
rescheduled for this week and she was advised to consider the Sharp pain program if
she did not "want to proceed wrth mterventronals " The note documented “UDS NOV”
but there was no documentation of any inquiry lnto why the UDS ordered at the prior

visit was not done. There was no documentation of reviewing CURES.

26. -Ather March 20, 2014, visit with a physician assistant, Patient A reported
an increase in her right shoulder and arm pain and-more,consistent chronic lower back
pain-'. She was “currently receiving no relief with current t'rea’.cment." She reported that

her orthopedic provider diagnosed a rotator cuff tear that would require sUrgery and
that her gastromtestlnal issues made it difficult for her to keep her medications down
She was worklng with her gastroenterologrst for abdominal issues and with her -
primary care physician for her sleep apnea. The physical examination documented was
brief. Patient A’wae again informed that she was a candidate for lumbar spine epidural
steroid injection therapy which she wanted to undergo. A referral to a neurosurgeon
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or specialist for her facial pain was recommended and Patient A agreed to pursue that
care. Patient A continued to take Klonopin daily, but there was no documentation
regardmg any discussion about this with the patient. It was agam documented that
”[i]n'the meantime Patient A would continue with her current medlcatlon regimen and
' srnce [she] is adequately functioning and tolerating her medication W|thout difficulty,
no change was made to her*prescrlptlons today Patient A was advised of other |
_ mterventlonal procedures to consrder |ncluding facet anections facet rhlzotomies and
a MILD procedure for spinal stenosrs Patlent A understood that she would need to
coordinate her pain management wrth her shoulder surgeon A UDS was ordered but
'there was no documentation regardlng the UDS prev10usly ordered nor ‘

documentatlon of reV|ew1ng CURES

27.. On April 14,, 201_4,»Dr. Smith performed a lumbar epidural steroid

injectio‘n and Iumba'r._epidiurography for Patient A's lumbar degenerative' disc disease. |

28. . Patient A:was-nektiseen .by a phySIcian assistant on April 17, 201-4-
reporting no pain relleic from the procedure as of yet Patient A may benefit from
additional |nJect|on therapy and would be reevaluated at the next office visit. 6 Patient'
A reported an- lncrease in her chron|c pa|n generators aerophagia rlght shoulder and
arm paln, both knees, trigeminal neuralgia and fibromyalgia. She was recervrng'25
4 percent relief with herACUrrent'treatment. A brief physical‘examination was
documented. She wascontinuing to treat with her orthopedic provider _
gastroenterologlst and primary care physician. She continued to use Klonopin daily. It

‘was again recommended that Patient A transntion her care to the Sharp pain program

16 Both experts agreed that it is not uncommon for patients not to receive any

relief from epidural injections; the results from these injections can vary.
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which “provides a comprehensive approach to managing chronic pain that we do not
offer through our oftice as well as helping her to build additional toola and tec_:hniques
to manage and copve with her pain and address the significant psychotogical
component to her chronic pain along with water therapy to reduce/eliminate her need
for daily oral analgesics.” The chart note lndrcated that “In the meantime” Patlent A
would continue with her current medlcatlon regimen untll she establlshed care wrth
the Sharp pain program Patient A was remlnded that she must complete her UDS
when requested per her srgned medlcatlon management agreement and that further
violations may result in discharge. The UDS was aga|n ordered, she was referred to the
Sharp pain program, and she was to follow- up in one month for medication A

management if needed. There was again no ‘documentation of reviewing CURES.

| 29. The lab report for Patient A's urine collected on April 17, 2014, .which was
reported to Dr. Smith’s office on April 26, 2014, was posrtlve for the presence of
: maruuana metabollte Wthh was inconsistent with Patlent A's report that she was not
taklng maruuana Her levels of morphine and oxycodone were both.reported as high. |
Her urine was negative for the presence of benzodlazeplnes Wthh was inconsistent
with Dr. Smith’s chart notes but con5|stent with the patient’s report of no longer takrng

benzodlazeplnes

30. “AtPatient A's May 15, 2014, visit with a physieian assistant, she'reported
50 percent pain relief from the lumbar epidural steroid injection. She reported
increases in her activity but no change in her chronic pain generators. She continued
to treat with other providers for her planned shoulder surgery, her sleep apnea and
her gastrointestinal issues. She agreed to have her MRI results sent to Dr. Smith. A
brief physical examination, similar to the one documented at the prior visit, was

performed. Patient A continued to use Klonopin daily which was inconsistent with her
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recent uDs, but no documentatlon of discussin'g this inconsistency was charted’

Patient A admltted ”havmg a dlfflcult time with her goal to reduce her oral analge5|cs
use due to the seventy of her paln as well as stress level SO she would like to d|scuss o
other pa|n management optlons Patlent A reported that she was contacted by the '
Sharp pam program and canceled her appomtment because she reallzed she had

been there years ago w1th no beneflt It was stlll recommended that she tran5|t|on her
care to that program "In the meantlme Patlent A would contlnue Wlth her current |
medlcatlon reglmen until she could establlsh care WIth the Sharp paln program and

‘no change was made to her medlcatlons She was agaln encouraged to, consult W|th

her neurosurgeon to address her facial paln The phy5|c|an a55|stant remlnded Patlent

A that she must “perform her UDS when requested" per her medlcatlon management

agreement and that further._\/lolatlons may result in her discharge.”’ Patlent A agreed |

to comp’ly. There was no docu.mentation.of reviewing CURES'a"nd no UDS ordered.-

31 Patlent A was next seen onJune 12, 2014 and reported 25 percent relief
.Wlth her current treatment reglmen She was still obtalnlng great rellef" from the
lumbar epldural storied injection and able to perform many actlwtles W|thout parn She
~was contlnumg to treat with three otheér phy5|c1ans for her rlght shoulder pain, sleep
apnea and gastromtestlnal issues. The bnef physncal examination documented was -
~similar to the ones prev1ously documented She contlnued to use Klonopin dally It was.
again documented that Patient A had canceled her Sharp pain program appomtment

because. she had treated there prevnously with'no benefit. Patlent A was agaln

v Thls entry was confusmg because there was a lab report for the UDS ordered
~at the prior visit, lndlcatlng Patlent A did comply with the prlor instruction to have a

UDS performed.
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encouraged to transition her care to the Sharp program. It was again documented that
she should follew up with her neurosurgeon for her facial pain complaints. It was again
docUmented that she would have her MRI scan results sent to Dr. Smith’s office.
Patient A's medications were refilled without any changes. There is no dolcumentation

of reviewing CURES and no UDS was ordered.

32.  Patient A was next seen by a phyS|C|an assistant on July 10, 2014, She
reported 25 percent paln rellef wrth her current treatment and the effectlveness of the
lumbar epidural steroid injection had remained. She wou_ld be undergoing right
shoulder surgery next mohth, her neurosurgeon ‘did not recommend surgery for her
facial pain, and she continued to work with her primary care physician and |
gastroenterologrst for her sleep apnea and abdominal issues. Again, the brief phy5|cal ,
exammatlon documented was similar to the ones prevrously charted. Patient A’s
cancellatlon of her appointment at the Sharp pain program, the recommendation that
she transition her care to that program, her promise to have her MRI scan results sent.
to Dr. Smith’'s office, and her daily use of Klonopin were again'documented Her |
medications were refilled with no changes. There was no documentation of a CURES

@

report berng revrewed and no UDS ordered.

33, Inthe August 7, 2014, questlonnalre she completed at her next visit,
Patient A noted that she was belng referred to a pulmonologlst because her C-PAP
was not working. Patient A was seen by a physician assistant who documented that
Patient A reported 25 percen't pain relief with her current treatment, that the lumbar
epidural steroid injection had started to lose its effectiveness, that she was undergoing
shoulder surgery the next day, and that she would like to repeat the steroid injection
after she recovers from her shoulder surgery. The physical exemination documented

was brief and simiAIarI‘y worded to prior chart entries. She continued to use Klonopin -
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daily. Since Patient A was ”adequately functioning and tolerating her medications ! no-
changes to her prescrlptlons was made and all her medicatlons were refilled. Patient A
was instructed to have her surgeon contact Dr. Smith to dlscuss post operative pain

control if Dr. Smith s ofﬂce would be managing her medications

..34.” At Patlent A's September 4 2014, VISIt she was seen by a phy5|C|an
assistant. She reported 25 percent relief W|th her current treatment and that the
" epidural |nJect|on had started to Iose his effectiveness ThlS Iast entry was ciearly a cut—
and- paste from prior VISItS because the |nJection had ”started" to Iose its effectiveness
the month prior. The patient was four weeks post- operative from her shoulder surgery
and.-was domg well She was continumg to treat w1th prowders for her gastromtestlnal
and sleep apnea |ssues She was contlnumg to take Klonopln daily Her medications
were reﬂlled with no changes Despite the entry at the prior visit that the patlent s
orthopedic surgeon should contact Dr. Smith to discuss post- operatlve pain
| management there was no documentation |n the chart of that ever occurring and no |
documentation regarding whether Patlent A received additional pain medlcatlon from

her orthopedic surgeon There was no documentation of CURES being reV|ewed and

no UDS ordered.

35. Patient A was ne:xt seen by a physician assistant on October 2,2014.
-Again it was documented that the lumbar epidural steroid injection "has started" to
lose its effectiveness but not enough that she is interested ina repeat |nJect|on
Patient A reported 50 percent rellef w1th her current treatmenit and was undergomg
physncal therapy With good progress followmg her right shoulder repair surgery. She
continued to treat with spec1aI|sts for her facial pain, gastromtestinal and sleep apnea

issues She continued taking Klonopin daily ‘There was no change made to her
j‘ .
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medications and they were refilled.'No UDS was ordered and there was no -

documentation of reviewing CURES. -

36. Patient A was next seen by a physician assistant on October 30, 2014. She
reported no change in her chronic back pain, felt it was stable, and she was not
interested in an injection at this time. She reported 50 percent relief of her pain with
her current treatment. She had completed physical theraoy for her right shoulder and
was doing her home exercise programs without difﬁculty She was scheduied to
undergo a workup for her gastrointestinal issues on November 4, 2014, and was
continuing to work W|th her primary care physraan for her sleep apnea, as well as
beginning to see “a new sleep doctor.” She continued taklng Klonopin dally. All of her
medications were refilled with no changes. There is no documentation of a CURES

reoort being reviewed or a UDS being ordered.

37. At Patient A’s next visit on November 25, 2'014 she was' again 'seenuby a
physrcran assrstant Patient A reported feeling il and had been vomltlng since the
morning. She had recently been diagnosed with severe irritable bowel syndrome and
thinks thrs isa fIareup of that condition. She reported no change in her chromc back -
pain and felt it was stable. She reported no relief of her paln wrthout her medications.
She continued to work W|th her phy5|c1ans regardlng her gastrorntestrnal and sleep
apnea issues. She continued taking Klonopin daily. Her medications were renewed with
no changes. It was recommended she be seen by her primary care'physrcian orgo to
the urgent care or the ER for her elevated blood pressure reading of 202/114. Patient
A stated that she took her blood pressure medication earlier, but has been vomiting,
so it likely did no’r stay down. There was no documentation of reviewing- CURES and no

UDS was ordered.
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38.  Patient A was next seen on November 23,2014, by a phy5|c1an as5|stant

She reported two eplsodes of severe pa|n that required her to go to the ER where she -
was admitted for a few days and treated'for a fecal impaction. She followed up with
her gastroenterologist. She was still receiving 25 percent pain relief with her current -
treatment. She continued to work with her primary care-p'hysician and her “sleep:
doctor” and had recently been placed on oxygen at night’ to help- w1th her sleep apnea.
Patient A reported that ”[e]very aspect of her life had been adversely affected due to’
her recent hospltallzatron, severlty of her paln, and stress’ le_vel." Patlent.A continued
~ with her daily-Klonopin use. The physician assistant documented that the patient
W|shed to contlnue w1th her medication management reglmen but due to her recent
bowel obstructlon and supplemental oxygen for her sleep apnea, ' she is-not a-
candldate for continued oral. OplOld therapy” and "was advised to coordlnate detox
'that we do not provrde through our office.” Resources were glven to the patlent but
since she was adequately functlomng and toleratlng her medlcatlon w1thout d|ff|culty,
no change was made to her prescrlptlons today” and her medrcatlons were refllled No
documentatlon about any discussion of the rlsk of takmg hlgh dose op|01ds Wthh
_ depress resp|rat|ons glven Pat|ent A's sleep apnea was charted There wasno

documentatlon of reVlewmg CURES and no UDS was ordered

39.  Dr. Smith saw the patlent on January. 15 2015, to dlSCUSS treatment

| optlons The patient reported belng under extreme mental stress due to an abusive
son and advised that the police were now involved. Patient A had an appomtment with
a psychia'trist the 'following week. She was continuing to take Klonopin daily. Dr.-Smith
noted that once the si_tuation.with her abusive son was stabilized, "I recommend

_ proceeding with detok from chronic high—dose oral systemic opioid therapy and
pos‘sibly proceed with intrathecal drug delil/ery system therapy if psychological -
clearance can be obtained.” Dr. Smith noted further, “Patient understands I do not

30 -



recommend chronic high dose oral systemic opioid therapy for her condition. I also
recommend.obtaining a repeét urine drug screen today.” Dr. Smith refilled the

patient’s medications with no changes and ordered a UDS.

40.  The lab report for Patient A’s urine collected on January 15, 2015,
documented as having been reported to Dr. Smith'’s office on January 24, 2015, \'/,va.s
negative for benzodiazepines which was consistent with her prior report to Dr. Smith’s
- office, but mconsrstent wrth his chart notes. The lab results were positive for maruuana
| metabolite negative for the presence of op|0|ds lncludlng morphlne and posmve for
the presence of oxycodone all of which were inconsistent with the medications Dr.

Smith was prescribing and the marijuana she claimed to no longer be taking.

41. At Patient A’s next visit on February 12, 2015, with a physicién assistant,
she was complaining “of her usual and'favmiliar pain.” She reported being under
“severe mental strain due to some family issues.” She was “seeing a psychiatrist and a
counselor to help her cope.” She reported undergoing recent-blood work that showed
she had anemia so she was taking iron. She was continuing to take -daily Klonopin. The
physician assistant wrote: “Due to the patient's symptoms and continued pain [
recommend she temporarily continue with the current medlcatlons "18 patient was
recommended to continue working Wlth authoritles regardlng her abuswe son and
seeing her psychiatrist and counselor. The physraan assistant charted. “Once the
situation is st'abilized, Dr. Smith recommends proceeding with detox from chronic high
dose oral systemic opioid therapy and possibly proceed with intrathecal drug delivery

system therapy if psychological clearance can be obtained.” The patient wished to

'8 Presumably this meant the medications that were being prescribed at every

visit with no changes.
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_ continue with oral-medications at this time and those were refilled with no changes.
There is no documentation of revrewrng CURES and no dlscussmn documented _
regarding the Incon5|stent January 15, 2015 UDS and no repeat UDS was ordered nor
was there a discussion charted that her UDS results V|olated her medication

management agreement. :

| 42. Patlent A was next seen on March 12, 2015 by a phyS|C|an assrstant and
contrnued to have hlgh anxrety, panlc attacks headaches and abdomlnal pa|n due to
her "hlgh stress famlly sntuatron desplte worklng Wlth her psychologlst and psychlatrrst
routinely.” She was taklng iron for her anemia and KIonopln daily. The phyS|c1an ‘
a55|stant documented “Due to the patlent s symptoms of chronlc pain and wrth the
dlrectlon of Dr. Smlth her medlcatlon management with her current reglmen will be
continued until her famlly situation is S resolved.” It was again documented that Dr
4Smrth recommended proceedlng with detox from chronrc hlgh dose oral systemlc .
op10|d therapy and possibly proceed W|th intrathecal drug dellvery system therapy if
_ psychologrcal clearance can be obtalned but there was no charting of how or-where
Patient A was to detox and this note was confusmg given that Dr. Smlth never tapered
her medlcatlons but lnstead contlnued to refill them at each v15|t wrth no changes
Patient A showed “no drverslonary nor aberrant behavror with medlcatrons which was
an inaccurate entry given Patient A’s January 15, 2015, UDS results. There was no
documentation of reviewing. CURES, no documentation of the _inconsiStent ubs

obtained January 15, 2015, and no UDS ordered;
43 Dr. Smith saw Patient A at her A-pr'il: 8, 2015, visit. She reported 25 to 50
percent pain relief with her current treatment and continued to take Klonopin once a

day. Dr. Smith refilled her medications with no changes. He did not document

reviewing CURES, or discussing Patient A's January 15, 2015, inconsiStent UDS. results.
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Dr. Smith did not document that his office had not received that UDS report and he

did not order a repeat UDS.

44.  In her May 26, 2015, patient questionnaire, Patient A reportéd that she
had “another.attack that began 4:30 am with [illegible] so high I passed out. This
attack lasted about 15-16 [illegible].” Patient A was seen by a physician assistant th-"
documented the patient’s report of “a flareup of severe abdominal pain with nausea
and Qomiting" that lasted 15 to 16 hours. She was receiving 50 percent pain relief with
her current treatment. She continued to take Klonopin daily. Patient A’S medications
were refilled with no changes and the physician assistant documented: “Due to the -
patient’s symptoms of chronic pain and with the directioh of Dr. Smith, her medication
management with her current regimen will be continued until her family situation is
resolved.” Patient A would continue working closely with her psychiatrist, cbunse_lor,
and authorities. There was no documentation of reviewing CURES and no UDS was

ordered.

45.  Patient A was next seen on June 30, 2015, by a physician assistant and,
fepérted having:been seen by an endocrinologist. She had a flareup of her abdominal
~ condition which requiréd her to go to the hospitél where she was treated and released.
She was currently receiving 75 percent relief with her current treatment. She was
taking Klonopin once a day. ~Her medications were refilled with no changes. There was
no documentation df-reviewing CURES, no UDS ordered, and no documentation of

whether she received any medication at the hospital.

46.  Patient A was seen by a physician assistant on July 1, 2015, and rep.orrted
a flareup of her lower back pain three weeks ago that continu.ed to persist. She V\_ias

receiving 50 percent pain relief with her current treatment. She reported that her

33



endocrinologist ordered “additional tests to rule out pheoc.h'romocytoma19 because |
the initial test was inconclusive.” The batient was continuing to take Klonopin once a
day. Dr. Smith continued to recom'mend deto>t once the p'_atie.nt"s'family situation
Stabilized.‘ A random drug screeh was performed and the UDS dipstiek results obtained
in the office'were'positive for opioids, exycodone and benzodiaiepines Whic‘h was =’
“consistent with the médicatio‘h"list that »was verified today.” Th-e urine specimen weuld
be sent out to the lab for further evaluation. There was no'documentation that the
presence of benzodlazeplnes in the dlpstlck was mconsnstent with Dr. Smijth’s original
note that he would not prescrlbe opioids lf Patient A continued to,take
benzodi_azepines; no documentation that the presence ofvb_enAzodiazet)ineSIWas
incensistent With Patient A's earlier report that she was no longer taking |
benzodiazepines; and no documentation recbnciling her'prior UDS that wes hegative'
~for the presence of beniodiazepihes with this one that was bositive. There was no-

documentation of reviewing CURES.

47.  Patient A's lab report for uri-ne collected on July 1, 2015,’and_'repo"rted to
Dr. Smith"s'offi:ce on JuAva4,- 2015, was positive for the preeence of m_arijuérta
metabolite, énd negative for the presence of opiates, which were inconsi-'stent re_sults-.:
“The lab results were also positive for the presence of ben.zodiazepi.rtes;fv‘vhich’was
consistent with the chart note entries, but contrary to Dr. Smith’s original notations
that he would not prescrlbe high dose opioids if the patient was takmg

benzodlazeplnes The records also did not document any type-of inquiry into the fact

that the patient originally stated she was-no longer on benzodiazepine therapy but

19 Pheochromocytoma is a tumor or,igi‘nating in the adrenal gland cells that

causes overproduction of certain hormones.
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then reported taking ‘Klonopin daily at each successive visit, or had a prior UDS that

was negative for the presence of benzodiazepines.

48.  Patient A was next seen on July 29, 2015, by a physician'assistan.t. Shé
reported no flareups éf her chronic intérmittént abdominal symptom's. but admitted
that her chronic trigeminal neuralgia had been more apparent. She Was receiviﬁg 50
percent pain relief with her cufrent_ tréafment and was treatihg with an
endocrinologist. She continued to have sleep.and sfress issues because of her fémily
stress, but her mood had improved with the _Pa'xil' and Lamotrigine?® her psychiatr'ist
had prescribed. She continued to take Klonopin oncé a daly; The results of the UDS,
which were positive for marijuaha and negative for the opioids that Dr. Smith’s office
prescribed, were reviewed with the patient who was surprised by the results and
reported that she to'o-k her medication as prescribed and Had not used marijuana since
January. Patient A was advised that these UDS results “are another violation of her
medication management agreement, so Dr. Smith will review her chart to determine

" i

further care with our office.” “The patient was given contact information to coordinate
“detox from chronic high-dose oral systemic opioid therapy, as previously discussed.” A
-two week refill of her medication was given and she was to follow-up with Dr. Smith

regarding her continued medication management with the office.

49.  An August 7, 2015, telephone note documented the call to Patient A to
inform her that Dr. Smith had decided to discharge her “due to her multiple

medication management violations.” A final two week supply-of her medications would

20 These drugs are controlled substances. Paxil is an anti-depressant;
Lamotrigine is an anti-convulsant used to treat seizures and extreme mood swings for

adUlts with bipolar disorder.
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be prov‘lded to herand a formal letter of discharge would be sent to her via regular

‘and certifled mail. -

50. ‘A A Ietter dated August 10 2015 formally dlscharged Patlent A from Dr.
Smlth s care due to V|olat|on of your pain management treatment ! In his letter Dr.
Smith recommended that Patlent A “seek care through a comprehensnve treatment
program for detoxuflcatlon as well as to address potentlal OplOld W|thdrawal type of -

symptoms.”

51. An August 18,2015, telephone note documented that Patient A called
adwsmg she had recelved her formal letter of discharge but would be out of .
_medlcatlons tomorrow and was requestmg a refill, desplte havmg been prov1ded a'two |
week supply just one week ago Dr. Smlth s office mqunred as to why she was out of .

medlcatlons after belng glven a two week supply Patrent A denled she ever “over.:

- medlcated and was confused why she could not get a: reﬂll because the dlscharge

letter 'advrsed that she_ could come for one final appomtment to get medlcatlon to tide -
her o-verunvtil she saw a new provider. . o |
;.52. - The CURES reports obtalned by complamant as part of the mvestlgatron

documented the medlcatlons prescnbed by Dr. Smlth s offlce and the Clonazepam '
(Klonopin) prescrlbed by Patlent A s prlmary care provnder that Dr. Smlth s records
contlnuously documented she was taklng Contrary to Patient A’ s clalm of belng ”off
» benzodlazepmes, the CURES report revealed her monthly prescriptions for |
ClonaZepam-throu‘ghout'the entire time she was treating with'Dr Smith Dr ‘Smi‘th _,
produced coples of CURES reports that he testlfled had been scanned into the
patient’s file but did not prlnt out when his offlce produced coples of his records to
the lnvestlgator Those reports contalned handwrltten notatlons questlonlng the -

‘reason medlcatlons had been prescribed, stating “too much" oxycodone was being
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taken, which demonstrated Dr. Smith had concerns, but then he did not follow up and

.document reviewing CURES at each patient visit.
Evaluation of Dr. Smith’s Care and Treatment ot Patient A
GRoss NEGLIGENCE ALLEGATIONS
Comb'ina__t_ion of Medications

53. - Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was‘grossilynegligent in his care and |
treatment of Patient A when he prescribed a combination of high dose opioids and -
Soma to her. Dr. Geula was critical of the amount of morphine eqUivaIent, 390, that Dr.
Smith prescribed at the first visit. Dr. Geula opined that at the first visit, Patient A was
on high doses'ofopioids which are “a pretty big red flag and when combined with
Soma it is pretty alarming.” High dose Opioids can cause respiratory depression. Dr.
Geula explained that the synergistic effect of opioids and Soma, a muscle relaxer that
" metabolizes S|milar to a benzodiazepine increases the risk of cardiopulmonary
comphcations and respiratory depression, which is increased even more when Xanax a

. benzodiazeplne Patient A used in the past, is added.?’

Dr. Geula opined that Patient A's use of a C—PAP.was significant because it is
used'for obstructive sleep.apnea and prescribing opioids and benzodiaiepines_ poses a
-~ significant risk for an apneic event, especially for this patient who was at risk for apnea.
Dr. Geula did not believe there was any indication for thev Soma prescription because

there was no documentation of muscle spasms during Dr. Smith's initial exam.

2! There was no evidence patient A was prescribed Xanax by Dr. Smith or was

taking it when treating with him.
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Dr. Geula did not believe that Dr. Smith evaluated Pa_tient A for’substance'abuse
and although Dr. Smith noted that the patient was aware he did not reco'mm'end high—
dose opioids, he contrnued to prescrlbe them Dr. Smlth also adwsed Patient A of the
risk of comblnmg benzodlazepmes and op|0|ds and to dlscontlnue usmg maruuana

“but did not take any action when she did not follow his adv1ce

Dr. Helm oplned that combmlng Soma and OplOldS was not an extreme
departure from the standard of care. There have been some very good populatron—

based studles showmg that the rlsk of hlgher doses and comblnatlon therapy may

have adverse effects lncludlng resplratory issues and death SO lowerlng the risk means '

. decreasmg the medlcatlons But subsequent to this time when Dr Smith saw Patlent A
‘in 2013 the Food and Drug Admlnlstratlon (FDA) had the manufacturers of sustalned— -

" release op|0|ds do an op10|d pain consortlum study to evaluate patlents receiving

,. these amounts of opioids, but the study was pulled before |t was completed However

one fact that came out from the study is that although these were not common doses

|t was well- known in the paln management communlty that there were patlents taking

these amounts of op101ds Moreover the morphlne equwalent opinions Dr. Geula ‘gave

were based on the CDC gwdellnes issued in 2016, several years after Dr. Smlth treated

and dlscharged PatlentA ST B

Dr Helm oplned that Dr. Smlth dld chart that the patient had spasms because
VhlS descrlptlon of her paln as belng pulsmg, throbblng, poundlng, achlng, radiating,
‘.penetratlng, shootlng, tender trght squeeze, t|r|ng, p|nch1ng, cramplng, pulllng,
tingling, intense, [and] unb_earable our adjectives consistent with spasm. Dr. Smith

‘also documented that the Soma was being prescribed for “spasms.”

Patient A was being treated for sleep apnea and Dr. Smith prescribed high dose
opioids and Soma, greatly increasing the risk of respiratory depression in a patient
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who already was at risk for an apneic event. Dr. Helm’s opinion, which was smjpported
by Dr. Smith’s documentation, that Patient A had muscle spasm, is accepted, but his _
opiﬁions that combining high dose opioids with Soma was within the standard of care
is rejected. Complainant established by clear and cont/incing evidence that Dr. Smith
was grossly negligent in his care and treatment of Patier)t A when he prescribed a

combination of high dose opioids and Soma to her.
Failure to Modify Controlled Substance Regimen

54.  Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in hls care and
treatment of Patlent A for failing to adequately modify her controlled substance
reglmen. There were no changes made to the patient's medlcatlon regimen, despite
her statements that her pain was improving, or even during those times wheh.she had
advised that her pain was increasing. Instead, her med|cat|ons were 5|mply refilled at

each visit without taking her condition, and changes to it, |nto account.

Dr. Helm opined that the types and amounts of medications prescribed were
within the standard of care. Efforts to find alternatives or to wean are judgment calls
and Dr. Smith’s decisions were Within. the standard of care. Dr. Helm opined that Dr.
Smith stopped the patient’s benzodiazepines early on and lowered her morphine
equivalent dosage, increasing it thereafter for reasons that were documented in the

~

chart.

It is not enough for a physician to simply document that he Has told the patient
what he does not recommend; the physician must actually follow through on those
recommendations. Here Dr. Smith merely charted his philosophy but then did not
follow it'and he and his physician assistants continued to prescribe high dose opioids

to Patient A, with no end in sight. Moreover, contrary to his philosophy, he prescribed
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those high dose opioids despite Patient A's daily use of benzodiazepines and :h.er use
of medical maruuana Dr. Geula S op|n|ons were more persuasrve than Dr Helm S and
‘Dr.Helm's testlmony about weanlng the pat|ent and Iowerlng her doses was contrary
to what was charted. Complalnant establlshed by clear and convmcmg ewdence that
Dr. Smlth was grossly negllgent in h|s care and treatment of Patlent A for fa|I|ng to

'adequately modify her controlled substance reglmen

Failure to .Refview CuU RESJiReports .

N

55; Dr Geula oplned that Dr Smlth was grossly negllgent in his care and
treatment of Patlent A for falllng to review her CURES report Dr Geula explalned that
CURES is a tool to help the prescrlber ensure that the patlent is only gettlng |
' prescnptlons from one phy5|c|an It was especnally lmportant to obtaln them in thls
case when the patlent s UDS showed potentlal d|ver510nary behawor and she had a |

hlstory of substance and alcohol abuse.

Dr. Helm oplned that Dr Geula s oplnlon that CURES be obtalned at every visit
was an example of ”best practrces and not standard of care. The standard of care
~ when Dr Smith treated Patient A did not reqmre CURES be obtalned at every VISIt In
2018, it has been mandated by law that physmlans must review CURES at every v15|t
but not when Dr. Smith treated her. Dr. ‘Helm opined that the standard. of care when
Dr. Smith was treatlng this patient was to obtaln CURES ”lntermlttently," but he did not

define what that meant

Given the many medlcatlons ldentlfled in the records that Dr. Smlth and his staff
~ were not prescrlblng, her lnconS|stent UDS, and the inconsistent chart entrles -
regardlng Klonopln lt was lmperatlve Dr. Smith review CURES at the visits so he could

confirm the medications Patient A was reporting and to ensure there were no other
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medications she was taking that she-was not reporting. Although the CURES reports
Dr Smith introduced at’ hearing documented the concerns he had about Patient A's
medications he failed to document a review of CURES at any of the visits and failed to
review a sufficient number of CURES given Patient A's inconsistent UDS results and
medic_ations that other treaters were providing. Complainant established by clear and
convincing evidence that Dr, Smith was grossly negligent in his care-and treatment of-

Patient A for failing to review her CURES report.
Failure to Obtain More Frequent UDS

56.  Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care and
‘treatment of Patient A for failing to obtain more frequent urine drug screens. The
patient had inconsistent drug screens, was being prescribed “very, very high doses of
oopioids” with Soma, had numerous risk factors, and had a history of abuse. Al of those
facts warranted close monitoring to ensure the proper use of the prescriptions for this

patient.

Dr. H.elm agreed the standard oif‘ care required obtainind UDS, but noted Dr. 7

~ Smith was not personally seeing the patient when the UDS came back, the patient was.
being'seen by physician assistants. Also, literature on using uDs "’dates back to-the
early 2000 s and none has ever been published setting out how frequently UDS must
be ordered.” When the UDS was inconsistent, there was documentation of a discu55|on
with Patient A regarding her medication management agreement and she was warned
" not to violate it again. Dr. Helm explained that these are very complex patients,.-it is an
| education process, and the p'hysician does not abandon the.patients when they have a
violation. The physuc1an will try to work with them, try to educate them, but "if they
refuse to learn, you have to act, but first you have to educate them.” Dr Smith s

. records show that he was practlcmg very conservatively, his office was not a “pill mill,”
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and he was monrtonng the patlents Dr ‘Helm saw a great deal of monltorlng in these. _
' records Dr Helm d|d not belleve that Dr. Smith v10|ated the standard of care for

fallmg to obtain more frequent UDS

Dr. Smith explalned that lab results were received at his office via fax. The-
medical a55|stant would obtaln those reports review them, and prowde them to the :
'phy51c1an s aSSIstant or physrcran extender “in the office. 2 If there were issues with
the UDS results, they would be brought to Dr. Smlth s attentron The Iab used for UDS
testing varled based on the patlent s insurance company Dr. Smlth explalned that |
there was a perlod of tlme._when_.the Sharp l\/l_edlcal Group was requmng his offlce_u.se
: Quest for UDS'testing' and there Were lots'of issues with'»that lab Dr' 'Smith explained ;
that |n|tlally he preferred usrng a dlpStICl( and then sendlng the sample to the lab for
conflrmatlon but Sharp would not allow that. He then learned that there were other :
physicians in San D|ego who were allowed to use the dlpSthk and he called Sharp out
on that and, eventually, they allowed him to use dlpSthl(S. Another problemwnth. Q_uest 4
was that the lab did not want to test for all the drugs that Dr. Smith wanted fo test for,
tested for drugs that- h|s offlce had not requested or did not test for drugs that his
offlce had requested There were also numerous problems wnth gettlng reports faxed
back to Dr Smith s offlce Even though the UDS reports state they were faxed” or

reported” to Dr. Sm|th s offlce ona glven date often they were not sent to the office.
Dr Smith testlfled that this happened “for lots of labs and ”went on for years." H|s |
office. would send out UDS requests and not see the results back and would have to

call the Iab in order to obtaln results. Dr. Smith had numerous. meetlngs wrth Sharp

22 It was unclear what Dr. Smith meant by the "physician extender" in his office

and no testimony ekplaining it was offered.
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- and Quest about these issues and finally had to meet with the medical director at _
Sharp to get the issue resolved. Dr. Smith explained to the Sharp dire-etor that this UDS
issue was below the standard care in the community and ”really needs to change.”
After Dr. Smith mentioned the standard of care, “that is when things started to

change.”

The difﬁculties Dr Smith was having with the labs did not absOlve'him of his
responsibility to follow up on the results of labs he ordered at V|51ts before S|mply
refilling the patient's prescriptlons with no changes There was no documentation of
these lab difficulties nor any documentation that he was aware of havmg ordered a
UDS at a prior visit and still not having the results Agaln simply orderlng a test is not
enough, a physician should follow up on tests ordered and, at a minimum, document
" that he has done so, even if his documentation is that the results are not yet back.
Given the high-dose opioids he was prescribing, and the inconsistent UDS results, it
was incumbent upon him to obtain more frequent UDS testing and tollow-up on

testing previously ordered.

Dr. GeLlla’s opinions are ‘accepted over those of Dr. Helm to the contrary.
.Contrary to Dr. Helmls testimony, these records did not show “a great deal of
monitoring.” Cornolainant_ established by clear and'convincing evidence that-Dr. Smith
was grossly negligent in his care and treatment of Patient A lor failing to _obtain more

frequent urine drug screens.
- Failure to Maintain Timely Medical Records

57.  'Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care and
treatment of Patient A for failing to adequately maintain timely medical records. He

noted that many of the records were “electronically signed” on December 11, 2017,
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Wthh was months and sometimes years after the dates of treatment Dr Geula

~ assumed that Dr Smlth and the physnuan assrstants sngned the chart o on the dates
noted as belng electronlcally slgned " Dr. Geula had ”heard of” the electronlc medlcal
record system Dr Smlth used, eCIlnlcalWorks but had never used that program and

had no “hands-on famllrarlty" w1th it.

Dr Smlth testlfred that he Is not "an expert" on hrs electronlc medlcal record
system but has learned that unless the records are "locked the date they are
. eIectronlcalIy srgned" W|ll be the date they are prlnted He does not routlnely lock ‘
records as it causes issues for hlS staff when they are processmg bllls and performlng
other admlnlstratlve tasks although there have been occaSIons when he does lock

, records but overall he does not because of the many |ssues thls caused in h|s ofﬁce :

- . Complainant 'obtained authorizations to obtain the three patients’ medlcal '
records.vThe records were printed and the "Certification of Records” for each chart was
signed by D'r. Smith"scustodian of records on December 11, 2017. Dr. Smith ekplained _
that any unlocked records would have been electronlcally SIgned” on December 11,
2017, when they were prlnted for the rnvestlgator Dr. Smith’s explanatron was
credlble con5|stent w1th the statements he gave at hls board |nterv1ew and no’
ewdence to the contrary was lntroduced Although there were a few records that were

electronlcally signed” after the dates of service but on dates other than December 11,
2017, given Dr. Smith'’s testlmony regardlng sometimes locklng the records his ~
explanation for these dates is also accepted. Complainant.did not establish by clear
-and convincing evidence that Dr. Smith failed to adequately maintain timely medical

records for Patient A. -
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REPEATED NEGLIGENT ACTS ALLEGATIONS
Failure to Obtain Consultations

58. - Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was negligent in his care and treatment
of Patlent A for failing to obtain adequate consultatlons for her complex paln issues.
Dr. Smith should have been refernng Patient A to other speaahsts Dr. Geula oplned
that the consults referred to in the records were not ones Dr. Smith |n|tlated but

treatment Patient A sought on her own.

Dr. Helm opined that the recoftis documented the therapies being attempted
the outside consultations and treatment Patient A was receiving, as well as prev10us
therapies and consultations that did not resolve her pain complaints. The paln
management specialist is a consultant and pain patients are sent.to a pain.
'management specialist for treatment. The patient is belng sent to the pain
management ‘specialist for consultation, so the pain management specialist does not
need to consult with others as he or she is the consultant. It is a judgment call to refer
the patient to other cdnsultants, and here Dr. Smith made appropriate decisions

regarding when and to whom he should refer the patient to another provider.

Dr. Helm's opinions, which were supported by the records, were more.
persuasive than Dr. Geula’s to the contrary. Complainant failed to establish by clear
and convincing evidence that Dr. Smith was negligent in his care and treatment of

Patient A for failing to obtain adequate consultations.
Failure to Document Detailed Physical Examinations

59.  Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was negligent in his care and treatment

of Patient A for failing to adequately document a detailed physical examination of all
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areas of Patient A's pain complaints. Dr. Geula noted that several ot the entries in the
chart notes were merely cut and pasted fr.om previous_visits. He believed the physical
exams documented were cursory and that it “would have been nice” to have an

. examination of the cranial nefves at the initlal visit. The follow- up v15|ts dld not’
‘examine the strength or mobility of the patient s lower extremities even though she

had low back pain complaints

Dr. Helm opined that the physical examination's documented in the records
were sufficient and met the standard of care. There is no need to perform a complete
physical examination at follow- up appomtments where the same pain complaints are

belng addressed

: 'Many of the entries'Were"cut-and-paste physical examinations were. cursory.

. and there was no documentatlon of examining areas of the body where there were
pain complalnts Dr Geula’ s opinions were persuasive and supported by the records
Complainant established by clear and convnncmg eV|dence that Dr. Smith was
negligent in his care and treatment of Patient A for failing to adequately document a ..

detailed physical examlnation of aII areas of her pain complaints
Fa,il'ure to Document Treatment_ Objectives 1

.60. Dr. Geula oplned that Dr Smith was negligent in his care and treatment
of Patient A for failing to adequately document treatment obJectives of continued
. opioid therapy. Dr. Geula opined that obJectives sh,ouid be documented in the -
medical records and there were none. There were notations that the current course of
treatment would be continued due to the patient’s family issues, but there was no

discussion of what was hoped to be gained by the use of opioid therapy.
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Dr. Helm opined that a review of the records showed that the objectives were
clearly documented and the modalities tor treating the pain were provided. Th-ere were -
discussions regarding therapies previously tried, notes regarding therapies being
con5|dered and the personal stress i issues for Patient A that led Dr Smith to maintain
her on her current regimen. Dr. Helm opined that the notes cIearIy document the
whole process of caring for this patlent and the decisions being made. There was no

violation of the standard of care.

Dr. Helm’s opinions were more persuasive and supported by-the reco,rds.'
Complainant failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence that Dr. Smith was
negllgent in h|s care and treatment of Patient A for failing to adequately document

treatment objectives of continued opioid thera py.
Dr. Smith’s Care and Treatment of Patient B

61. Patient B, a 50 year old male, was first seen by Dr. Smith for a “New
 Patient” consult on July 8, 2014. Patient B complained of Iow back and neck pain with
intermittent paratheSIas in both hands and feet. His pain severlty was 9 out of 10. He
described his pain as “throbbing, dull, radiating, penetrating, numb, tearing, pinching,
" pulling, stinging, [and] debilitating.” In his questionnaire ‘Patient B wrote that he had
experienced ”many injuries He Iisted the many therapies he had undergone |nclud|ng
a TENS unit, chlropractor massage, bed rest, trigger pomt inJectlons ster0|d |nJect|ons
physical therapy, and ice packs. He used maruuana “to help control pain’ and
identified a history of drug addiction from 1977 to 2007 that was “Not part of my life
anymore.” Patient B's past medical history included current high blood pressure,
palpitations from 1982 to 1994 that he explalned as “don’t know, just stopped,” chest
pain, shortness of breath, asthma or wheezing from smoking one-half to three- quarter _

packs of cigarettes per day for “35+ years.”
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~ Dr. Smlth documented: “drug addlctlon - 1977 to 2007 Per Dr S. progress
note,? He last used methamphetamine about 18 months ago.” ‘An MRI of the lumbar
spine performed on March 27 2014 showed a severe L4 compre55|on fracture Dr. |
Smith performed an examination documentlng hIS flndlngs and assessed the patlent 4
wrth a fractured vertebral column lumbar degeneration of Iumbar dISC(S), low back
, pain cervncal spine pain, degenerative disc disease cervncal splne and long -term use

meds nec.” Dr. Smith |dent|fied his treatment for each conditlon notlng that he

.re_commended a repeat MRI with thoraclc'spme and STIR»lmaglngz'»_4 because Patlent
'B's;MRI.h_ad been performed one y_ear.ago'"'and was incomplete because he could not
tolerate the noise. Dr.'Smith_ also _.re'comm_ende'd a cervical spine MRI due to the
positive objecti\le findings of m“idline tenderness,associated with 're'du'ced"range‘of 3

* motion. As noted:

' Patient understands'we will see _him for an office visit.once. '
' we :h'a've'obtain [S/'d results of the studies Patient ‘J »
understands Ido not recommend chronic oral systemic
| opioid therapy for this condltlon nor do I recommend high
- _dose oral systemic op10|d therapy for this conditlon Patlent
understands we w1ll recommend treatment in order to help |
. his pain that_we may-m|n|mize, eliminate, or sngnificantly

" reduce his daily oral analgesic requirements.

~ Bt was not clear what "Dr.'s progress note” Dr. Smith reviewed.

24 STIR is the acronym for Short-TI Inversion Recovery and is typically used

during an MRI to null the signal from fat.
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Patient B reported taking Percocet six times per day but recently reduced'to
four ‘per day trying to extend his medications until this appointment. Patient B
requested to increase back to six pert day. He reported taking Soma three times per
day. Patient B's hlstory suggested rheumatord arthritis, osteoarthr|t|s peripheral
neuropathy, and history of substance abuse in remission the past 18 months. He was
taktng Neurontin and Lyrica and ”appears to be taking” Elavil 25 Patient B was “referred
here for continued oprord med management ! Dr. Smith recommended restartlng MS
Contin, contlnumg Oxycodone contlnumg Soma but "consrder switching to Zanaflex in
the near future Patient B SIgned a medlcatlon management agreement like the one
Patient A signed, and UDS screenlng was ordered. A “Bowel Regimen” document like
the one in Patient A’s chart was also in the chart. Patient B would follow up in one
month and Dr. Smith would help him obtaln authorlzatlon and schedule cervical and

lumbar spine MRIs. There was no documentation of reviewing CURES.

62. P'atient B's UDS collected July 8, 2014, and reported to Dr. Smith’s office
on July 16, 2014, was positive for/marijuana metabolite, negative for opiates, including .
‘morphine, both of which were noted to be “inconsistent” results. However, the -
morphine would not be an inconsisten‘t result because Dr. Smith prescribed MS Contin
at the first visit; Patient B reported that he was not taking morphine at the time he first

visited Dr. Smith. Patient B's oxycodone levels were listed as being extremely high.

63. At Patlent B’s next visit on August 5, 2014, with a physncran a55|stant he
reported no change in his chronic parn except the rheumatoid arthritis pain in his

hands had increased. He was receiving 45 percent relief with his current treatment. His-

?> These medications are controlled substances. Neurontin and Lyrica are anti-

convulsant drugs used to treat neuropathic pain; Elavil is an anti-depressant.
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pain improved with medication and rest. Much‘ of this note appears to be cut—and-
paste from the initial VISI‘t The physical examlnation does not document. the |
examinatlon of Patient B's lower back The patient had “not had the MRI' scans at this
point, but plans to schedule " "They have tried to contact him to schedule but it was
unclear to whom ‘they” referred. Again even though it was documented that Patient B
understood Dr. Smith s office would see him once they obtained the results of hlS MRI
studles his medications were refilled It is unclear why he was seen when Dr Smlth
charted at the |n|t1al VISIt that he would see Patient B once hlS MRI studies were |
obtained There was documentation the phyS|C|an aSSlStant revnewed the results of the .
‘UDS obtalned at the first VISIt Desplte those |ncon5|stent results the physman | '
- assnstant documented that Patient B showed no dlverS|onary or aberrant behavnors

~ with medications ! Given the mconsrstent UDS results and the fact that no CURES

. report was documented as havmg been reV|ewed it is unclear how the phyS|C|an
.' ~ assistant could reach that conclu510n Patient B was continued on his current therapy,
his medlcations were refilled and it was again noted, "Patient understands Idonot -
recommend chronic oral systems opioid therapy for this condition nor do I

recommend high dose' oral systemic 'therapy for this condition. Patient understands wel'-
will recommend treatments in order to help hlS pain sothat we may minimize, |
eliminate, or 5|gn|f|cantly reduce his daily oral analgesic requirements.” Patient B
understood not to use alcohol or recreational drugs with his medications No UDS was

ordered and there was no documentatlon that CURES was revrewed

64. . At Patient B’s_ next visit on September 2, 2014, ‘with 'the physician
assistaht, he reported 25 percent pain' relief with'current treatme‘nt. He had some
'increased pain recently since pUrch‘aSing .an RV_. No physical examination was
documented. He had cervical and lumbar MRIs performed, had brought the scans with
him, and Wanted to discuss the results. The “lumbar MRI reSuIts were reviewed and
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discussed” with Patient B and showed no significant changes from his 2014 films. The
cervical MRI scans showed a 5 mm disc protrusion at C5-6, which was larger compared
- with the prior exam, moderate spinal stenosis and bilateral moderate foraminal |
stenosis; mild spinal stenosis and bilateral mild foraminal narrowing at C6-7; right.
posterior pre- -foraminal 2 mm dISC protrusron at C7 T1, mild right foraminal narrowmg
_and no spinal stenosis; there was no ev1dence of cord edema or myelomalaua "Based
on the patient s symptoms MRI results outlined above, and failure of conservative
therapies, I recommend moving forward with a C7-T1 translaminar ESL"?6 The risks and
benefits were explained and the patient elected to proceed. Patient B was stable on his
current medications, showed no diversionary nor aberran‘t behaviors, denied adi/erse
side effects, so was continued on his current therapy. It was again documented that Dr.
Smith did not recommend chronic oral systemic opioid therapy for this condition nor
did he recommend high dose oral systemic opioid therapy, but the patient's |
medications were retilled. There was no documentation of a discussion regarding the

UDS ordered at Patient B's initial visit, no UDS was ordered at this visit, and no CURES

reviewed.

65. At Patient B's next visit on September 30, 2014, he was seen by a.
physician assistant. He reported no change in his chron_ic pain, was receiving 65
percent pain relief with his current treatment, and planned to try acupuncture. Much of
the note is copied over from pre‘vious visits. The physical examination did not _
document examining the patient’s low back. Patient B reported receiving insurance

approval for his injection, presuma-bly this referred to the translaminar injection that

was recommended at the prior visit. Patient B's blood pressure was 138/102 so he was

?® ESIis the acronym for epidural steroid injection.
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advised to follow up with his primary care physician regarding his elevated blood

- pressure. The chart note agaln documented that Dr. Smith did not recommend chronlc
oral systemic opioid therapy or high dose oral systemic opioid therapy for Patient B
but his’ medications were refilled nonetheless. There was no documentation of a UDS
being ordered a dlSCUSSlOl’l of the UDS prewously ordered ora CURES report being

. reviewed. The medlcatlons Patient B was receivmg from h|s primary care physuaan
were identified and Dr. Smith S offlce would ‘consider sw1tch|ng Soma to Zanaflex in

¢
5

the near future but this never occurred

66. . j'At‘vhis next,visitvon'October 24, 2014, with a physician assistant, Patient B
wrote in his guestionnaire that his pain had increased and he listed the many
t_reatments he needed, inc_luding injections, chiropractic care, acupuncture, an
‘implanted pain machine,.and "an electric wheel car.”~He_reported receiving 30 percent
~ relief with his current treatment and planned to try acupuncture, but had not
| .sch,eduled an appointment. P‘atient_Bi felt that his “restless leg syndrome had -
increased,” and he was working with his ‘primary care physician to obtain a motorized
scooter to use for long distances. Patient B also reported shortness of breath. There
was no phy5|cal examination documented There was no review of CURES documented
- and no UDS ordered. The chart note again noted that Dr. Smith d|d not recommend
this high-dose therapy, but, again, Patient B's medications were refilled ‘Patient B was
“very emotional about his chronic pain’ adversely affectlng his life. It was suggested
that he meet with a therapist and he was provided with contact mformation for a pain
psychologist. Patient B agreed to coordinate an appointment with that provrder.
Patient 'B'was referred toa surgeon for evaluation of his lumbar'Spine, the cer\'/ical |
epidural steroid injection was scheduled, a TENS unit'wa_s ordered, and he was to

return in one month for medication management.
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67. A November 4, 2014, telephone encounter documented that Patient B
called asking for his prescriptions to be filled. The ‘ofﬁce s_ooke with the ph_armactst
who advised the patient should still have medication left and that the pharmacist
would not refill the medication until the next day at the earliest. Patlent B was. advised
of the pharmaast s answer and “was very upset.” He wanted to know rf Dr. Sm|th could
write a preseription for one week‘ for the MS Contin, * so that it is all on the same
schedule as the'Percocet." Patent B did not want to change his appointment that was

set for November 21, 2014, and he would talk to the provider at that time.

68. On November 21, 2014, Patient B.met wtth Dr Smith. He_reported 70
percent pain relief with his current treatment but otherwise had no changes The |
physrcal examination documented was extremely brief. Patlent B's medlcatlons were
refilled with no changes. Dr. Smith did not document reviewing CURES, did not order a
uDSs, did not document dlscussmg the previously ordered UDS and did not document'

discussing the phone call seeklng early refills.

'69. - On November 26, 2014, Dr. Smith performed a cervical epidural steroid -

injection on Patient B.

70. At Patient B's becember 19, 2014, follow-up visit with a physician _
assistant, he advised that he had fractured his ribs on December 11, 2014, when he fell
off his 'h_ike. He brought his hospital records documenting that injufy to the visit. He
reported that his neck pain decreased after the steroid injection, but his pain had now
increased beeause of his bike a'ccident. He was currently receiving 50 percent relief
with the-treatment and planned to try acupuncture, but he had not yet scheduled an
appointment. The 'ph)'/sical examination‘documented. was cursory. Despite the same
chart entry that Dr. Smith did not }re‘commend high-dose opioid therapy, Patient B's
medications were reﬁlled but his MS Contin was increased from twice a day to three'

1
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times a day, but there was no documentatlon for why thrs increase was grven
presumably it was to treat the fractured ribs. However Dr. Geula oprned that MS
‘Contrn isa long actrng medlcatron and if the increase was because of the r|b injury, an
acute process |t would make more sense to increase the patrent s Percocet for any
breakthrough pa|n caused by the rrb |nJury Thereafter Patient B's MS Contln |

prescrlptrons remalned at thls lncreased Ievel of three. trmes per day

" The chart a'gain documented "consider switching So.rn'a-'to Zanaflex in the near .
- future,” but there was no documentatlon for why the swrtch had not yet occurred since
this same note had been entered at prlor visits. Patlent B was lnstructed to follow up.
with hrs prrmary care physrcran because of his 140/80 elevated blood pressure The
same note was agaln entered regardrng belng glven contact mformatron for a paln
psychologrst because he was very emotlonal about h|s chronrc paln adversely
affe_ctlng his lrfe The follow up plan was a repeat steroid InJectlon and medlcatlon
management in.one month no UDS was ordered no CURES review was documented,? .
and there was no documentatlon regardlng mqurry into whether Patrent B received

parn medrcatron at the hospital followrng his bike fall.

"71. On January 14, 2015, Dr. Smrth performed a second cervrcal epldural

steroid rnJectlon

. 72.  Patient B wrote in hlS January 20, 2015 patrent questronnarre that hrs
“100% |mprovement from the injections was startlng to fade Both experts agreed
~ that: patlents obta|n varlable results from injections, so this report was not unusual.
Dur|ng hIS visit with the physrcran assrstant Patient B reported 15 to 40 percent rellef
| with the anectron but felt it was slowly wearing off. He was recelvmg 50 percent rellef
from his current treatment. He was having less pain in the morning due to the MS
Contin increase. He planned to try a.cupuncture, but had not yet scheduled an”
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appointment. He had “not received a call to schedule an apoointment from the

' su'rgeon," but it was not clear to what this note referred. His rib fractures were healing
well and he was interested in a pain pump. The physical exam documented was similar
to the brief ones previously eharted. Although it was again noted that Dr. Smith did
not recommend long—term--high—dose opioid therapy, Patient B's me.dications were
 refilled. He was to follow up with his primary care physician “regarding his overall
“health and well-being,.'and recent rib fracture.” The follow-up was to return’in one

month for medication management and check the TENS unit approval.

73.  On February 17, 2015, Patient B was seen by Dr. Smith. He reported his
pain wasdrnost severe in his neck and his orthopedic spine surgeon was planning
surgery on his cervical spine. Dr. Smith recommended thet' the'surgeon also evaluate
the patient’s severe chronic compression fracture of his lumbar spine. Patient B
reported 30 oercent relief with his current pain treatment. Dr. Smith wrote that the |
patient “shows no aberrant behavior,” but it was unclear'how he made thét
determination since there was no documenfation of any UDS performed nor
documentation of reviewing CURES. Patient B requested changing from Percocet to
Oxycodone and was interested in an intrathecal drug delivery.syStem therapy in the
future should his pain continue to be refractory. Dr. Smith re1;illed tne patient’s
prescrlptions except he stopped the Percocet and started Patient B on Oxycodone.
Other than the patient requestlng thls change, Dr Smlth documented no rationale for
doing so. Addltlonally, Dr. Smith noted shortness of breath and chest pain, but no

evaluation or follow- up for those condltlons was documented

-

74.  Patient B's next visit on March 24, 2015, was again with Dr. Smith. The

patient reported 30 percent pain relief with his current treatment, which Dr. Geula
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noted is whe're'this patient began. The patient’s medi'cations were refilled with no

changes. No UDS was ordered and no CURES was reviewed

75.  An April 10, 2015, telephone note documented that Patient B called
:wanting to change his medications. He did “not want to take'Naproxen'anymore_ -
becausé his heart beats morebften and.can hear it in his ears;” l—le wanted to go back
on Percocet. Patient B advised that he has tinnitus which was why he hears his
heartbeat in his ears. The "Actlon Taken portion of the telephone note indicated that
Patient B was on Oxycodone SO was not a candidate for Percocet unless he wanted to
sw1tch from Oxycodone to Percocet "Naproxen is an anti mflammatory and works very -
differently than the op|0|ds His Naproxen can be swntched to a different antl—
mflammatory if he is havmg difficulty toleratlng th|s medication Please clarify message
~ with patient and patient W|ll need office VISIt to dlscuss medication adjustments ! Al |

message was left for the patient and the offlce was waiting to hear back !

76. A March 17 2015 telephone note adVISed Patlent B that because of
changes to his insurance, Dr. Smith’s office was- no longer able to accept his current
insurance because they were not contracted with that carrier The patient was gomg to

follow-up with his i |nsurance carrier and borrow money to pay for his next office visit.

77. Patient B was next seen on April 21 2015, by the phySicran aSS|stant He
continued to receive 30 percent rellef with current treatment He had stopped taking
‘his Naproxen and had some |mprovement in his tinnltus He requested sw1tching back
to Percocet in place of the Oxycodone as it had not been as effective for his
breakthrough pain. The physical examination documented was brief. The patient's
medications were_refilled, except he was switched back to the Percocet and his
Oxycodoné was stopped. A UDS was ordered. There was no documentation of
reviewing CURES. |
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78.  Patient B's April 21, 2015, UDS results, reported to Dr. Smith's office on
April 26 2015 were posmve for maruuana metabolite, opiates, hydrocodone and
hydromorphone, and morphine, all of which were noted to be inconsistent results. It is
unclear why the morphine was listed as an inconsistent result because Dr. Smifh was
prescribing MS Contin and that medication was noted on the reql.Ji.-sit.ion sheet

ordering the UDS.

79. At his néxt visit on May 19, 2015, Patient B was seen by a physician
assistant. He was currently receiving '75 percent pain relief. In what appears to b_eA
another copy and paste from prior notes, the note indicates that Patient B repbrted
stdpping his Nap.roxen with some improvement in his tinnitus and requesting é switch
back to Percocet in place of the Oxycodone, both of which had been reported and
addressed at the previous visit. Patient B had slurred speech at the visit and the results
of his April 21, 2015, UDS were documented as being “not ava|lab|e as yet.” Patient B
was sent for another UDS The phyS|cal examination documented was brief. He
reported using lidocaine patches in the past for his back pain that were prescribed by
his primary care physician. He had found five patches in his closet and asked for a
/ prescﬁption. He was told to try the patches he has, and if they help, that prescription
would be renewed on his next visit. Patient B had an appointment to meet with his
psychiatrist on May 27, 2015, in order to proceed with cervical spine fusion at C5-6. He
needed to stop smoking before surgery as advised by his spine surgeon, to aid. in his
surgical healing. Patient B was again given contact information for a pain psychélogist
to optimize his pain management and to assist with smoking cessation. There was no
documentation of reviewihg the results of the UDS ordered at thé prior visit. Patient
B’s medications were refilled, again a note was made that Patient B “continues his
change to Percocet from Oxycodone” and the Oxycodone was stoppe'dA. Inexplicably
the physician assistant wrote that Patient B “shows no diversiénary nor aberrant
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" behaviors with medications,” desplte his sIurred speech, and his usmg lidocalne
. patches he found in his closet. A UDS was ordered but there was no documentation
about why the prlor UDS results Wthh were mconsnstent were not avallable No A

' CURES was documented as havmg been rewewed

80. Patient B's UDS specimen, received by the lab on May 20, 2015; and .
v 'reported to Dr. Smith’s office on May 22,2015, was positive for marijuana metabolite,
an inconS|stent result. The results were also posmve for morphine oxycodone |

noroxycodone and oxymorphone

81. A May 29, 201 5, telephone'note documented that Patient B was sent for
a UDS at the last visit dIUe to slurred speech and the medical assistant “felt he smelled
of alcohol.” UDS results on July 8, 2014, April 21, 201 5,=-and May 19, 2015, had all been
positive for marijuana metabolites.'The “Action Taken” was: f'lnformation sent to Dr.
Smith for a violation of his medi-eation mana_t}ement agreement and if patient needs to.
R be disoharéed-f_rom —;)ractlce No documentatron of Patient B being notn‘ied could be
found for the UDS dated 7/8/14 and the other two have just become available"? Dr.
Smith ins.tructed his office to'call Patient B and inform him of the-repeated violations
of his medication mana'gement agreement and discharge him from the bractice; The -
patient was so notified and informed that he woLild receive a formal letter of 'dischargel

with the names of other pain prattices. If he needed one more prescription while he -

' transitioned,_Dr.- Smith's office would accommodate him.

27 There was no explanation charted for why those results had only “just |

become available.”
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82.  OnlJune 1, 2015, a formal letter discharging Patient B i‘ro_m Dr. Smith’s

practice was sent regular and certified mail to the patient.

83.  OnJune 16, 2015, Patient B came-to the offi‘ce for a “final refill” of his-

medications.

84.  Patient B's CURES reports obtained by cOmblainant as part of th'é
investigation, documented the controlled substances prescribed by Dr. SmitH and the
other-physiciané treating Patienf B'before Dr. Smith. When Patieﬁt B first saw Dr.
Smith, he was on day 11 of his 14 day supply of Soma, a benzodiaiepine musclé
relaxer, but Dr. Smith gave him a 30 day prescription. T‘h'ere was no dpcdméntation in
the chart that Dr. Smith was aware of this overlap. Neither Dr. Smith nor Dr. Helms
offered an explanation for the Soma overlap. The other medications Patient B was
receiving frém othef providers was consistent with what was documented in Dr.

Smith's records.

Evaluation of Dr. Smith’s Care and Treatment of Patient B
GROSS NEGLIGENCE ALLEGATIONS
Combination of Medications

85. Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was gros_sly negligent in“his care and
treatment of Patient B when he prescribed a combination of higH dose opioids and
Soma to him. He opinedﬂthat this cofnbi_nation of drugsv is dangerous for risks of over-
sedétion and respiratory issues and was especially dangerous in a patient with a
history of substance abuse. Dr. Geula did not believe there was any indication for

Soma as there was no documentation of muscle spasms or documentation the patient
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would benefit from Soma. He also noted the patient's request for 'early refills raised

“additional concerns about prescribing this combination.-

Dr. Helm opined that Dr. Smith ‘documented that the medications were'working, .
SO there would be no reason to wean them. Patient B was getting good pain relief It
was reasonable keep the patlent on the opioids and Soma until there could be some
determination made about whether he would have splnal surgery His morphlne
equnvalent dosage was above 90, but not S|gnif|cantly high that he would qualify for
the FDA study Dr. HeIm prev1ously referenced The documentation of his pain--
complaints was synonymous with desc_nblng spasm, so Soma was appropriate'and was

documented as being prescribed'-for his spasm. ,

~ Dr. Helm's op|n|ons wh|ch were supported by Dr. Smith s documentatlon that
there was spasm, is accepted but hlS opinlons that this comblnatlon of medications

met the standard of care is not. Complainant established by clear and convmcmg

ewdence that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care, and treatment of Patient B.

when he prescribed a combination of hlgh dose op10|ds and Soma to h|m
_Failure. to Modify Controlled ,Substance:Regimen .

86. Dr. Geula opined that Dr.’Smith'-was grossly negligentin his care and
treatment of Patient B for failing to adequately modify his controlled substance
regimen. Patient B had a history of substance abuse and several red flags" which
required additional attention be given to his treatment Although his MS Contin
dosage was increased after his rib frac_tures, it was never reduced nor was it cIoSely e
monitored when he remained on such a high level. Dr. Geula was critical that Dr. S'mith'

.‘ did not refer Patient B for consults with other providers, that Patient B's medications

were not changed but instead routinely refilled, that an insufficient number of UDS’s
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were ordered, and there was no follow-up on those ordered or any documentation of

a discussion regarding the inconsistent results obtained.

Dr. Helm opined that the types and amounts of medications prescribed were
within the standard of care. The records documented the pain relief Patient B received
from the medications prescribed and other modalities offered, such as an epidural

injection. He found no violations from the standard.of care.’

It is not enough to sxmply document that a treatment is not recommended the
physman must actually follow through on those recommendatlons Here Dr. Smith
merely charted his phllosophy but then did not follow it and he_and his phy5|c1an
assistants continued to prescribe high dose opioids to Patient B, with no end in sight.
Contrary to his philosophy; he prescribed those high dose opioids despite Patient B's .-
use of medical marijuana. Dr. Geula’'s opinions were more persuasive than Dr. Helm's.-
Complainant established by clear and con-vincing evidence that Dr. Smith wa's.g‘rossly

“negligent in his care and treatment of Patient B for falllng to adequately modlfy hIS

controlled substance reglmen
Failure to Review CURES Reports

87.  Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care and
"treatment of Patient B for falllng to review his CURES reports. Patient B had an
extensive history of substance abuse sought early refills, and had inconsistent UDS,
which should have been red flags. Reviewing CURES was required to properly monitor

this patient. |

Dr. Helm simply testified that he had “seen CURES” for Patient B that Dr. Smlth

“did and it corroborated” what was prescrlbed
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'PatientB was on multiple medications, many of which were not prescribed Aby‘ |

Dr. Smith. Given the patient’s d’ecades long history of drug abuse it vvas irnperative |
that Dr. Smith review CURES and document domg so. Dr. Geula’ s oprmon that CURES
should have been ordered at every wsnt seemed excessive, but hls oplnlons that
CURES should have been ordered more frequently was more persuaswe than Dr
Helm's to the contrary. Further, the only CURES reports offered at hearing were the .
ones complarnant obtalned as part of the |nvest|gatron Dr. Smlth offered none at

.' hearlng Complalnant establrshed by clear and convmcrng ewdence that Dr. Smlth was -

_ grossly negllgent |n h|s care and treatment of Patlent B for fallrng to review h|s CURES

reports.
:Failure_ to'Obt\ain' _More Frequ-en't' U"D,S o

A‘ 88, Dr Geula oplned that Dr. Smlth was grossly negllgent in hlS care and B
treatment of Patlent B for falllng to obtain more frequent urine drug screens. As W|th
O hi I;_Jp[}ic;}}; regarding éb_t;‘.;.}QEQéEsf reports, Dr. Geula c}pT ned that given {h_.s_"_ B
patient's substance abuse hlstory and requests for early refrlls Dr. Smlth should have
ordered more frequent ubs testlng, followed up at the vrS|ts to determlne why testlng

ordered had not been done, and been aware of the mconslstent results of the tests he

ordered. :

_ Dr Helm testlfled that lost or burled reports are somethlng that can happen in
‘ medlcal practlces and ”happens very often.” There were also tlmes where Dr. Smith, as
noted above, was not getting-lab results back that'had been ordered Dr. Helm did not

see any V|o|at|on from the standard of care.

Patient B was on muItipIe medications, many of which were not prescribed by

Dr. Smith. Given the patient’s decades long history of drug abuse, it was imperative
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that Dr. Smith order more fréequent UDS testing and foIIow—Qp on UDS tests ordered.
The issues Dr. Smith had with the labs did not absolve him of his duty to follow up on
labs ordered and chart having done so. Dr. Geula's opinions are accepted over thosé :
of Dr. Helm’s to the contrary. Complainant established by clear and conVincing
evidence that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care and treatment of Pafient B for

- failing to obtain more frequent urine drug screens.
Failure to Maintain Timely Medical Records

89, Dr.Geula opined that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care and
treatment of Patient B for failing to adequately maintain timely medical records. As
with Patient A, the basis for his opinion was that the records were "electronically

signed” on December 11, 2017, the date they were printed for the investigator.

For the reasons noted above about locking and printing records, that oplmon is
rejected. Complalnant did not establish by clear and convincing evndence that Dr.

Smith failed to adequately maintain timely medical records for Patlent B.
REPEATED NEGLIGENT ACTS ALLEGATIONS
Failure to Obtain Consultations

90.  Dr. Geula opined that Dr: Smith was negligent in his care and ffeathent
of Patient B for failing to obtain adequate consultations for complex pain issues. Given
the pafient"s complaints, Dr. Géula believed Dr. Smith should have ordered
psychological consqlts, neurological consul.ts, and physical therapy. Dr. Geula was not
aware that Dr. Smith submitted approval for Patient B's TENS Unif and cbuld not recall

that Patient B brought his hospital records to the visit following his bike accident.
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Dr. Helm noted the various therapies documented in the record and that the
patient had been referred to Dr. Smith for pain management He found no dewatlon

from the standard of care.

Dr. Helm's opinions, which were supported by the records, were more
persuasive than Dr. Geula's to the contrary. Complainant failed to establish by clear
and convincing that Dr. Smith was-negligent in his care and treatment of Patient B for

failing to obtain adequate consultations.
Failure to Document Detailed Physical Examinations -

91. Dr. Geula opined.that Dr. Smith was negligent in his care and treatment
of Patient B for failing to adequately document a detailed physical examination of all

areas of Patient B's pain complalnts Dr. Geula noted that often at visits there were

~ missing physncal examinations or onIy portions of the phyS|caI exam documented

Dr. Helm opined that the phy5|cal examinations documented in the records
were sufficient and met the standard of care. There was no need to perform a
complete physrcal examination at foIIow up appomtments where the same pain

complaints were being addressed.

Many of the entries were cut and-paste, physrcal examinations were cursory
and there was no documentatlon of examlmng areas of the body where there were
pain complalnts Dr. Geula' s op|n|ons were persuasive and supported by the records
Complainant establlshed by clear and convincing ewdence that Dr Smlth was |
negllgent in his care and treatment of Patient B for falllng to adequately document a

detailed physical examination of all areas of his pain complaints.
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Failure to Document Treatment Objec'tives '

92. Dr. Geela opined that Dr. Smith was negligent in his care and treatment
of Patient B for failing to adequately document treatment ohjectives_of continued
opioid therapy. Dr. Geula opined that the phyeiciah should document the.objecti.ve's of
therapy the physician is trying to achieve and those objectiyes were not sufﬁciently

addressed in Dr. Smith'’s records.
Dr. Helm saw no departures from the standard of care.

Dr. Smith's records adequately documented his treatment objectives.
Complainant failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence that Dr. Smith was
negligent in his care and treatment of Patient B for failing to adequately document

treatment objectives of continued opioid therapy.
Dr. Smith’s Care and Treatment of Patient C

'93.  Patient C, a 50-yéar-old female, had her new patient consultatien with Dr.
Smith on August 26, 2014. She complained of low back pain, left lower extremity pain
associated with numbness and weakness, ah'd chronic left foot pain. He'r.' pain began in
2006 following a-work injury. Prior treatment included an epidufal bidfeedbaek/
relaxation training, massage bedrest, psychotherapy, steroid |nJect|ons phySIcal
therapy, and two surgeries for her plantar fasciitis. She was currently taklng 30 mg of
morphine sulfate-immediate release every four hours, 15 mg of m‘orphlne sulfate
immediate release (M_SIR) every eight hours, and one to two 50 rhg tablets of

Amitriptyline?® at bedtime. She smoked half a pack of cigareftes per day. Dr. Smith

28 Amitriptyline is a tricyclic antidepressant with sedative effects.
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" took a pain managementhiStory'where she_described her low back and foot p-ain' that
radiated down her left IowerleXtremity She described the pain as "pulsing, throbbing,

' aching penetrating, shooting, tight, numb, carlng, prlcklng, cold sharp, gnawnng,
pinching, cramping, pulling, hot tingling, stinging, intense, unbearable She descrlbed'
the severity as being ,10,out of 10. She had _weakness and tingling in her left lower

' extremity, which was aggravated by activity; Patient C also complained of constipation.

Dr. Smith performed a physical examinationand assessed Patient C with
degeneratlon of lumbar dlSC(S) lumbar radlcul|t|s/rad|culopathy, plantar fascutis and
long term use meds nec. Dr Smith started MS Contln extended release 15 mg every -
12 hours started MSIR capsule 30 mg every 4 to 6 hours as needed for pain W|th a

max1mum of Six per day

Patient C reported that she underwent a worker's compensatlon Agreed

Medical Evaluation (AME),” 2% where that physnaan had her undergo a lumbar MRI and

recommended against surglcal intervention . Another | phySlClan prescribed medlcatlons
and attempted various mterventional ‘therapies. Prior lumbar epidural |nJect|ons had
not been effective. She Was currently receiving high-dose oral systemlc op101d
therapy, receivmg a total da|ly dose of 225 mg of morphine She had trled varlous -
neuropathic pain medlcatlons without success. Dr. Smith reV|ewed her current

_ medications with Patient C, who reported having been on sustainedy—__release and |

" immediate release 'medications, “but this has been inadvertently changed since [her

29 An Agreed Medical Evaluation i's a type of medical evaluation performed in

worker's compensation cases.
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treating physician] has been unable to take care of her.” Dr. Smith recorr'\m‘énded

obtaining a copy of her AME and her 2012 lumbar spine MRI scans. Dr. Smith charted:

Patient understands I do not recomme‘hd chronic oral
systemic opioid therapy nor high-dose oral systemic_,owpioid

- therapy. Patie‘ntv’s cbné_tipation is most I-ikely dué to her oral
systemic opidids. Therefore, patient méy be a good.
candidate for an i%nplantable fherapy. The imblantable
therapiés would be a more appropriate long-term
therapeutic modality when compared to chronic oral
systémic opioid‘ therapy. For now, I will cohtinue her 6pioid
thérapy_, but change her to a sustained rel.eése MS Contin-
and immezdiate release MSIR. I recommend Slowly titrating |

and increasing her sustained release medications while

reducing her immediate release medication.

Dr. Smith documented that Patient C was interesfed in_ irﬁplantable therapies
and he gave her literature about them to\feview. Patient C reported she was ‘flamiliar
with intrathecal drug delivery t~he-rapy. Dr. Smith recomhended she “continue her
"d'isability status as per her primary treating physiciaﬁ." Patient C signed a medication
management agreéme‘nt lihke the ones Patients A and B.signed, and UDS screening was
ordered. A “Bowel Regi'men" document, Iike the ones in Patieqt A's and Patient B's

chart, was also in Patient C’s chart.

Dr. Smith prescfibed 15 mg of MS Contin twice a day for 30 days, and 30 mg of
MSIR every 4 to 6 hours as neéded for pain, with a maximum of six per day for 30 -
days: Patient C’s follow-up was: “office visit one month medication management with
urine tox screen. Please obtain agreed medical evaluation from patient or work comp
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carrier. ThIS will identify future medical care. Her Iumbar splne MRI scan results we Il
[sid most Ilkely also be there There was no documentatlon that Dr. Smrth reviewed

CURES or ordered a UDS at this visit.

94.  PatientC was next seen on September 23; 2014 by a physicia_n assistant. |

She.reported “a signifi_cant increase in her chronic low back and both legs for no

- apparent reason, which'makes it difficult for her to walf< " fShe Was currently receiving
no pain relief without her medlcatlon The phyS|c1an a55|stant documented that Patient
C was currently taklng MS Contin 15 mg twice a day, MSIR 30 mg every 4 to 6 hours

- for pain-maximum six per day, MSIR 30 mg capsules orally every four hours MSIR 50.
mg tablet orally every erght hours and Amltrrptyllne Although it was documented that

| the medication hst was rev1ewed and reconcnled WIth the patlent no explanatlon for
the two morphlne sulfate prescrlptlons Patlent C was taklng that Dr Smlth had not
prescribed was documented Much of the chart note appears to be cut-and-paste from

ceeee oo .- -the |n|t|aI chart entries.. - -~ ‘-:'_ S - — -'_'_A._-_,T_ S _H__'_a___--._. e

Patient C brought her AME and MRI scan- report for review. Her MRI showed
mild bllateral mid- hne Ievel facet degeneratlvejomt dlsease w1th a sllght L4-5
anterollstheSIS and degeneratlve dlSC disease. The phy5|cran assnstant explalned to
Patrent C that she would review the mformatlon with Dr ‘Smith to see |f any further :
N lnterventlonal procedures were recommended Given thé patlent s recent ﬂareups of
|ow back buttocks and leg pa|n makmg it dlfflCUl‘t for her to walk a new lumbar sprne
scan may be needed. In the meantlme, Patient C agreed to contlnue conservatrve |
treatment and follow-up with her primary care' provider regarding her elevated blood
pressure (155/92) at today’s visit. The physician assistant refilled Patient C's MS Contin
and MSIR an’d reviewed with _her “Dr. ‘S'mith’s medication manag_ement philosophy to

use medications as a bridge to more appropriate therapies,” noting that Dr. Smith
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does not recommend continued high-dose oral systemic opioid therapy for Patient C's
condition. Patieﬁt C declined neuropathic pain medfcation because of its previous
ineffectiveness ahd since she was “adequately funétioning and tolérating her cu‘rrent
medications without difficulty,” no change was made to her prescriptions. “A slow
titration of increasing her sustained-release medication while reducing her immediate
release medication will begin as her pain allows.” A random UDS was.performed an'd
the ‘dipstick results were positive for opiates, TCA,3? which was inconsistent with the

medication list she verified at the visit.3! -

95.  Patient C was next s,éen on October 21, 2014, by a physician assistant.
She reported a significant increase in her chronic left _buttoCk pain, leg cramping, and
burning pain which made it difficult for her to walk and care for her grandson. She was
currently receiving no relief without her medications. A very minimal physical
examination was documented ‘and it was again noted that 'a new lumbar spine MRI
may be needed. The physician assistant also documented: “We again requested the
medical exam report from [worker's compensation physidan 1 regarding her future
medical care to review with Dr. Smith. In the meantime, the patient agrees to continue
conservative treatment with her primary treater.” Patient C's medications were refilled,

~and the results of her UDS were reviewed which were consistent with her medication-

0 TCA is the acronym for tricyclic antidepressants and TCA testing is done to

confirm the presence of antidepressants. |

31 Dr. Geula testified the UDS results could be consistent with the medications

the patient was taking.
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list. Patient C again declined neuropathic p.ain medication and no change to her |

medicétioné was made. There was no documentation of review‘i-n‘gCU RES.

96. © An October 30; 2014, _telepho‘ne'no.te documented that the worker's -
compensation pharmacist wished to speak with Dr. Smith, buf the time the pharmacist
was available conrlicted with another 'patvie'nt’s schedulee appointr_nerit'time. An
October 31, 2014, teiephone note documented the c’onv’ersatioh with the pharmacist

where her questions regarding Patient C's medication management were answered.

97..  On November 26, 2014, Dr. Smith saw Patient C whe repOrted .incr'_eased
- pain in her left buttock. She was receiving 75 percent relief with her medications. The
severity of her pain was “10/10 average.” Mueh of the netes for trris visit appear to 'be
c_opi'ed from prior visits. The treatment plan in’cluded an M-RI of the Iu'rrwbar spine and
refilling he/r two m.orphine prescriptiorms. No UDS was ordered and no CURES report. -
was documented as being"reviewe.d. VA December 9, 2014, addendum documented that
 the Dvevcernvb‘er 7, éfﬁ 1 _A_ME_rer;o_r_t—v?/a_é_rev_le\}\;e_d_and showed a need for-spine - -~
evaluation as part of the patient’s future medical care, so Dr. Smith recommended

obtainirrg a new [umbar spine MRI
98.  Patient C was a no-show for her December 22, 2014, appointment.

99. At Patrent C's December 29, 2014, vrsrt the physraan assistant
documented that she reported increased paln in her left buttock and Ieg pain. She was
receiving 75 percent pain rellef. Her appetite has been adversely effected because‘ of
the severity of her pain. The need for new MRI scan was noted and in the mearrtime‘
Patient C would continue with her current medication reglmen No change was made |
but it was again d_ocumented that a "slow titration of increasing her sustamed release

medication while reducing her immediate release medication would begin as her pain

70



allows.” Patient C agreed to follow up with her primary care physician regarding her
elevated blood pressure (155/93) at today's visit. Theré Was no documentation of a
UDS being orderéd, a CURES report being reviewed, or explanation of the missed

appointment.

100. Patient C's next appointment was January 26, 2015, with a physician
assistant. She reported increased pain in her left buttock and posterior thigh ;ince the
last office visif.r She Was_rece'ivih_g 75 percent relief with her current tfeatment. Her
. sleep and mood were:adversel’y affected due to the severity of her pain. Many of the
entries appear to be copied from prior entries. ;Fhe results of Pétient C's JanuaryIZO,
201.5, lumbar spine MRi scan were-reviewed with_hAer. Thé MRI scan repbr—t showed a
grade 1 L4-5 anterolisthesis and degenerative disc disease reslulting in moderate to
~ severe cenfral,stenbsis as well as moderéte bilateral foréminal narrowing along with
L5-S1 degenerative disc disease and facet degenerative joint diseaéé wifh mild central

stenosis. The physician assistant would re\)iew»the revsult's with Dr. Smith to determine
| an interventional pain management plan for the patient's chronic low back, buttock
and left posterior thigh pain which made it diifficu'lt for her to walk. In the meantime,
Patient C_agréed to continue her conservative treatment with her primary treater. Her
medications were refilled-With no Changes and again it was documentéd that a."slow
titration of increasing her s‘ustained.—reklease médication while reducing her immediate
release r-he'dication will-'b;eg'in as her pain allows.” Patient C would follow qu with her
priméry care physician regarding her elevated blood preséure‘ (148/98) 'Obtai-ned on
this visit. No UDS was ordered and there was no documentation of CURES béing _

reviewed.

101. At her next visit on February 25, 2015, the physician assistant

documented that Patient C felt no change in her chronic left buttock and posterior
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thigh pain since her last vrsrt and continued to receive 75 percent pain rellef wrth her

‘ current treatment Agaln much of the |nformat|on in the note appeared to be copred
over from prior visits. The Assessment section stated "After extenswe revrew of the
patient's records and recent lumbar spine MRI scan report by Dr. Smith, he - |
recomme‘nds obtaining psychoilogical clearance in preparation for a spine cord
stlmulator tr|aI to determrne her candldacy for an lmplant to prowde long -term 7

" neuropathic pain reI|e1c of her chronic low back buttock and left postenor thrgh pain
that makes it dlffrcult for her to walk.” Patient C was given educatlonal materlals
regardlng this therapy and would discuss it further with Dr. Smlth at. her next visit. In
the meantime, she agreed to contlnue conservatlve treatment ‘with her pnmary treater
Her medications were refll_led with no changes and again the chart referenced_'s|owly
titrating Pat'ient C's .sustained; retease and immedi_ate release medications when her .-
pain allo'Wed. A neuropathic-agent can be added if needed, but there was no
'docume‘ntation that this treatment had been oftered and refused in the past. The .
patient ;g' r_eed_to_fol_lmo\;v_u o with her pri mar_y_ E;?E}Shy“s'{c]é}{'r_eg; ra’i?@;_He_r_ejév_a}ég_'_" -

bIood.pressure (145/104) obtained at the visit. No UDs was ordered and no review of

| CURES was charted.

o 102. Patlent C's April 3 2015 vrsrt was with Dr Smrth She reported no change
in her pain and contlnued to receive 75 percent pain rellef Patlent C was mterested in
pursurng percutaneous splnal cord stimulation therapy to treat her Iow back and left
lower extrem|ty symptoms that will enable her to srgnlflcantly reduce or ehmrnate her
oral analge5|c pain medlcatlons Agaln much of the entrles appear to be copled over

from pnor visits. Dr. Smith noted that due to Patient C's failed conservative treatments,
he believed she was a good candidate for percutaneous spinal 'cord_stimulation f
therapy. He recommended obtaining psychological clearance fo_rﬁthat therapy. In the
meantime, she wished to continue with- her conservative treatment and h.e reﬁl'l_ed her
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medications with no changes. Patient C was advised to follow up with her primary care
physician regarding her elevated blood pressure (152/86) obtained at today's visit. No

UDS was ordered and Dr. Smith did not document reviewing a CURES report..

103. An April 8, 2015, telephone note documented that the pharmacy could
only fill 90 of the 180 morphine sulfate immediate release tablets prescribed because
they-were out of stock. The pharmacy would have more in stock next week and could
fill the remaining 90 pllls then, but would need a new prescription In a follow-up.call,
the patient advised was able to get her complete prescription and did not need any

medlcatlon at this tlme

104. Patient C was next seen on April 30, 2015 by a physician aSSistant. She
reported no change in her chronic left buttock and posterior thigh» pain. She again
reported'75 percent pain relief_ with her current treatment. She reported increased pain
~in her groin, but otherwise no changes in her condition. Again, much of the note
appearedto be copied from previousentries, for example s‘he was again to follow up
with her primary care physician for her elevated blood pressure today, but there was
no entry in the chart of her blood pressure reading, and again there would be a slow
titration her medications, but, as with all other similar entries, there was no'such
titration and her medications were refilled with no chang’es. No UDS was ordered and

no review of CURES was charted. ‘

105. At Patient C's May 29, 201 5, visit with a physician assistant, she reported
a new pain in her buttock bilaterally that felt like a muscle ache, but there was no
tingling or burning down her legs with this intermittént pain and she was taking Aduvil
for it. Patient C was told to see her primary care physician to discuss this new pain.
Patient C requested a back brace due to the location of her pain and MRI results. She -
continued to wait for approval from her insurance company fora psychological

73



evaluatiOn in order to proceed with implanit therapy Patient C was receiving 50
percent relief With her current treatment plan and the phySlClan assistant believed a
back brace wouId help her chronic pain Again much of the note appears copied over
from prior notes. The patient S medications were refilled with no changes and the
office would “see if patient is covered for a back brace No UDS was ord.ered and no

CL_JRES report,revnew was documented.

106. Patient C was next seen on June 26, 2015 by a physncran aSSIStant She
reported experiencmg nausea and headaches on one occa5|on and was not sure S if it
- was related to her medications. She reported gettlng’good pain relieic from her current ’
medication combination and did not want to change it She was advrsed that if it
happened again to stop taklng hermedication and they would trial other -
medica‘tions Patient C was receivrng 75 percent pain relief With her current treatment
and was still waitlng insurance approval for a psychological evaluation Patlent C was )
e - ,Aagain-.r.equestlng-a_back,brace,a,nd‘th_e..phySiCian_aSSIstant,r.ecommended_she,.be_.fltted__ e
with a supportive bacl(brace to be intermittently worn during periods oic increased
" physical activity. Again, much of the note appears copied from prior entries. The B

patient s medlcations were refilled with no changes No UDS was ordered and no

review of a CURES report was documented. ‘

107. At Patient C's August 12 2015 visiti\)i/ithithe physician as'sistant 'she
reported no recurrence of her headache and improvement in her back pain since
receivmg her back brace She was receivrng 75 percent pain relief with her current
treatment. Much of the entries in the note were copied over from prior entries,.
including documentation once again of thetitration plan, bu_ther_ medications were

| 'refilled 'with no changes._ No UDS was ordered and no review of a CURES report was

documented.:
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108. At her September 9, 2015, visit with a p_hysic.ian assistant, Patient C
reported continued imprdve_ment in her back pain and increases in her activity
because of hef back brace. She was receiving 50 percent pain relief with. her'currenf'
treatment. She recently underwent a tooth extréction and reported just finishing a
course of amoxic_i"in a'nd. Ibuprofen. “Due to some issues with her psyche clearance.. ..
A new psychiatrisf is being contacted.” Patient C was also advised about DNA testing
for her chronic pain a'ndb was gi'ven information about that testing. Much of the(note
appears copied from priof entries. Patient's medications were refilled with no changes,

a UDS was ordered as was follow up in one month with DNA testing, but there was no

documentation of reviewing CURES.

109. Patient C's next visit on October 15, 2015, was with Dr. Smith. Much of
his chart entries are from prior visits, with many being repeats from the August 9,
2015, chart notes making the October 15, 2015, entries somewhat confusing because
what Dr. Smith listed under History of Present Iliness, were the findings that had been
listed under the August 12, 2015, Hisfory of Present Iliness section. Patient C reported |
that the Ibuprofen she had taken her for her tooth extraction also hélped alleviate her
back pain. Dr. Smith did not document following up on the UDS that had been

ordered at the prior visit and no CURES review was charted.

Dr. Smith recommended Patient C continue trying to obtain a psychological
evaluation in order to be cleared for implant therapy. In the meantime, Patient C
would continue with her current medications. Dr. Smith refilled her medications with

no changes and started her on Ibuprofen 800 mg to be taken twice a day. He wrote: “I

32 Dr. Smith explained that at this time, DNA testing was being used for pain

management patients, but has since fallen out of favor.
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recommend temporarily continuing MS'Contin 1"5 m'g [twice a day] MSiR 30 mg’
| maxnmum six per day, and tr|al|ng Ibuprofen 800 mg [twrce a day] for nocnceptlve
paln " He again noted that he d|d hot recommend chronlc oral systemlc op10|d therapy
for her condltlon and that a more approprlate therapeutlc modallty would |nc|ude
percutaneous splnal cord stlmulatlon therapy Dr. Smlth also noted that Patlent C was
receiving hlgh dose oral systemlc oprord therapy and he did not recommend chronlc
‘high-dose oral systemlc op|01d therapy for her condrtlon No UDS was ordered and no

.CURES review was charted.

110. Patient C was next seen by Dr. Smith on November 12, 2015. The current

medica'tion Iist now contained Lisinopril a high blood pressure medication but there
was no documentatlon of when Patlent C began taklng that medlcatlon She

: complalned ‘of her usual and famlllar Iow back and Ieft Iower extremlty paln Patient-
C denled any analgesm effect from her op10|d therapy and reported no change in her

-------- i Aactivities of - dally |lVIng Dr Smlth noted that. she showed no- dlverSIOnary nor- aberrant-_ S
| behavior, but he d|d not document orderlng or revnewmg a UDS or followmg upon - |

the one prewously ordered nor dld he document revrewrng a CURES report so it was ’
unclear how he reached that conclusuon Agaln much of the note appears to be copled
from prior entries. He was Stl“ awaltlng a psychologlcal evaluatlon in order to proceed '
with percutaneous spinal cord stimulation therapy. Dr. Smith refilled Patient C's. .
medications, including the Ibuproten,'_ with no changes and did not recommend any
opioid increases._ He agai_n recommended DNA testing t_o‘help guide'm‘edli'cationr.

' management. He also charted that he recommended temporarily continuing the 15

33 Nociceptive pain is a type of pain caused by injury, physical pressure, or

inflammation.
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mg of MS Contin and continuing the MSIR and Ibuprofen, but did not chart what

"temperarily" meant. He ordered a UDS but did not document reviewing CURES.

111. Pat|ent C was seen by a physician assistant on December 16, 2015. She -
reported no change in her condition and had “not been able to schedule her
psychological. clearance, whrch has been frustrating.” She contlnued to receive 50 to 75
'_ percent pain relief with her. current treatment. Much of the chart entries appear copied
from prior entries. There was no documentatlon of followmg up on the UDS ordered at
the prlor VISIt Patient C s medlcatlons were refilled with no changes as she ”showed no.
" aberrant or dlver5|onary behavnor. Agaln, given the failure to follow L_J_p on the UDS
previously ordered and npt dpcumenting a CURES review, it was unclear how this

conclusion was reached. A random UDS was performed‘at the visit and the dipstick

~ results were positive for opiates and oxycodone “which was inconsistent with the

medication list” that was verified with Patient C.34 The specimen would be sent out for
further testing. There was no documentation of dichsSing the inconsistent UDS

results, no repeat UDS was ordered, and no CURES was reviewed. -

112. At the January 18, 2016, visit with a physician Vass_istant, Patient C
reported no change in her pain and 50 to 75 percent pain relief with her current
treatment. She had been "started on a water pill to help irnprb\re her blood pressure.”
bHer-medications were refilled with no changes. She showed no "aberrant or.

diversionary behaviors,” but as there was no documentation of the inconsistent UDS

34 Dr. Geula testified t_h_'_at.the UDS results could be consistent with the

medications the patient was taking.
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results belng dlscussed no UDS ordered and no documentatlon of rewewrng CURES

' .the basis of that concIusxon was unclear

113. Dr Smlth saw Patlent C on February 12 2016 She reported no change
- and 75 percent relref with her current treatment The results of her DNA testlng |
: showed that she was “a low rlsk for oprond abuse but unfortunately her paln ”
_ perceptlon could not be deflned Her abrllty and lnablllty to metabolrze varlous
.medrcatrons was noted Dr Smlth refllled her medrcatrons wrth no changes He dld not
'document dlscussmg her mconsnstent UDS results followmg up on the uDS ordered

on December 16 2015 and dld not document revrewrng CURES

- 114, A physraan aSS|stant next saw Patlent Con March 10 2016 She ™ -
continued: to report her condltlon as. prewously documented She was taklng a welght
'loss supplement to help lose welght and had recelved a letter from Soc1al Securlty that

she will no longer be recelvmg dlsablllty She would be. followmg up with her prrmary

care phyS|cran to appeal her disability status Her medications were refilled W|th no "
: changes but it was noted her Ibuprofen may be reduced in the future but it never was.
She was noted to have no aberrant or dlver5|onary behavnor but agaln the baSlS for '
that flndlng was unclear The phy5|cran assrstant ordered a UDS but there was no -

documentatlon of revrewmg a CURES report

" 5._ Patient C was s”e_en'._by a ph-ysician assistant.on April 7, 2016. She
- continued_to receive ‘50 'percent pain relief with her current treatment. The chart noted:
“Her normal UDS results were disc_ussed today,” presumably referring to the UDS
ordered at the last visit. Again, much of th.e chart notes appeared copied from prior‘
entries. Patient C's medications are_ refilled_ with no changes. No UDS-was ordered and

no CURES Was_reviewed.
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116.  An April 12, 2016, telephone note documented the patient’s call to the
office because the pharmacy would not accept the prescription because the physician
assistant who wrote it was not licensed. The patient was instructed to come to the

office to get a new prescription

117. Patient C was next seen on May 6, 2016, by a physician assistant. She"
reported no change in her pain and continued _to receive 50 percent pain relief with
her current treatment. Much of the note appears copied from other chart notes. Her

“medications were refilled with no chenges. There was no doCumentation of a UDS

being ordered or a CURES report being reviewed.
118. Patient C was a no-show for her June 3, 2016, appointment.

119. Patient C was seen by a physician assi_stant.on June 7, 2016. She reported -
an increase in her chronic low back anci left lower extremity pain "for no apparent
reason” and admltted to havmg increased stress from appealing her disabllity benefits
after they were discontinued because they decrded she can return to work despite no
improvements in her chronic pain.” She was recelvmg 25 percent pain relief with her
current treatment. Dr Smith’s office was still attemptlng to have Patient C undergo a
psychologlcal evaluatlon but were having dlfflculty finding an approved provider in her
medical plan. Patient C's medlc_ations were refilled with no changes and a UDS dipstick
was positi\}e for opiates which wes consistent with her medication list. The urine
specimen was sent out for a c’omplete UDS. There was no docu-mentationo‘f reviewing

CURES.

3* No explanation regarding this note was offered at hearing and complainant’

did not allege that Dr. Smith ernployed unlicensed physician assistants.
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~120. Patlent C treated with the phy5|c1an aSS|stant on July 5,2016. She
| reported chronlc left buttock and leg paln “for no apparent reason and mcreased
. stress because of her dISablllty appeal She was receiving 50 percent pain rellelc wrth
“her current treatment. She was advised to follow up with her prlmary treatmg
physician regarding her disability status appeal.*® Again much of Patient C's chart note
appears to be copied from prior visits. Dr. Smith’s office was still awaiting approval for
a psychological evaluation and.Patient C was;'advised to foIIOW—Up. Her medications
| were reﬁlled with no changes. No UDS was ord_ered‘ and no CURES repo»rt.was |

reviewed.

>121. }- A July 8, 2018, telephone note documentedthat the worker’s
compensatlon adJuster advrsed that Dr. Smlth is the pr|mary treatlng phyS|c1an and the
only name on the account and has been for along perlod of tlme " Dr Smlth S offlce
was able to flnd a psychologlst on the patlent s plan so the adJuster was gomg to get '
- c S ‘the authorlzatlon for the psychologlcal evaluatlon extended and Patlent C wasreferred .
to the psychologlst The ”Actlon Taken” portlon of the note stated Please follow up
“on thls and let me know if there is anythlng I need to do dlfferently as a prlmary
treater The next sect|on of the note prowded lnformatlon about how Dr. Smith was
to. chart his records and what lnformatlon he was to prowde because he was the
prlmary treatlng physman Despite that notatlon Dr.. Smlth s notes for Patlent C dld
not change because the records for the followmg v15|ts were in the same format as all

prior records

36 Dr. Geula was critical of this entry because he opined that Dr. Smith was

Patient C's primary treating physician.
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122.  On August 3, 2016, Patient C seen by a physician assistant. She reported
an increase in her chronic left buttock and leg pain “for no apparent reason” and was
receiving 25 percent pain relief with her cdrtent'treatment. Much of the entries appear
to be cop.ied from prior entries. Her medications were refilled with no changes. No |

UDS was ordered and no documentation of reviewing CURES was charted.

123. An August 26,-2016, telephone note documented authorization for a
psychological evaluation and the.documentation the psychologist requested to

perform that evaluation.
124. Patie'ntC was a no-show for her August 31, 2016, visit.

125. Patient C was next seen on September 14, 2016, by a physman a55|stant

She reported a contlnued increase in her chronic left buttock and leg pain “for no
apparent reason.” She was receiving 50 percent relief with her current treatment. Much’
of the entries appear copied from prior chart entries. Patient C was given the contact
information for the approved psychologist and agreed to schedule an appointment.
The patlent’ “condition has not changed while under our cere, so her disability status

will be continued. Patient will need to be seen by Dr. Smith to determine a change in
her disability status, as primary treater, if needed.” Patient C's medications were refilled
with'no changes. A UDS was ordered and the dipstick results were positive for opiates
which was consistent with her medications.'iT_he specimen waév sent to the lab for

further evaluation.

126 .An October 10, 2016, telephone note documented Patient C called |
adv15|ng that she was unable to " get through to [psychologist's] office” and was

- requesting an authorization be faxed, which was done.
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127. Patlent C was next seen on October 13, 2016 by a physrclan assrstant

She reported an increase in her chronlc Ieft buttock and leg paln “for no apparent

reason” and was rece|V|ng 25 percent paln rellef wnth her current treatment She had

been unable to set up her psychologlcal apporntment because the phone number Dr.

, Smith’s office gave her was a fax number. Dr. Smith's worker’s compensatlon specrahst

was asked to help facilitate this evaluation. Given her COndition, ‘obtaining a new
lumbar spine MRI was recommended to evaluate her worsening symptoms which may
require surgical intervention. Patient C's UDS results were reviewed which were

consistent with her medication list. Her medications were refilled with no changes.

128 An October 25, 2016 telephone note documented that Patient C was

“short #40 tabs of her morphrne and wanted to know if she could comé p|ck up a

Ascrlpt for the remalnlng quantlty7" Dr. Smlth s office was to call the pharmacy
conflrm they shorted her.” No actlon was taken because the patlent never called back

_regarding this.rn.essa’ge.__ o _j_ e e

-129. O;n‘l\lovember 10, 2016, Patient C was seen by a physician assistant. She

| reported a continued increase in her chronic left buttock and leg pain “for no apparent

reason” and reported 25 to 50 percent pain' relief with her-current treatment plan.

Patient C advised that she does not want to proceed with the spinal cord stimulator
trial for her chronic neuropathic pain and instead-wants to continue oral medication
and await authorlzatlon fora Iumbar MRI in order to. have InJect|on therapy. Although
authorization for psychologlcal evaluatlon ‘was obta|ned Patient C advnsed that she no
longer wanted to have the splnal cord stlmulator trlal “She states her reasons are the
Iong psych eval, and aft_er talklng with her-mother about the procedure, she does not
want to have the implant. I reiterated that Spinal [sid cord stimulation therapy may

allow us to significantly reduce and/or eliminate daily oral analgesic requirements.”
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Patient C's medications were refilled with no Achanges. Again, the entries appear cut-

and-pasted from other entries. There was no UDS ordered and no CURES reviewed.

130. A November 21, 2016, telephone note documented that the MRI request
was denied because Patient C “doesn’t meet guidelines and is deemed as not - '

medically necessary.'—’

131. Patient C was next seen on December 8, 2016 by a physician a55|stant
She contlnued to report an increase in her chronic left buttock and leg pain "for no -
apparent rea;on and was now using a cane to walk. She reported her pain level as
”8/10.”-Her‘pain iNas not well relieved with current oral medications and she wanted to
try inter\'/entional'inje"ction therapy.which required a neW lumbar spine MRI which _had
been denied on November 21, 2016. She was currently receivin'g 25‘pe—rcent pain relief
with her treatment, ”prima'rily due to the colder weath-er this past month.” She
reiterated her decision not to proceed with a splnal cord stimulator trial, Wanted to
continue taklng oral medications -and wished to appeal the denial of the request for a
lumbar MRI. Many of the entrles were copied from prior entrles A lumbar MRI was still
recommended and the plan was to appeal its denial. Patient C’s medications were
reﬂlled with no changes. No UDS was ordered and no CURES report was documented

as havmg been reviewed.

132. .A'January 3, 202147, telephone note documented that Patient C had missed
the d'eadline'to file an appeal of the denial of the request_for a lumbar spine MRL A
review of the denial had been upheld. Dr. Smith’s office was advised they could try and -
resubmit a new request if the're'had heen changes in Patient C's condition, and they

would review the chart notes to see if they could meet that criteria.
133. Patient C had a missed appointment on January 5, 2017.
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134 Patient C s next visit was on January 18, 2017 with a phy5|c1an assrstant
Much of the chart entry appears copred from prlor entrres Her pain was not well
:relleved with her current oral medications and she wanted to try lnterventlonal
injection the.rapy which required a new lumbar MRI that had been'>de'nied' 'She n
continued to receive 25 percent parn reIref w1th her current therapy. It was again noted
"that she dld not want to proceed wrth splnal cord strmulator therapy Patient C wanted |
to contlnue with her current medrcatlon management regrmen and the physrcran
assrstant explalned to the patrent that the current research does not support long— '
term use of oraI op10|d therapy for chronlc paln and her MSIR was reduced from #180
| to#160 WhICh almost I|kely contlnued [5/c1 to be decreased by her msurance She |
. verbahzed her frustratron of understandrng Patlent C s medrcatrons were refrlled W|th

no changes other than the decrease to 160 MSIR because of her msurance not

- because Dr Smith had decrded to reduce them

SR 1 35._._A.t l?atien.t_Cis _next;\ris_iteon.,Feb,‘rua,ry 71,2017, with ,the'_pbysician;assista nt,__ _ o

she reported an i.ncrease in her chronic left buttock and Ieg burning'/pi'ns andneedles
pa|n that was startlng to involve the rlght Iateral calf reglon She was usrng a cane to -
walk and her pain was not weII relreved wrth her current oral medlcatlon treatment -

_plan. She continued to/recelve 50 percent pain relief with her current treatment plan
“primarily due to the cold rainy weather this past month.” She again stated she did not

. want to undergo sprnal cord stlmulator therapy and W|shed to contrnue wrth her oraI

| medrcatrons per her AME report whrch documented the need for chronlc oral .

| medlcatlons On physrcal exammatlon there were new flndlngs of Ilmrted trunk range |
of motion in all dlrectlons W|th rncreased stlffness and dlscomfort near the end of |

range of motron and altered sensatlon along the L4-5 and L5-S1 dermatome of her left

lower extremity. Much of the entrles are copied from prror entries. Her medlcatrons

were refilled and Her MSIR.was increased back to 180 because she had difficulty
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managmg her paln with the decrease “so her quantity was adjusted back to #180."
Patient C was encouraged to decrease her medications in the future and consrder
detox off37 her oral opioid regimen to other non-opioid options but she “was he'sitant.
to- consrder thls because she will still have pain and her AME evaluatlon recommended
continued medlcatron management for chronlc ‘pain.” No UDS was ordered and no
review of CURES was documented. The plan was that the patlent would meet next

month wrth Dr. Smlth to dlscuss treatment options.

136. Despite the prior entry that at-her-next visit ‘she' was to follow-up with Dr.
Smith to discuss treatment options on March 7, 2017 Patient C met' instead, with a ;
phy5|cran assistant. She contlnued to report increased left buttock and leg burnrng
pain, Wthh was not well relieved with her current oral medlcatlons and she wished to
try |ntervent|onal injection therapy, but that was not a treatment optlon because the
| request for a lumbar MRI had been denied. She was only receiving 50 percent pain
relief with her current treatment plan. Patlent C reported a new pain on the Ieft srde of .
her neck that radlated to her left shoulder and had an apporntment with her prlmary
care provider for an evaluation. She Stl”-dld not want to proceed with spinal cord

stimulator therapy. Her medlcatlons were refilled with no changes and the results of

~ her UDS were revrewed which are consistent with her medication list. The physrcran A

37 Dr. Geula opined that this entry regarding detox was significant because

- Patient C's chart repeatedly d'ocumented that there was "no aberrant or diversionary'
behavior” and yet detox was being recommended. Patient C's refusal to consider detox -
or decreasing her opioids was concerning to Dr. Geula because there might now be an
“addiction issue on top of her pain issue, but that was not documented as being .

addressed in these visits. -
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assistant charted that Patient C reported difficulty managinglher paln With the . |
decrease in her MSIR 180 to 160 so her quantity was contlnued at 180. Patlent C was
agaln encouraged to decrease her medications i in the future and * consrder detox off
her oral oprond reglmen o) other non opioid optlons can be tr|ed but she was.
he5|tant to con5|der this because she WIll still have paln and her AME evaluatlon
recommended contlnued med|catlon management for chronlc paln She was to
follow- up with Dr. Smlth in one month to discuss treatment optlons No UDS was

B » ordered _and there was no documentatlon of revnewln,g CURES.

137 " On Apr|l 4, 2017 Patlent C was seen by Dr. Smlth He documented that |

" she’ reports today complalnlng of her usual in [S/c] famlllar left shoulder paln Iow
back pa|n Ieft lower extremlty paln and left Ieg paln However the left. shoulder pam
had only been reported by Patlent C at the prlor visit so it was nelther usual nor
”famllrar She was experlencmg 50 percent analge5|c effect from her medlcatlons

- _ ... _ Muchof the chartnotes appear copled from prLor entrlescAll of the patlents______ _,_‘_:__ S

medlcatlons were refilled W|th no changes desplte Dr. Smlth documentlng, “Patient |
understands I do not recommend chronlc oral systemlc op|0|d therapy for condltlon
nor do I recommend chronlc hlgh dose oral systemlc OplOld therapy for her condltlon
She understands 90 morphlne mllllgram equlvalence is considered hlgh dose oral dally

~ opioid therapy. She understands opioid weaning will be necessary in her future to a
maximum dose of 50 morphlne m|lllgram equivalence per day.” Her medlcatlons may -
be decreased in'the future and she was again encouraged to con5|der detox off her
oral op|0|d reglmen so other.non- op101d options could be trled Agaln she was

| hesrtant to con5|der this because she would still have pain and her AME evaluatlon
recommended contlnued medication management or herchron_lc pal,n. Her dlsablllty
sta-tus remained unchanged. Dr. Smith did not order a UDS or document reviewing,, |

" CURES.
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138. On May 2,>2017,' Patient C was seen by the physician assistant. She was .
“complaining of usual in [sic] familiar left shoulder pain, left low back and lower
extrernlt)r pain, and left foot pain.” Her pain was “8-9/10" and she received 50 percent
pain relief from her medications. Her primary care provider hvad ordered left shoulder
x-rays and the results were 'pending; Much of the chart entries appear to be copied
from prior entries. Her medications were.refilled with no changes The necessity of
morphlne weanlng was d|scussed She was again encouraged to detox and try non-
opioid therapy which she was hesitant to consider because she would still have her
pain and her AME evaluation recommended continued medication management for

her chronic pain. No UDS was ordered and no CURES were reviewed.

139. Patient C was next seen by a physrcnan assistant on June 7, 2017. She still
complalned of left shoulder left low back, lower extremlty, and left foot pain. She was
receiving 50 percent relief from he_r medications. She reported recently starting
chiropractic care for her left sh-oulder.. Much of the chart entries are copied from prior
entries. Her medications were refilled with no changes although it wasdocumented
that “Dr. Smith doesn’t recommend chronic oral systemic opioid therapy for her
* condition nor her current high-dose systemic oral opioid therapy for her condition.” -
Patient C understood that opioid weaning would be_neces’sary “in her future,"_ and
detox and non-opioid therap)r were recommended. A UDS dipstick perfOrmed was
positive for opiates, and oxycodone which waélnconsistent with the rnedication list
that was venﬂed today. The UDS would be sent out for further evaluatlon The patlent
would follow-up in one month for medlcatlon management and to review the UDS
results. There was no documentation of reviewing CURES or of a conversatlon with

Patient C regarding her inconsistent dipstick results.
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140. A July 6, 2017, telephone note documented a call from Patient C adwsmg

~ that when she dropped off her prescrlptlon at the pharmacy last month they had only

| fllled half of it. She was still missing her 30 mg of morphlne She has ”been Ieavrng

messages but no one has called her back.” Dr. Smlth s ofﬂce contacted the pharmacy

Wthh advised that Patlent C had plcked up the medlcatron yesterday Dr. Smlth S .

-office called the patrent to verlfy and the patlent called back statlng that she had

called the offrce last week and left a message telllng the front desk that she got her

: medlcatlon Of note if that were true 1t was unclear why Patrent C had called the

morning ofJuly 6, 2017 to report an unﬁlled prescrlpt|on and no explanatlon for this

was offered at hearlng

} l41.( On July 17 2017 Patlent C was seen by the physncran assrstant She .
complarned of left shoulder left Iow back lower extremlty and Ieft foot parn She
advused that her left shoulder worker s compensatlon case was: closed She reported
new. paln and l|m|ted range of mot|on inher nght shoulder She was_r_ecewnng_S_O__rT e =
percent rellef from her current medlcatrons She denled ”dlverSIOnary and aberrant |

behavnor The physrclan assnstant documented revnewnng Patlent C's UDS results

wh|ch were consnstent with her medlcatlon llst These notes contradlcted the prlor

A inconsistent UDS dlpstrck results and there was no documentatlon of a: dlscu55|on

regardlng those |ncon5|stent results Patlent C's medlcat|ons were refllled with no
changes desplte the notatlon that Dr. Smlth does not recommend chronlc oral - |
systemic OplOld therapy or chronlc high- dose systemlc oral op|0|d therapy for Patlent
C's condltlon and she understood the need to wean her op101d dosage in her future
She»was agaln encouraged to detox from op|0|ds whrch she was again ”hesrtant to

consider.” No UDS was ordered and no CURlES was reviewed. .
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142. A September 19, 2017, telephone note from another of Patient C"s
treating physicians documented that the physician was calling regarding the patient's
care and had questions about her opioid management. That physician suggested that
Dr. Smith start the patient on cognitive behavioral therapy -andiaqua therapy “in _an',
effort to reduce her ora.l opioid intake” and Dr. Smith “agreed with the suggestiOn set

forth.” That physician WOUlCl be “sending an official Ietter" to D’ Smith's office.

143. On August 14, 2017 Patient C was seen by the physman a55|stant and
_had the same complaints of left shoulder left low back, lower extremlty, and Ieft foot
pain. She reported some new pa|n and limlted range of motion of her right shoulder
that was being treated by her primary care physician who prescribed phy5|cal therapy
that was scheduled to begin next week. Patient C reported 50 percent relief Wlth her .
current medicatlons Much of the chart entries appear to be copied from pnor entries.
‘The discussion of recommended non-opioid therapies was charted. The patient’s
medications were refllled with no changes, desplte the notatlon that Dr. Smith did not
recommend that therapy, Patient C was encouraged to detox and would have to wean
her opioids “in her future Again, the patient was he5|tant to consider detox No UDS

was ordered and a review of CURES was not charted

144. An August 22, 2017, telephone note documented a message left with
Patient C's worker's compensation adjuster adyising that “Dr. Smith IS no longer's
accepting primary treating responsibilities, that [his office] would be notating a'nd
closing the patient’s account, and requesting that the adester would ensure the
patient is being transitioned to another primary treating physician.” When Dr. Smith’s
| officereceived no return call, despite leaving two rnessages, they contacted Patient C's -

worker's compensation attorney to advise the patient needed to transition to another
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primary treating physician. Dr. Smith’s office would proyide.Patient C a list of

providers.

- 145. 'Despite that.telephon'e note, Patient Cwas seen on September__'11, 2017,.
by th_e'physici'an‘assistant for medication management and there was nothin'g»different
- about this visit charted: She reported the same pain complaints and that her current

medications gave her 50 percent reIief Much of the chart entries appear to be: copied N

l "

from prior entries The patient preVious UDS results were conSistent with her :
medication but it was unclear what results this note referred as hone had been h
ordered at the prior ViSit Again it Was noted that Dr Smith did not recommend
chronic oral systemic opiOid therapy or her current high dose systemic oral OplOld
therapy for her condition "Patient also understands opiOid weaning WiII be necessary

toa maXimum dose of 50 morphine milligram equwalence per day Since the patient s

medications were approved and modified by her insurance to help faCilitate a move in

o _ - __this direction Iexplained to. the patient that her MS Conti_n 15 mg WilI bed _‘_c‘e”sed |
' from [twice a day to once a day] and her MSIR 30 mg Will be decreased from [a
maXimum of Six per day to a ‘maximum of four per day].” Her Ibuprofen would be |
continued but ”may be decreased in the future if her asymptomatic hypertenSion
continues to perSist ! Patient C was again encouraged to -conSider detox from opioids,
and use non-opioid options, but was ”hesrtant to conSider" it Patient C would
| continue her care with her. primary care prOVider for her chronic shoulder pain and her
.asymptomatic elevated blood pressure (142/90) obtained today Patient C was.
informed that Dr. Smith was no Ionger prOViding primary treating phySIClan serVices
~ and that the worker s compensation ad_iuster had been notified of that fact but had
not returned Dr. Smith's office’s caII Patient C advised that her attorney had informed’
her of this and she was working with them to transition her care to a new primary. .

treating physician. Patient C was informed that “[s]econdary treating services can be
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continued by [Dr. Smith’s] office when her care is transitioned.” The follow-up was the
patient would have a new primary treating physician for continued care and she would
return in one month for flnal medication management if needed No UDS was ordered

and there was no documentatlon of reviewing CURES

146. Patlent C was seen by the phy51c1an assistant on October 11 2017. She

contlnued to complaln of left shoulder pain, left low back lower extremity pain that
- was increasing, and left foot pain. She received 50 percent relief from her current
medication. She had been trying to reduce her medication use as pain allowed and
had difficulty obtaining’her medication from her pharmacy. Much of the note appears
copied from other notes. Her medications were refilled with no changes from the
decrease that had been prescribed at the prior visit. It was again documented that Dr.
Smith did not agree with this therapy for her condition, that she was encouraged to
detox, that her morphine would need to be weaned, that her IbUprol‘en “may be
decreased in the future,” and that she was hesitant to consider deto__>c Of note, she was
never weaned nor was her Ibuprofen decreased. She was instructed»to go to the
emergency room if her “withdrawal symptoms became too lntense g but those -
“withdrawal symptoms"” were not charted. She was continuing to transrtlon to a new
primary treating physician, but had been unsuccessful in her attempts to do so. Patient
C would continue trying to find a new primary treating physician and would follow-up

with Dr. Smith’s office in one month for final medical management if needed.

147. A November 6, 2017, telephone note documented Patlent C's call to the
office to ask about the registered letter she received. The patient advised “she forgot
the copy at her last appointment, but will bring it in the next time she is in the office.”
An addendum dated April 13, 2018, states: “Patient never did end up bringing a copy

of the registered letter that she received, nor was she able to provide our office with
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any details about what the letter was in regard to. The letter she received did not come
* from our office. Since the patient did not provide our office with any details about the

‘contents of the letter our office was unfortunately unable to aSSist her. any further

148. Patient C was a no- show for a November 30, 2017, medication

management appomtment and no further visits were documented

149. Patient _C’s CURES reports obtained by complainant as part of the -
investigation documented that,du‘ringthe time she wa's'treatihg' with Dr. Smith, the -
- only c'ontrolledisubstances she was prescribed were from Dr Smith’s office. Dr. Smith
'pr.oduced copies of CUREAS reports that he testified had been':sca'nn‘ed into the
patient's file but did not print out'when his office produced copli'es- of‘the rec‘ords to -

the investigator. ~

150. Unllke Patient A and Patient B, no lab reports of UDS results for Patient C

. _were. mtroduced at. hearing R _' e ; _ '_ - ’___._,.._.'_;_~_ _;__A; e

_- Evaluation of Dr. Smith’s Care and Treatmeht of Patient C-
~ GROss NEGLIGENCE ALLEGATIONS

Failure to‘Mo‘dify Controlled Substance Regimen .

151. Dr.ﬁGeula opi_hedthat Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care and
‘treatment of Patient C for failing to adequately modify her '}cvontr:olled 'substance
regimen Dr. Geula oplned that the patient's dosages continued throughout her
‘ treatment with no changes, despite documentation that she was receiving no benefit
from them, no CURES were documented as being reviewed, and the physical '

examinations performed at the visits were cursory. Of note, Dr. Geula's testimony that
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there weré no changes to the patient's medication regimen was inaccurate, given the

reductions noted towards the end of her treatment.

Dr. Helm testified that it is extremely difficult to get care for patients, like
Patient C, who are in the worker's compensation system. There are limitatiqns on the
“care that can be provided and it can only Be'given to the body 'parts identified by the
workef’s compensation carrier. Dr. Helm cited to an article Wriften by the CDC after
issuing its 2016 morphine equivalent guidelihes, cautioning physicians not to ‘v :

misconstrue the guidelines and wean patients from their medications.

It is not enough for a physiéian to simply document that he has told the pa%ien;c :
-what he does not recommend; the physician must actually follow through on those
re/commendations. Here Dr. Smith merely‘c_h-arted his philosophy but then did hot_
follow it and continued to prescribe high dose opioids to Patient C, with no end in
| sight. Dr. Sm‘ith claimea that he discharged-Patient C when she declined his
recommendation for a spinal cord stimulator because her mothef did not want her to
have the procedure, but that was not the case. The réAcords shoWed she remained his
patient for one more yéar and had numerous visits where she continued to receive |
opioids after she déclihed the spinél cofd stimulator therapy. Dr. Geula's opinions were
“more persuasive than Dr. Helm’s. Complainant established by clear and é_onvincing
__evidence that Dr. Smith Wés grossly negligent in his care and treatment of Patient A for

failing to adequately modify her controlled substance regimen.
Failure to Review CURES Reports

152. Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care and
treatment of Patient C for failing to review her CURES report. The standard of care at

this time re‘q'uired pain management physicians to review CURES reports, especially
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giventhe inconsistent UDS results. Dr. Geula was questioned about the CURES reoorts

Dr. Smith produced at hearing which his office 'obtai'nedb\'/vhile treating Patient C,;but

which had not been printed out when the records were produced to the investigator.

Dr. Geula opined that while “three was better'than none,” he would have wanted to

see more reviewed because Patient C was on high doses of opio'id's with minim_al

benefits. If Dr..Smith had.only treated Patient C for 18 months and gotten three

CURES, he Wofuld"r'év;is”e his opinion froT ar extreme dep‘a‘rture*fofa—si‘m‘ple—d'é“pa fure =
from the standard of care but here Patient C was seen for over'three years, which .

meant onIy one CURES per year was obtamed whlch was not enough and was an

extreme departure

Dr. l—lelm opined that even cUrrent legislation does not require CURES obtained

at every visit and the three CURES ordered here was sufficient.

leen the many medlcatlons ldent|f|ed in the records that Dr Smlth and hlS staff

were not prescnblng, and the lncon5|stent UDS it was lmperatlve Dr. Smlth review’
CURES at the VlSltS SO he could conflrm the medlcatlons Patlent Cwas reportmg and to
ensure there were no other medlcatlons she was taklng that she was not reportlng
Although Dr, Smlth obtamed three CURES, this was insufficient g|ven the Iength of
time he treated Patient C Complalnant establlshed by clear and convmcmg evrdence
that Dr. Smith was grosslyrnegllgent in his care and treatment of Patient C for falllng to

review her CURES report.
Failure to Maintain Timely Medical Records

153. Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was grossly negligent in his care and
treatment of Patient C for failing to adequately maintain tlmely medlcal records. H|s

opinion was again based upon the fact that several of the records were dated
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December 11, 2017, the date they were printed for the investigator. For the reasons _
stated above regarding locking and printing, that opinion is rejected. Complainant did
not establish by clear and convincing evidence that Dr. Smith failed to adequately

maintain timely medical records for Patient C.
REPEATED NEGLIGENT ACTS ALL_EGATIONS
Failure to Obtain Adequate Consultations

154, Dr. Geula obined that Dr. Smith was negligent in his care and treatment
of Patient C for faiting to obtain adequate consultations for complex pain issues. Dr.
Smith continued to prescribe high—dose opioid medications but did not refer the .
patient to any,other'providers or for any other therapies despite 'he-'r numerous

pain complaints which were detailed as not improving with her medications.

Dr. Helm opined that the records documented the theraples being attempted
the outside consultations and treatment Patient C was recelvmg, as well as previous
" therapies and consultations that did-not resolve her pain complaints. Dr. Smith was the

pain management consultant and worker's compensation limited his options.

Dr. Helm's opinions, which were supported by the records, were more
persuasive than Dr. Geula's to the contrary Complainant failed to establish by clear

and convincing that Dr. Smith was negligent in his care and treatment of Patlent C for.

falllng to obtain adequate consultations.
Failure to Document Detailed Physical Examinations

- 155. - Dr. Geula opined that Dr. Smith was negligent in his care and treatment

of Patient C for failing to adequately document a detailed physical examination of




all-areas of patient C's pain complaints.' The physical examinations in the records |

were cursory and were inadequate given her pain-complaints.

Dr. Helm opined that the physiCal examinations documented in'the records :
were sufficient and met the standard of care. There was no need to perform a
complete phy5|cal examlnatlon at follow up appomtments where the same paln

) complalnts are being addressed

Many of the entrles were cut- and- paste physlcal examlnatlons were cursory
and there was no documentatlon of examlnlng areas of the body where there were
pain complamts. Dr. Geula’ s__op,ln;_ons we_re persuasive and supported._by the,records.
Complainant established by clear and convincing evidence that Dr Smith was - .- |
neghgent in his care and treatment of Patlent C for falllng to adequately document a

~ detailed phy5|cal exammatlon of all areas of her pain complalnts
. -.__.__.___Failure '.to_Adequate.ly_Document_Treatm;entio,bjectives_ I

156 Dr Geula oplned that Dr Smlth was negllgent in his care and treatment
| of Patlent C for fallmg to adequately document treatment obJectlves of contmued '
opioid therapy Dr. Geula opined that the records should document the reason

medlcatlons are belng prescribed and the plan for treatment, Wthh was not done

Dr. Helm opined that a review of the records sh‘owed that the objectives were )
clearly documented and the modalities for treatlng the pain were.provided. There were
dlscussmns regardlng theraples prev10usly tried, notes regardmg therapies being
considered, and the therapies worker's compensatlon denied. Dr. Helm opined that the
notes’ cIearly documented the whole process of carlng for thls patient and the

decisions being made. There Was no violation of the standard of care.
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Dr. Helm's opinions were more persuasive and supported by'the records.
Complainant failed to establish by clear and tonvincing evidence that Dr. Smith was
negligent in his care and treatment of Patient C for failing to adequateiy document

treatment objectlves of continued opioid therapy.
Evaluation of Medical Practice Act Violations

_1:57. Complainant alleged that Dr. Smith's actions as set forth above violated
the Medical Practlce Act. For those causes for dlSCIpilne that were sustained by clear
and convincing evidence, complainant established that Dr. Smith violated the Medical -

Practice Act.
Closing Arguments

158. Corripla_inant argued fhat bas_ed upon Dr. Smith’s numerous violations,
his failure to take responsibility, and the credibility of both experts, Dr. Smith's license
should be revdked, the revocation should be stayed and he shoula be placed on five
years' probation with standard terms and conditions. Complainant also requested that
the follbwing optional terms and éonditions be ordered: the full PACE cou'rs.e, a

- prescribing practiées course, an Ethics coursé, a record-ke_eping course, a prohibit.ion:

from solo practice, a practice monitor, and a billing monitor.

159. Dr. Smith‘érgued that cdmplainanf’s expert wés inexperienced, that the
practice of pain management has evo_lyed since Dr. Smith saw thes_e,patients, the
evidence did not sustairi.most of the allegation_s, and that once Dr. Smith founci out

about medication manageme‘nt viblations, he discharged the patients; Dr. Smith -
| asserted that t‘he'e_xperts were simply "quibb‘ling" over the number otCURES reports to
review and whether ehough of a physical examination was dpcumented. At most, he

believed a public reprimand should be issued.
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LEGAL CONCLUSIONS

Purpose of Physician-biscipline_

| 1. The purpose of a dlsapllnary action is not to punish, but to protect the
public, and the inquiry must be limited to the effect of the physician actlons upon the
qualrty of. hrs servrce to_his, patlents (Watson v. Superior Court (2009).176. Cal App 4th _
1407, 1416) It is far more desrrable to |mpose dlsupllne before a Ircensee harms any
| patient than after harm has occurred.’ (Gr/ff/ths V. SUperlor Court (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th |
757,772) R | | N

The Burden and Sta’ndard of Proof

2. . Complalnant bears the burden of proof of establlshmg that the charges

in the accusatlon are true (Marz‘/n v. State Pefsonne/ Board(1972) 26 Cal App 3d 573

= 2

3. The standard of proof in an admlnlstratlve action seeklng to suspend or
revoke a phy5|c1an and surgeon s certlflcate is cIear and convmcrng evrdence

(Etz‘/nger v. Board of/\//ed/ca/ Qua//z‘yAssurance (1982) 135 Cal. App 3d 853 856)

_ 4.~ - Clear and convmcmg eV|dence requires a frndmg of high probablllty, or
evrdence o) clear as to leave no substant|a| doubt sufflcrently strong- evidence to
) command the unhe5|tat|ng assent of every reasonable mind. (/(at/e Vi Super/or Court
(2005) 130 Cal App 4Ath 586 594) The reqwrement to prove by clear and convmcmg
evidence is a ”heavy burden, far in excess of the preponderance suffncrent in most crv1|
lltlgatron [Cltatlon ]" (Chr/sz‘/an Research [nsz‘/z‘uz‘e v. Alnor (2007) 148 Cal App. 4th 71,
84.)"’The burden of proof by clear and convmcmg evidence * requrres a finding of high

probability. The evidence must be so clear as to leave no substantial doubt. It must be
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sufficiently strong to command the unhesitating assent of ‘every reasonable mind.’

[Citation.]” (/bid))

-5 In a disciplinary proceeding, the burden is on respondent to produce
positive evidence of rehabilitation. (Epstein v. California Horse A’ac/ng Board (1963) 222
Cal.App.2d 831, 842-843.) | |

Applicable Code Section

6. Business and Professions Code section 2227 authorizes the board to

discipline a licensee.
7. Business and Professions Code section 2234, provides in part:

The board shall take action against any licensee who is
charged with unprofessional conduct. In addition to other
provisions of this article, unprofessional conduct includes,

but is not limited to, the following:

(a) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly,
assisting in or abetting-the violation of, or conspiring to

violate any provision of this chapter.
(b) Gross negligence.

(c) Repeated negligént acts. To be repeated, there must be
two or more negligent acts or omissions. An initial
negligent act or omission followed by a sepérate and
distinct departure from the applicable standard of care shall

constitute repeated negligent acts.
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(1) An initial negligent' diagnosis followed by an act or
omission medically appropriate for that negligent diagnosls

of the patient shall constitute a single negligent act.

(2) When the standard of care requrres a change in the
dlagn05|s act, or omission that constitutes the negllgent act

~ described in paragraph ), lncludlng, but not Ilmlted to,a.

reevaluatlon of the diagnosis or a change in treatment and
the llcensee s conduct departs form the appllcable standard \
of care, each departure.constltutes a separate and dlstlnct

. breach of the standard of care,
Standard of Care

8. The standard of care’ requrres that physmans exeruse in dlagn05|s and
----- —- -treatment that reasonable degree of Sl(lll knowledge and caresordmarlly possessed S
| and exercised by members of the medlcal profe55|on under similar C|rcumstances The
standard of care is a-matter pecullarly within the knowledge of experts; it presents the
basic issue.in a malpractice actlon ‘and can only be proved by thelr testimony, unless
the conduct required by the: partlcular c1rcumstances is WIthln the common knowledge

- of the layman. (Williamson v. Prida (1999) 75 Cal. App.4th 1417, 1424.) C

9. The communlty standard of care is peculiarly within‘the knowledge of
experts; it presents a ba5|c issue and can only be proved by expert testlmony, unless

the conduct requwed under the partlcular circumstances is within the common

knowledge of the layman. (F/owers v. Torrance Memorial Hospital Medical Center

(1994) 8 Cal. 4th 992, 1001.) -
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10.  The standard of care must be provided through expert testimony. (Sinz,
supra, 33 Cal.2d at p. 753,‘ Sée also A/efl}. Alta Bates Hosp/'ta/(1992) .5'CaI.App'.4.th 208, |
215—219.) “The party offering the expert mﬁst demonstrate that the expert’s
knowledge of thé.su_bject is sufficient, and the determinative issue in each case is
whether the witness has sufficient skill or experience in the field so his testimony

~would be likely to assist” the‘trier of fact. (/d. at p. 219.) The. expert"s q_ualificafions
‘must establish that he or she héstt”tl'-le education,.trainihg, experiénce‘, o.r knowledge
necesséry to testify to the sfandards to be uApheld in the practicé" of the profession on
- which he..or she ils opining. (Cob,qef'i(. Board of/\/leq’/'(:a/ Examlhers(1975) 49
Cal.App.3d 931, 947.) |

Simple and Gross Negligence

1. A physiciaﬁ. is not necessarily negligent due to évery “untoward result
which may oceur.” (Norden v. Hartman (1955) 134 Cal.App.2d 333, 337.) A physician is
negligenf«only where thé efrﬁr in judgment or lack of success is due to failure to
' perfbrm any of the duties requ:ired'éf reputable members of the medical .prcla_fession
practicing under similar Circumstances. (See Black v. Caruso (1960) 187 CaI.Ap_p.Zd- 195,
200-202.) | | | |

12. While a lack of ordinary care defines neg-ligent condUct, gross negligente
isvdeﬁned by an error or omission '&;at is egregious and flagrant. “Gross negligencé -
~ has been said to mean the want of even scant care or an extreme departure from the
ordinary standard of.conduct." (I/a/\v Meter v. Bent Construction Co. (1946) 46 Cal.2d
588, 594; City of Santa Barbara v. Superior Court (2007) 41 Cal.4th 747, 753-754.)
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13 So far as the phrase has any accepted meanlng, gross negllgence is
merely an extreme departure from the ordrnary standard of care.’ (Franz V. Board of

Mea’/ca/ Qua//zj/Assurance (1982) 31 Cal 3d 124)

_‘ Repeated Negligent Acts

14, A repeated neglrgent act lnvolves two or more neghgent acts or
b‘rﬁ|§§|‘bﬁs No pattern of negllgence is. requrred repeated negllgent PTaEy means two oF T
more acts of negllgence (Zabez‘/an V. Med/ca/ Board of Ca//forn/a (ZOOO) 80 CaI App 4th

462, 468.)

;Cause—s for‘Disci_p_Iin'e Established

GROSS NE'GLIG’ENCE_ESTAAB“I_.ISHED'

~15.- Dr. Smlth comm|tted gross negllgence in v10]at|on of Busmess and -
\

‘P?ofessib‘hs Code section 2234 subdrvrsron (b), inhis care and treatment of- Patrent‘A—— T

when he prescrlbed a comblnatlon of high-dose op|01ds and Soma to her, failed to
modify her controlled substance reglmen falled to review CURES;and falled to obtaln

more frequent UDS.

16.  Dr. Smith comm|tted gross negllgence in V|olat|on of Busrness and

Profe55|ons Code sectlon 2234 subdrvrsron (b); in hls care and treatment of Patlent B

when he prescribed a comblnatlon of high- dose opronds and Soma to him, falled to -

modlfy his controlled substance regimen, failed to review CURES and farled to obtaln :

E more frequent,UD.S. =

17. Dr. Smith committed ‘gross negligence in violation of Business and

Professions Code section 2234, subdivision (b), in his care and treatment of Patient C
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when he when he failed to modify her controlled substance regimen, and failed to

review CURES.
REPEATED NEGLIGENCE ESTABLISHED

18.  Dr. Smith committed repeated negligence in violation of Business and
Professions Code section 2234, subdivision (c), in his care and treatment of Patient A
when he failed to adequately document a detailed-physical examination at many of

her visits.

i

- 19.  Dr. Smith committed repeated negligénce in violation of éus‘ﬁhess and
Professions Code section 2234, subdivision (c), in his care‘and treatment of Patient B
when he failed to adequately document a detailed physical examination at many of his

visits.

20.  Dr. Smith committed repeated negligence in violation of Business and
Professions Code section 2234, subdivision (c), in his care and treatment of Patient C .
when he failed to adequately document a detailed physical‘examination‘at many of

her visits.

21.  Dr. Smith violated the Medical Practice Act in violation of Business and
Professions Code section 2234, subdivision (a), when he was grossly and repeatédly
negligent in his care and treatment of Patients A, B and C, as found above in Legal

Conclusion Nos. 15 through 20.
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Causes for biscipline Not Established
GROSS NEGLIGENCE NOT ESTABLISHED

22.  Dr. Smlth did not fail to maintain timely medical records in violation of
Business and"_ Professions Code sectio_n 2234, subdivision (b), in his care and treatment

of Patient A

23. Dr. Smith did not fail to maintain tlmely medlcal records in violation of
Business and Professmns Code sectron 2234 subdivision (b) in his care and treatment

of Patlent B ,
24, '4-~>Dr. Smith did -not fail to maintain timely medical records in violat_ion of ~
Business and Professions Code section 2234, subdivision (b), in his care and tréatment

of Patient C.

---- == -~REPEATED NEGLIGENCE NOT ESTABLISHED ~ - -~ = === - - == == oo -

25, Dr. Smith was not repeatedly negligent in violation of Business and
Profes'sion's Code section 2234, subdivision-(c), in his care and treatment of Patient A.
Dr. Smith did not fail to obtain adequate consultations and he dld not fail to

adequately document treatment objectives of contrnued OpIOId therapy

26. ~ Dr. Smith was not repeatedly negligent in violation of Business and

A ~ Professions Code section 2234, subdivision (c), in 'his care and treatment of Patient B.

Dr. _Srnith did not fail to obtain adequate consultations and he did not failto -

adequately document treatment objectives of continued opioid therapy.

27.  Dr. Smith was not repeatedly negllgent in violation of Busmess and

Professions Code section 2234, subd|v1$|on (c), in his care and treatment of Patient C.
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Dr. Smith did not fail to obtain adequate consultations and he did not fail to

adequately document treatment objectives of continued opioid therapy.

28.  Dr. Smith did not violate the Medical Practice Act in violétion‘ of Business
and Professions Code section .223_4, subdivision (a), because he was not grossly or
repeatedly negligent in his care and treatment of Patients A, B and C, as found above

in Legal Conclusion Nos. 22 through 27.
The Board’s Disciplinary Guidelines

29. With causes for discipline havi'ng been found, the degree of discipline to
impose must now be det,ermjned.l In this regard, the board’s Manuél of Model
Disciplinary Orders and 'Disciplinaﬁry Guidelines (1 2th‘vEdition 2016) states that they are
intended to be used in the phys.ician disciplinary process and “are not binding

standards.” Further,

The Board expects that, absent mitigating or other _4
apprbpriate éircumstances such as e‘arl_y acceptance of
responsibility, demonstrated willingness to'undertake
Board-ordered rehabilitation, the age of the case, érid
evidentiary problems, Administrative L'aw'Judges hearing
cases on behalf of the Board 'énd proposed settlements
submitted to the Board will follow the guidelines, incIu;ling
those imposing suspensions. Any proposed decision or
settler.nent.that departs from the disciplinary guidelines
shall identify the departures-and the facts supporting the

departure.
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30. California Code ef RegUlations, title 16, section 1360.1, sets forth the

factors to be considered in determining discipline-. As stated:

When con5|der|ng the suspen5|on or revocatlon ofa ||cense
certlﬁcate or permlt on the ground thata person holdlng a
Ilcense certlflcate or permlt under the Med|cal Practlce Act

. has been conVIcted of a cnme the leISIon |n evaluatmg

the rehabllltatlon of such person and his or her ellglblllty for
a license, certificate or permit shall consider the following-
criteria: | S -

- - (a) The nature and severity of the act(e) or offense(s). .
" (b) The total criminal record.

(c) The time that has elapsed since commissidn of the act(s)
“oroffense(s). T
* (d) Whether the licensee, certificate or permit holder has .

complied with any terms of parble; probation, restitution or |

a'ny other sanctions lawfully impesed'ag_aivnst such person.

(e) If applicable, evidence of expungement proceedings
pursuant to Section 1203.4 of the P'enal Code. |
(f) Evidence, if any, of rehabilitati»on submitted by the

licensee, certificate or permit holder.
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Evaluation of Discipline

31..  Dr. Smith treated Patient A from 2013 to 2015, which was five to seven
years ago; Patient B from 2014 to 201 5 which was five to six years ago; and Patient C
from 2014 Ljntjl 2017, which was three to six years ago‘._hThere was no evidence of any
violations after 2017. However,'Dr. Smith treated these three patients', in toto, on a
monthly basrs for four years. His failure to follow his own. repeatedly documented
note that he ”does not recommend"” the very treatment he contmuously prescribed
-was concerning. Although the CDC issued new morphme equivalent gurdellnes in
+2016, one year after Dr. Smith stopped treating Patients A and B, and shortly before he
stopped treatmg Patient C, there were still issues W|th the care he rendered to these
three patients. While no ewdence contradlcted Dr. Smith’s testimony of changes to his
practic.e after those CDC goidelines were issued, those changes were insufficient to

redress the violations established here.

It is true that pain management is an ev'olv.ing practice, but the somewhat
lackadaisical approach reflected in these three patients’ records and demonstrated
during Dr. Smith’s testimony was concerning. The patients’ records suggested an
environment where too little attention was being paid. Dr. Smith’s testimony putting
the onus on medical assistants to bring_ thinds to his attention and to labs for failing to
report results, did little to allay tho.se concerns. Dr. Smith and his physician assistants - -
repeatedly documented that Dr. Smith “did not recomme-nd"’ the high-dose opioid
therapy they continued to preecripe, making those entries meaningless. Numerous
inconsistencies in the records'were not addressed, UDS ordered Were_ not reviewed or
followed up upon, and the patie'nts violated their medtcation management
. a_gre'eme'nts several times without consequence. On balance, weighingADr. Smith's

extensive background, training, and experience in pain management against the facts
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~ established here, as well as how remote in time those events occurred, and 'Dr.'S_mi'thls :

- credible, uncontroverted, testimony about the changes he has made to his practice, it

is not necessary to order more than three years of probation. . -

: Complalnant s request that no solo practlce be ordered is not necessary to
ensure public protectlon Dr Smlth Is an extremely experlenced pa|n management

physman who was one of the paln management ploneers in San Dlego County He has

successfully operated a paln management practlce |n San Dlego for decades. Imposmg .

a term and condition of no solo practlce would be unduly punltlve The' purpose of
discipline i |s not to pumsh but to protect the publlc by ellmlnatlng practltloners who

are dishonest, |mmoral dlsreputable or mcompetent (Fahmy V. /l//ed/ca/ Board of

Ca//fom/a (1995) 38 Cal App 4th 810 817) Dr Smlth is none of those thlngs Orderlng

: 'he attend PACE 50 that h|s paln management Sl(lllS can be evaluated and havmg a

B practlce monitor oversee hlm and review his charts w1ll sufﬂuently protect the publlc

“There is no basrs to lmpose the board s standard ‘term and condltlon that Dr.

Smith be prohlblted from supervnsmg physman aSS|stants whlle on probatlon HlS

practice employs phy5|c1an aSS|stants who routlnely provnde care, to patlents Imposmg |

this term would result in ‘those phyS|C|an assnstants belng termmated from

employment There were no causes for d|sc1pllne alleged or facts established that Dr

Smith falled to supervnse hls phyS|C|an aSSlStantS There i is_no basis to otder that term

- and doing so would be unduly punltlve Moreover currently our nation is in the throes

of a deadly pandemlc Medlcal provnders are desperately needed and severe economic

hardshlps are facrng mllllons of people Puttlng the physncnan a55|stants who Dr Smrth :

employs out of work would create hardshlps for them Ilkely cause undue patlent harm
as less paln patlents could recelve treatment, and is unwarranted because complalnant

did not allege a failure to supervise.
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There is no basis to order a record keeping course. The only record keepling
causé for discipline alléged was that the charts were not timely sAigned. As found
above, that cause was not established. Complainant’s argument that Dr. Smith’s
testimony about “locking” the ‘records demonstrated that his record keéping system
was ﬂéwed and he should use a different system, lacked foundation and was
unpersuasive. There was no evidence that Dr. Smith did not keep accu_rate'aﬁd g
adequate records. The issue presented here waé that he failed to follow up on tH_e '
inforrﬁation charted in his records. Ordering a récord keeping course on these facts

“would be unduly punitive. -

, Sim.ilarly, there is no basis to order an Ethics course. Absolutely no evidénce was
introduced, or even remotely s'u.gge‘sted, that Dr. Smith was dishonest or 'exhibited. any
type of conduct requiring he attend an Ethics course. Ord.ering.such a course on the
facts presented here would be unduly punitive. There was also no evidence that Dr.
Smith improperly billed for his services, so order-ing.a billing monitor would a‘}lsé be

unduly punitive._'

Dr. Smith is clearly a very experienced pain manlé'gement physician who now
routinely reviews CURES and is making a better effort_to stay on top of patients’ care.
He testified about the changes he has made in his practicé. Dr. Smith’s testimony
deménstréted his vast_ pain management experience and training. He presented as a
caring physician, but the medical records of these three patients were troubliﬁg. His
failure to follow up on what was charted in these patients’ records, repeatedly ordering .
what he “did not recommend,” coupled with his testimony plécing responéibi-li_ty on

others, makes the discipline ordered below necessary to ensure public protection.
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Certificate No. G 7047 issued to respondent, Kevln Sanford Smlth', M.D., is
revoked. However the revocatlon is stayed, and respondent is placed on probatlon for

three years upon the followmg terms and condltlons

1. Prescrlblng Practices’ Course ‘

Wlthln 60 calendar days of the effective’ date of th|s DeC|5|on respondent shall
enroll ina course in prescrrblng practices approved in advance by the Board or its
| de5|gnee Respondent shall prowde the approved course provrder with any

mformatlon and documents that-the approved course prowder may deem pertinent.

' Respondent shall part|C|pate in and successfully complete the classroom component of
the course not later than 5|x (6) months after respondent’s initial enrollment
Respondent shall successfully complete any other component of the course WIthln one

R _(1_)_year of enrol I_rrleht ?he_prEScrlhlnd p ractlces coufse she;lll)e at 'résBBHd*érT{s* ____________

expense and shall be in add1t|on to the Contrnulng Medlcal Educatlon (CME)

requrrements for renewal of ||censure

A prescribi_né practices course taken after the acts_tha_t gave rise to the charges
in the Accusation. but prior to the efr’ective date of the Decision _may, in the sole
discretion of the Board or its deS|gnee be accepted towards the fulfillment of th|s
condltlon if the course would have been approved by the Board orits de5|gnee had

the course been.taken after the effective date of this Decision. '

Respondent shall submit a certification of successful completion to the Board or

its designee not later than 15 calendar days after SUCCessfully completing the course,
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or not later than 15 calendar days after the effective date of the Decision, whichever is

later.
2. Clinical Competence Assessment Program

Within 60 calendar days of the effective date of this Decision, respondent shéll
enroll in a clinical competenfce assessment program approved in ac'lvAaAnce by the Board
or its designee. Respondent shall successfully complete the program not later than six
(6) months after respbndent’suiniti'al enrollment uhléss the Board or its designeé |

agrees in writing to an ektension_ of that time.

The pngram' shall consist of a comprehensive assessment of respondent’s
physical and mental health and the six general domains of clinical competence as
defined by the Accre‘ditation Council on Graduate Medical Education and American
Board of Medical Specialtiés pertaining to respondent’s currént or intended area of.
practice. The program shall take into account data obtained from the pre-assessment,
self-report forms and interview, and the Decision(s), Accusation(s), and any othér
information that the Board or its designee deems relevant. The program shall requi.re
respondent’s on-site pa‘rticip-ation for a minimum of 3 and no more than 5 days as
determined by the program for the assessment and clinical education evaluation.
Respondent shall pay all expenses associated with the cIinica'I competence assessment

program.

At the end of the eva'luation, .the program will submit a report to the Board or
its designee which uneqpivocally states whether the respondent has demonstrated the
ability to practice safely and independently. Bésed on respondent’s performance on
the clinical competence assessment, the program will advise the Board or its designee

of its recommendation(s) for the scbpe and length of any additional educational or
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clinical training, evaluation or treatment for any medical condition or psychological
i

condltion or anything else affecting respondent'’s practlce of medicme Respondent

shall comply With the program’s recommendations. -

Determination as to whether respondent successfully completed the clinical

_, N,'_"co'mpetence assessment program is solely within the program’s jurisdiction.

If respondent fails to enroll part|c1pate in, or successfully complete the clinical— S
- competence assessment program W|thin the desrgnated time period respondent shall
receive a notlfication from the Board or its deSIgnee to cease the practice of medicine
within three (3) calendar days after being so notified. The respondent shall not resume
the practice of medicine until enroliment or par_tic1pat|on in the outstanding portions
~ of the clinical com‘petence assessment program have been completed If the |
respondent did not successfully complete the clinical competence assessment -

program the respondent shall not resume the practice of medicine until a final

deC|5|on has been rendered on the first amended accusation and/or a petitlon to
revoke probation. The cessation of practice shall not apply to the reduction of the .

probationary time period... ..
3. Monitoring - Prac_tice

Within 30 calenda_r days of the effective date of this Decision, respondent shall
‘submit to the Board or its designee for prior approval as a practice monitor(s), the
name and qualifications of one or more licensed physicians and surgeons whose
licenses are.‘validand in good standing, and who are preferably Almerican Board of
Medical Specialties (ABMS)l certified'. A monitor shall have no prior or current business _
or personal relationship with respondent, or othe'r.relatio'ns'hip that could reasonably

be expected to compromise the ability of the monitor to render fair and u_nbiased
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reports to the Board, including but not Iimited to any form of bartering, shall be in
respondent’s field of practice and must agree to serve as respondent s monitor.

Respondent shall pay all monitoring costs.

The Board or its designee shall provide the approved monitor with copies of the
Decision(s) and A'ccdsation(s), and a proposed monitorin'g- plan. Within 15 calendar - |
days ofreceipt of the Decision(s), Accusa’tion(s) and proposed monitoring plan, the
monitor shall submit a srgned statement that the monitor has read the Dec15|on(s) and
" Accusation(s), fully understands the role of a monitor, and agrees or disagrees with the
proposed monitoring plan. If the monitor disagrees with the proposed monitoring
plan, the monitor shall submit a rev15ed monitoring plan with the srgned statement for

approval by the Board or its designee.

Within 60 calendar days of the effective date of this Decision, and continuing
throughout probation, respondent's practice shall be monitored by the approved
monitor. Respondent shall make all records available for immediate inspection and'
copying on the premises by the monitor at all times during business hours and shaII

retain the records for the entire term of probation.

If respondent fails to obtain approval of a monitor within 60 calendar days of
the effective date of this Decision, respondent shall receive a notification from the
Board or its designee to cease the practice of medicine within three (3) calendar days
after being so notified. Respondent shall cease the practice of medicine until a monitor

is approved to provide monitoring responsibility. -

The monitor(s) shall submit a quarterly written report to the Board or its
designee which includes an evaluation of respondent’s performance, indicating

whether respondent's practices are within the standards of practice of medicine, and
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whether respondent is practlcmg medlcme safely. It shall be the sole responsrblllty of
respondent to -ensure that the monltor submlts the quarterly wrltten reports to the

Board or its dessfm.ee within .” calendar rlays after the end of th prece d. ng quarter,

v

If the'monltor resigns‘or is no longer avai'lable respondent'shall withln 5

'~ calendar days of such resngnatlon or unavallablllty, submlt to the Board or |ts de5|gnee
. for prlor approval the narne_a_nd_g_ua_l~|>f|cat|ons of a replacemerlt_momtorAwh_oyylllloe_w
assumlng that respon5|bll|ty w1th|n 15 calendar days. If respondent falls to obtarn
approval ofa replacement monltor W|th|n 60 calendar days of the resrgnatlon or | -
unavarlablllty of the monitor, respondent shall receive a notification from the Board or -
its desngnee to cease the practice of med|cme Wlthln three (3) calendar days After |

belng e notlfled Respondent shall cease the practlce of medlcrne untll a replacement

monitor is approved and assumes monltorlng respon5|b|I|ty

In lieu of a monitor, respondent may partrcnpate |n a professnonal enhancement

program approved |n advance by the Board or its de5|gnee that mcludes at mlnlmum

quarterly chart review, sem| annual practlce assessment and semi- annual reV|ew of

profeSSIonal growth and education. Respondent shaIl part|C|pate ln the professwnal

enhancement program at respondent s expense durlng the term of probatlon
4. Notifi_cation

Wlthln seven (7) days of the effectrve date of this Decxsnon ‘the respondent shall
provnde a true copy of thls Decision and Flrst Amended Accusatlon to the Chief of Staff
or the Chief Executlve Officer at every hospltal where perIleges or membershlp are
extended to respondent, at any other faC|l|ty where _respondent engages in the
practice ofmedlclne, including all physlcl'an and locum tenens registries or other '.

similar agencies, and to the Chief Executive Officer at every insurance carrier which
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extends malpractice insurance coverage to respondent. Respondent shall submit proof

of compliance to the Board or its designee within 15 calendar days.

This condition shall apply to any change(s) in hospitals, other facilities or

insurance carrier.
5. Obey All Laws

Respondent shall bbey all federal, state and local laws, all rules governing the
practice of medicine in California-and remain in full compliance with any court ordered

criminal probation, payments, and other orders.-
6. Quarterly Declarations

Respondent shall submit quarterly declarations under penalty of perjury on

forms provided by the Board, stating whether there has been compliance with all the

conditions of probation. - _'

Respondent shall submit quarterly declarations not later than 10 calendar days

after the end of the preceding quarter.
7. General Probation Reqyirements
Compliance withﬂP_robation Unit
Respondent shall comply with thelBoard’s probation unit.
Address Changes

Respondent shall, at all times, keep the Board ihformed.of respon'dent's
business and residence addresses, email address (if évailable), and telephone number.

Changes of such addresses shall be immediately communicatéed in writing to the Board
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or its designee. Under no circumstances shall a post office box serve as an address of

"record, except as allowed by Business and Professions Code section 20_21; subdivision

(h\

o Je

Place of Practice |

Respondent shall not engage in the practicei of medicine in respondent’s or

- patient’s place of residence, unless the“patient'resldesln’a skilled nursing-facilityor ----- -- - -~

other similar licensed facility.

 License Renewal

Respondent shall maintain a current and renewed California physician's and

surgeon's license. _ T e

Travel or Residence Outside California

travel to any areas out5|de theJunsdlct|on of California Wl‘llCl‘l lasts, or is contemplated

to last, more than thirty (30) calendar days. | o o

In the event respondent should Ieave the State of Callfornla to resnde or to
practice respondent shall notn‘y the Board orits designee in wrltlng 30 calendar days

prior to the dates of departure and return.
8. Interview with the Board or its Designee

Respondent shall be avallable in person upon request for mtervnews either at
respondent’ s. place of business or at the probatlon unlt ofﬂce W|th of w1thout prlor

notlce throughou_t the term of probatlon.

9. Non-practice While on Probation
116
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‘Respondent shall notify the Board or its designee in writi'ng within 15 calendar - -
~ days of any periods of non—practice Iast"ing more than 30 calendar days and within 15
calendar days of respondent’s return to practice. Non-practice is defined as any period
of time respondent is not practicing medicine as defined in Business and Professions
Code sections 2051 and 2052 for at least 40 hours in a calendar month in direct
patient.care, clinical activity or teaching, or other activity as approved by the Board. If
respondent resides in California and is considered to be in non-practice, .respondent
shall comply with all terms and conditions of probation. All time spent in an intensive
training program which has been approved by the Board or its designee shall not be
considered non- practice and does not relleve respondent from complying with all the
terms and condltlons of probation. Practlcmg medicine in another state of the United
States or FederaIJurlsdlctlon while on probation with the medical licensing authority of
that state orjuri_sdiction'shall not be considered non-practice. A Board-ordered

suspension of practice shall not be considered as a period of non-practice.

In the event respondent’s 'period of non-practice while on probation_exceeds 18
calendar months, respondent shall successfully complete the Federation of State
Medical Board’s Speci_al.Purpose Examination, or, at tne Board's discretion, a clinical
competence assessment program that meets the criteria of Condition 18 of the current
version of the Board's “Manual of Model Disciplinary Orders and Dlsc1pllnary

Guidelines” prlor to resuming the practice of medicine.

Respondent’s period of non-practice while on probation shall not exceed two

(2) years.

Periods of non-practice will not apply to the reduction of the probationary term.
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Periods of non- practice for a respondent re5|d|ng out5|de of Callfornla will
relleve respondent of the responsrblllty to comply W|th the probatlonary terms and
condltlons w1th the exceptlon of this condltlon and the followmg terms and condltlons

| of probatlon Obey All Laws General Probatron Requlrements Quarterly Declaratrons

i

oo —_Abstain from: the _Use. of Alcohol and/or Controlled Substances,_and Blologlcal FIU|d

Testlng

10. - Completion-of Probation

Respondent shall comply wrth all financial obllgatlons (e g restltutlon
probatlon costs) not later than 120 calendar days prlor to the completlon of probatlon
Upon successful completlon of probatron respondent s certlflcate shaIl be fully |

resto red

1. Violation _of Proba_tion'

—Failuret to fully comply wnth -any-term-or condltlon of- probatlon is-a-violation- of —————
probation. If respondent vrolates:probatlon‘ inany respect, the ‘Board, after giving
responden_t notice:‘a_nd theIOpp"ort'unity to be hea rd, may. _revoke__’prob(ation:and carry
out the disciplinary ordv;er_that was stayed. If a_n Accus’ation,jor Petition to Revoke
Probation, or an Interim Suspenslon Order is _.filedagai_nst respor’)ldent during
_probation, the Board shall have continuing jurisdiction until the matter is f_inal, andthe

period of probation shall be extended until the matter is final.
12. License Surrender

Following the effective date of this Decision, if respondent ceases practicing due
to retirement or health reasons or is otherwise unable to satisfy the terms and
conditions of probation, 'respondent may request to 'surr_ender his or her license. The

Board reserves the right to evaluate respondent’s request and to exercise its discretion
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in determining whether or not to gfa_nf the rAequest, or to take any other action
deemed appropriaterand reasonable undervthe éircumstances. Upon formal
acceptance of the surrender, respondent shall within 15 calendar days deliver
respondent’s wallet and wall certificate to the Board of its designee énd respondent
shall no longer practice medicine. Respondent will no longer be subject to the térms
and conditions of probation. If respondeht re-applies for a.medical license, the

application shall be treated as a petition for reinstatement of a revoked certificate.
13. Probation Monitoring Costs

Respondent shall pay the costs associated with probation monitoring eachand
every year of probation, as designated by the Board, which may be adjusted on an
annual basis. Such costs shall be payable to the Medical Board of California and
delivered to the Board or its designee no later than January 31 of each calendar year.

R - - DocuSigned by:
DATE: October 22, 2020 : E’\\\\
) ) ~1AD7BD68CDAB483...
MARY AGNES MATYSZEWSKI

Administrative Law Judge

Office of Administrative Hearings
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XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California

MATTHEW M. DAVIS FILED

Supervising Deputy Attorney General STATE OF CALIFORNIA
LEANNA E. SHIELDS MEDIGAL BQAQD CJF CF\UFORNIA
Deputy Attorney General 5 () 14

State Bar No. 239872

600 West Broadway, Suite 1800

San Diego, CA 92101

P.O. Box 85266

San Diego, CA 92186-5266
Telephone: (619) 738-9401
Facsimile: (619) 645-2061

Attorneys for Complainant

BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
In the Matter of the Accusation Against: Case No. 800-2016-025316
KEVIN SANFORD SMITH, M.D. ACCUSATION

7525 Linda Vista Road, Suite C
San Diego, CA 92111-5344

s

Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate
No. G 70647,

Respondent.

PARTIES

1. Kimberly Kirchmeyer (Complainant) brings this Accusation solely in her official
capacity as the Executive Director of the Medical Board of California, Department of Consumer
Affairs (Board).

2. Onor about January 14, 1991, the Medical Board issued Physician’s and Surgeon’s
Certificate No. G 70647 to Kevin Sanford Smith, M.D. (Respondent). The Physician’s and -
Surgeon’s Certificate was in full force and effect at all times relevant to the charges brought
herein and will expire on June 30, 2020, unless renewed.

n
"
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JURISDICTION

3. This Accusation is brought before the Board, under the authority of the following

laws. All section references are to the Business and Professions Code (Code) unless otherwise

indicated.

"

4, Section 2227 of the Code states:

(a) A licensee whose matter has been heard by an administrative law judge of
the Medical Quality Hearing Panel as designated in Section 11371 of the Government
Code, or whose default has been entered, and who is found guilty, or who has entered
into a stipulation for disciplinary action with the board, may, in accordance with the
provisions of this chapter:

(1) Have his or her license revoked upon order of the board.

(2) Have his or her right to practice suspended for a period not to exceed one
year upon order of the board.

(3) Be placed on probation and be required to pay the costs of probation
monitoring upon order of the board.

(4) Be publicly reprimanded by the board. The public reprimand may include a
requirement that the licensee complete relevant educational courses approved by the
board.

(5) Have any other action taken in relation to discipline as part of an order of
probation, as the board or an administrative law judge may deem proper.

(b) Any matter heard pursuant to subdivision (a), except for warning letters,
medical review or advisory conferences, professional competency examinations,
continuing education activities, and cost reimbursement associated therewith that are
agreed to with the board and successfully completed by the licensee, or other matters
made confidential or privileged by existing law, is deemed public, and shall be made
available to the public by the board pursuant to Section 803.1.

5. Section 2234 of the Code, states, in pertinent part:

The board shall take action against any licensee who is charged with
unprofessional conduct. In addition to other provisions of this article, unprofessional
conduct includes, but is not limited to, the following:

(a) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, assisting in or
abetting the violation of,.or conspiring to violate any provision of this chapter.

(b) Gross negligence.

(c) Repeated negligent acts. To be repeated, there must be two or more
negligent acts or omissions. An initial negligent act or omission followed by a
separate and distinct departure from the applicable standard of care shall constitute
repeated negligent acts.

ACCUSATION (800-2016-025316)
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(1) An initial negligent diagnosis followed by an act or omission medically
appropriate for that negligent diagnosis of the patient shall constitute a single
negligent act.

(2) When the standard of care requires a change in the diagnosis, act, or
omission that constitutes the negligent act described in paragraph (1), including, but
not limited to, a reevaluation of the diagnosis or a change in treatment, and the
licensee’s conduct departs from the applicable standard of care, each departure
constitutes a separate and distinct breach of the standard of care.

6.  Section 2228.1 of the Code states, in pertinent part:

(a) On and after July 1, 2019, except as otherwise provided in subdivision (c),
the board shall require a licensee to provide a separate disclosure that includes the
licensee’s probation status, the length of the probation, the probation end date, all
practice restrictions placed on the licensee by the board, the board’s telephone
number, and an explanation of how the patient can find further information on the
licensee’s probation on the licensee’s profile page on the board’s online license
information Internet Web site, to a patient or the patient’s guardian or health care
surrogate before the patient’s first visit following the probationary order while the
licensee is on probation pursuant to a probationary order made on and after July 1,
2019, in any of the following circumstances:

(1) A final adjudication by the board following an administrative hearing or
admitted findings or prima facie showing in a stipulated settlement establishing any
of the following:

(D) Inappropriate prescribing resulting in harm to patients and a probationary
period of five years or more.

(2) An accusation or statement of issues alleged that the licensee committed any
of the acts described in subparagraphs (A) to (D), inclusive, of paragraph (1), and a
stipulated settlement based upon a nolo contendre or other similar compromise that
does not include any prima facie showing or admission of guilt or fact but does
include an express acknowledgment that the disclosure requirements of this section
would serve to protect the public interest.

(b) A licensee required to provide a disclosure pursuant to subdivision (a) shall
obtain from the patient, or the patient’s guardian or health care surrogate, a separate,
signed copy of that disclosure.

(d) On and after July 1, 2019, the board shall provide the following
information, with respect to licensees on probation and licensees practicing under
probationary licenses, in plain view on the licensee’s profile page on the board’s
online license information Internet Web site.

(1) For probation imposed pursuant to a stipulated settlement, the causes
alleged in the operative accusation along with a designation identifying those causes

ACCUSATION (800-2016-025316)
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by which the licensee has expressly admitted guilt and a statement that acceptance of
the settlement is not an admission of guilt.

(2) For probation imposed by an adjudicated decision of the board, the causes
for probation stated in the final probationary order.

(3) For a licensee granted a probationary license, the causes by which the
probationary license was imposed.

(4) The length of the probation and end date.

(5) All practice restrictions placed on the license by the board.
FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Gross Negligence)

7. Respondent has subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. G 70647 to
disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as deﬁned by 2234, subdivision (b), of the
Code, in that he committed gross negligence in his care and treatment of patients A, B, and C,' as
more particularly alleged hereinafter:

Patient A

8. On or about October 10, 2013,2 patient A, a then 59-year old female, presented for.
pain management for chronic pain in her face, lower back and knees. Respondent performed a
physical examination of patient A and assessed her with, among other things, osteoarthritis, knee
pain, degeneration disc disease, and spinal stenosis. Records for this visit indicate patient A
reported a history of chronic opioid dependence but wished to be weaned off opioids. Records
for this visit indicate patient A signed a Pain Management Program Participation Agreement and
"

"
1 ‘

! Patients’ true names are not used in the instant Accusation to maintain patient confidentiality.
The patients’ identities are known to Respondent or will be disclosed to Respondent upon receipt of a duly
issued request for discovery and in accordance with Government Code section 11507.6.

2 Any medical care or treatment rendered by Respondent more than seven years prior to the filing
of the instant Accusation is described for informational purposes only and not pleaded as a basis for
disciplinary action.
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Consent form and indicated her current medications included, among other things, OxyContin®
(40 mg, three times per day); oxycodone* (30 mg, six times per day as needed); Soma’ (350.mg),
Dilaudid® (4 mg), Klonopin’ (two times per day) and Xanax® (as needed). Patient A also reported
using medicinal marijuana. Records for this visit indicate Respondént issued prescriptions to
patient A for 60 tablets of MS Contin® (60 mg, two times per day), 180 tablets of oxycodone (30
mg, every 6 hours as needed), and 90 tablets of Soma (350 mg, three times per day). Respondent
did not request a urine sample from patient A for a urine drug screen (UDS) at this visit.

!

9.  Beginning from on or about November 4, 2013 through on or about July 29, 2015,

patient A presented for monthly office visits for medication refills. During these visits, patient A

3 OxyContin is a brand name for oxycodone, a Schedule II controlled substance pursuant to Health
and Safety Code section 11055, subdivision (b), and a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and
Professions Code section 4022. When properly prescribed and indicated, it is used for the treatment of
moderate to moderately severe pain. The Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) has identified opioids,
such as Oxycodone, as a drug of abuse. (Drugs of Abuse, DEA Resource Guide (2015 Edition), at p. 43.)

* Oxycodone is a Schedule II controlled substance pursuant to Health and Safety Code section
11055, subdivision (b), and a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022.
When properly prescribed and indicated, it is used for the treatment of moderate to moderately severe pain.
The Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) has identified opioids, such as Oxycodone, as a drug of
abuse. (Drugs of Abuse, DEA Resource Guide (2015 Edition), at p. 43.)

3 Soma is a brand name for Carisoprodol, a Schedule IV controlled substance pursuant to 21 C.F.R.
§ 1308.14, and a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. When properly
prescribed and indicated, it is used as a muscle relaxant. According to the DEA, Office of Diversion Control,
published comment on Carisoprodol, dated March 2014, “[c]arisoprodol abuse has escalated in the last
decade in the United States...According to Diversion Drug Trends, published by the Drug Enforcement
Administration (DEA) on the trends in diversion of controlled and non-controlled pharmaceuticals,
carisoprodol continues to be one of the most commonly diverted drugs.”

% Dilaudid is a brand name for hydromorphone, a Schedule II controlled substance pursuant to
Health and Safety Code section 11055, subdivision (b), and a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and
Professions Code section 4022.

7 Klonopin is a brand name for clonazepam, a Schedule IV controlled substance pursuant to Health
and Safety Code section 11057, subdivision (d), and a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and
Professions Cotle section 4022. It is an anti-anxiety medication in the benzodiazepine family.

8 Xanax is a brand name for alprazolam, a Schedule IV controlled substance pursuant to Health
and Safety Code section 11057, subdivision (d), and a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and
Professions Code section 4022. Alprazolam is a short-acting benzodiazepine. When properly prescribed
and indicated, it is commonly used to relieve anxiety.

 MS Contin is a brand name for morphine, a Schedule II controlled substance pursuant to Health
and Safety Code section 11055, subdivision (b), and a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and
Professions Code section 4022.
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was seen either by Respondent or a physician assistant under Respondent’s supervision. Records
for these visits indicate patient A’s medications were refilled on a monthly basis without any
change in dosage or frequency.

10.  Beginning from on or about October 10, 2013 through on or about August 7, 2015,
the California Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES)
database'® lists regular monthly prescriptions for MS Contin, oxycodone, and Soma, as having
been issuéd by either Respondent or a physician assistant under Respondent’s supervision and
filled to patient A.

11.  Throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of patient A, Respondent
failed to review the CURES database for controlled substance prescriptions listed for patient A.

12.  Beginning from on or about October 10, 2013 through on or about August 7, 2015,
Respondent’s records for patient A indicate approximately five urine drug screens were requested
and obtained, on dates including, but not limited to, December 2, 2013, March 20, 2014, April 17,
2014, January 15, 2015, and July 1, 2015. Results for these urine drugs screens revealed
numerous inconsistent!! results, including, but not limited to, positive results for marijuana and
benzodiazepines and negative results for opiates and morphine. However, Respondent’s records
for patient A do not document any discussion with patient A regarding these inconsistencies, nor
do they reflect any change in medications prescribedlto patient A.

13.  Beginning from on or about October 10, 2013 through on or about August 7, 2015,
Respondent’s records for patient A indicate patient A reported experiencing various adverse

effects, including but not limited to, severe abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, headaches, irritable

19 The Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES) is a program
operated by the California Department of Justice (DOJ) to assist health care practitioners in their efforts to
ensure appropriate prescribing of controlled substances, and law enforcement and regulatory agencies in
their efforts to control diversion and abuse of controlled substances. (Health & Saf. Code, § 11165.)
California law requires dispensing pharmacies to report to the DOJ the dispensing of Schedule 1, III, and
IV controlled substances as soon as reasonably possible after the prescriptions are filled. (Health & Saf.
Code, § 11165, subd. (d).) It is important to'note that the history of controlled substances dispensed to a
specific patient based on the data contained in CURES is available to a health care practitioner who is
treating that patient. (Health & Saf. Code, § 11165.1, subd. (a).)

' Urine Drug Screen results are considered “inconsistent” when either prescribed medications are
not detected (negative) or non-prescribed medications are detected (positive).

6
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bowel syndrome and fecal impaction. However, Respondent’s records for patient A do not
document any discussion with patient A to address these side effects nor do they reflect any
change in medications prescribed to patient A.

14.  On multiple occasions throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of
patient A, Respondent’s records for patient A contained content that failed to adequately or
accurately describe observations, discussions, or conduct occurring on the date indicated, but
rather was generated by default by the medical record keeping system or was copied forward
from prior visit notes.

15. Throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of patient A, records for
patient A indicate review and approval of numerous visit notes was not conducted by Respondent
until several months after each visit.

16. Respondent committed gross negligence in his care and treatment of patient A,
including, but not limited to:

(a) Prescribing a combination of high dose bpioids and Soma to patient A;

(b) Failing to adequately modify patient A’s controlled substance regimen;

(¢) Failing to review patient A’s CURES report;

(d) Failing to obtain more frequent urine drug screens; and

(e) Failing to adequately maintain timely medical records for patient A.
Patient B

17. On or about July 8, 2014, patient B, a then 50-year old male, presen}ed for pain
management for chronic pain due in his lower back and neck. Respondent performed a physical
examination of patient B and assessed him with, among other things, lower back pain and
degeneration of lumbar discs. Records for this visit indicate patient B reported a history of drug
addiction and occasional use of marijuana for pain relief. Records for this visit indicate patient B
signed a Pain Management Program Participation Agreement and Consent form and indicated his
"

"
"
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current medications included, among other things, Percocet'? (10/325, four times per day) and
Soma (350 mg, three times per day). Records for this visit indicate Respondent issued
prescriptions to patient B for 60 tablets of MS Contin (15 mg, two times per day), 180 tablets of
Percocet (10/325, up to six times per day as needed), and 90 tablets of Soma (350 mg, three times
per day). Respondent requested patient B provide a urine sample for a UDS.

18. Beginning from on or about August 5, 2014 through on or about May 29, 2015,
patient B presented for monthly office visits for medication refills. During these visits, patient B
was seen either by Respondent or a physician assistant under Respondent’s supervision. Records
for these visits indicate patient B’s medications were refilled on a monthly basis with minimal
changes.

19.  On or about October 28, 2014, patient B reportedly tripped and fell on his back
causing him to experience increased }?ain. Records for this visit indicate Respondent’s physician
assistant began issuing Naproxen'? to patient B in addition to his other pain medications, which
then continuéd for the remainder of his care.

20. On or about December 19, 2014, patient B reportedly fell off his bike and fractured
his ribs. Records for this visit indicate Respondent’s physician assistant increased patient B’s
prescription for MS Contin from 15 mg two times per day, to 15 mg three times per day, which
then continued for the remainder of his care.

21. Onor about January 20, 2015, patient B presented for medication refills. Records for
this visit indicate Respondent’s physician assistant issued a prescription to patient B for
Amitriptyline without documenting any rationale for this prescription, which also continued for
the remainder of his care:

"

12 percocet is a brand name for oxycodone and acetaminophen combination (10 mg oxycodone,
325 mg acetaminophen). Oxycodone is a Schedule 11 controlled substance pursuant to Health and Safety
Code section 11055, subdivision (b), and a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and Professions Code
section 4022.

13 Naproxen is a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) commonly used to treat fevers and
pain. It is considered a dangerous drug pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022.

8
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22.  Onor about February 17, 2015, patient B presented for médication refills. Records
for this visit indicate patient B requested to switch his prescription for Percocet for oxycodone.
Records for this visit indicate Respondent’s physician assistant issued a refill for-patient B’s
previous medications and replaced patient B’s Percocet prescription with 180 tablets of
oxycodone (10 mg, every 6 hours as needed).

23.  Onor about April 21,2015, patient B presented for medication refills. Records for
this visit indicate patient B requested to switch back from oxycodone to Percocet. Records for
this visit indicate Respondent’s physician assistant issued a refill for patient B’s previous |
medications and replaced patient B’s oxycodone prescription with a prescription for Percocet,
which continued for the remainder of his care.

24. Beginning from on or about July 8, 2014 through on or about June 17, 2015, the
CURES database lists recurring monthly prescriptions for MS Contin, Percocet, oxycodone, and
Soma, as having been issued by either Respondent or a physician assistant under Respondent’s
supervision and filled to patient B.

25. Throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of patient B, Respondent
failed to review the CURES database for controlled substance prescriptions listed for patient B.

26. Beginning from on or about July 8, 2014 through on or about June 17, 2015,
Respondent’s records for patient B indicate approximately three urine drug screens were
requested and obtained, on dates including, but not limited to, July 8, 2014, April 21, 2015, and
May 19, 2015. Results for these urine drug screens revealed numerous inconsistent results,
including, but not limited to, positive results for marijuana on all three tests, and negative results
for oxycodone on April 21, 2015. However, Respondent’s records for patient B do not document
any discussion with patient B regarding these inconsistencies until May 29, 2015, when patient B
was discharged as a patient.

27. Beginning from on or about July 8, 2014 through on or about June 17, 201_5,
Respondent’s records for patient B indicate patient B reported a history of substance abuse,
continued use of marijuana, and past use of methamphetamine, most recently within 18 months.

Records also indicate patient B reportedly smelled of alcohol and displayed slurred speech during

9
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an office visit on May 19, 2015. However, Respondent’s records for patient B do not document
any increase in UDS testing or any change in medications prescribed to patient B.

28.  On multiple occasions throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of
patient B, Respondent’s records for patient B contained content that failed to adequately or
accurately describe observations, discussions, or conduct occurring on the date indicated, but
rather was generated by default by the medical record keeping system or was copied forward
from prior visit notes.

29.  Throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of patient B, records for
patient B indicate review and approval of numerous visit notes was not conducted by Respondent
until several months after each visit.

30. Respondent committed gross negligence in his care and treatment of patient B,
including, but not limited to:

(a) Prescribing a combination of high dose opioids and Soma to patient B;

(b) Failing to adequately modify patient B’s controlled substance regimen;

(c) Fai.ling to review patient B’s CURES report;

(d) Failing to obtain more frequent urine drug screens; and

(e) Failing to adequately maintain timely medical records for patient B.
Patient C

31. On or about August 26, 2014, patient C, a then 50-year old female, presented for pain
management for chronic back pain, chronic pain in her left foot, and numbness in her lower left
extremities. Respondent performed a physical examination of patient C and assessed her with,
among other things, degeneration of lumbar discs and plantar fasciitis. Records for this visit
indicate patient C signed a Pain Management Program Participation Agreement and (\Zonsent form
and indicated her current medications included, among other things, morphine sulfate (15 mg,

four times per day), morphine sulfate IR (MSIR)!* (30 mg, six times per day) and Amitriptyline

¥ MSIR (Morphine Sulfate Immediate Release) is the immediate release version of morphine.
Morphine is a Schedule II controlled substance pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 11055,
subdivision (b), and a dangerous-drug pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022.
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(50 mg). Records for this visit indicate Respondent issued prescriptions to patient C for 60 tablets
of MS Contin Extended Release (15 mg, two per day) and 180 capsules of MSIR (30 mg, every 4
to 6 hours as needed, maximum six per day). Respondent did not request a urine sample from
patient C for a UDS at this visit.

32. Beginning from on or about September 23, 2014 through on or about October 11,
2017, patient C presented for monthly office visits for medication refills. During these visits,
patient C was seen either by Respondent or a physician assistant under Respondent’s supervision.
Records for these visits indicate patient C’s medications were refilled on a monthly basis without
any change in dosage or frequency, except on two occasions.

33.  Onor about January 18, 2017, patient C presented for medication refills. Records for
this visit indicate Respondent’s physician assistant issued a prescription to patient C for 160
capsules of MSIR (30 mg) and encouraged patient C to lower her opioid regimen. However, at
patient C’s next visit, her prescription for MSIR returned to 180 capsules (30 mg).

34.  On or about September 11, 2017, patient C presented for medication refills. Records
for this visit indicate Respondent’s physician assistant issued a prescription to patient C for 120
capsules of MSIR (30 mg) and 35 tablets of MS Contin (15 mg). This reduced prescription was
again issued on or about October 11, 2017 to patient C, her final visit with Respondent and his
physician assistants.

35. Beginning from on or about August 31, 2014 through on or about October 11, 2017,
the CURES database lists recurring monthly prescriptions for morphine (MS Contin 15 mg and
MSIR 30 mg) as having been issued by either Respondent or a physician assistant under
Respondent’s supervision and filled to patient C.

36. Throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of patient C, Respondent
failed to review the CURES database for controlled substance prescriptions listed for patient C.
" |
n

v
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37. Throughout Respondent’s care and treatment of patient C, Respondent’s prescribing
regimen for patient C maintained patient C at a daily morphine equivalent dose (MED)!® of 210
mg of morphine per day.

38.  On multiple occasions throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of
patient C, Respondent’s records for patient C contained content that failed to adequately or
accurately describe observations, discussions, or conduct occurring on the date indicated, but
rather was generated by default by the medical record keeping system or was copied forward
from prior visit notes.

39. Throughout the course of Respondent’s care and treatment of patient C, records for
patient C indicate review and approval of numerous visit notes was not conducted by Respondent
until several months after each visit.

40. Respondent committed gross negligence in his care and treatment of patient C,
including, but not limited to:

(a) Failing to adequately modify patient C’s controlled substance regimen;
(b) Failing to review patient C’'s CURES report; and
(c) Failing to adequately maintain timely medical records for patient C.
SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Repeated Negligent Acts)

4]. Respondent has further subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. G
70647 to disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as defined by section 2234,
subdivision (c), of the Code, in that he committed repeated negligent acts in his care and
treatment of patients A, B, and C, as more p:drtipularly alleged hereinafter:

1"
"

15 Morphine Equivalent Dose (MED), also commonly referred to as Morphine Milligram
Equivalent (MME), is used to equate different opioids into one standard value, based on morphine and its
potency, referred to as MED or MME. MED/MME calculations permit all opioids to be converted to an
equivalent of one medication, for ease of comparison and risk evaluations. In general, the standard of
practice is to limit a patient’s opioid dose to less than 50 MED/MME in most patients receiving opioid
treatment for chronic pain, and to exceed 90 MED/MME in only the most unusual circumstances.
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but not limited to:

but not limited to:

42.

(a)

(®

- (©

(d)

Respondent committed negligence in his care and treatment of patient A, including,

Paragraphs 8 through 16, above, are hereby incorporated by reference and
realleged as if fully set forth herein;

Failing to obtain adequate consultations for complex pain issues;

Failing to adequately document a detailed physical examination of all
areas of patient A’s pain complaints; and

Failing to adequately document treatment objectives of continued opioid

therapy.

43. Respondent committed negligence in his care and treatment of patient B, including,

44.

(2)

(b)

t

(©)

(d)

Paragraphs 17 through 30, above, are hereby incorporated by reference
and realleged as if fully set forth herein;

Failing to obtain adequate consultations for complex pain issues;

Failing to adequately document a detailed physical examination of all
areas of patient B’s pain complaints; and

Failing to adequately document treatment objectives of continued opioid

therapy.

Respondent committed negligence in his care and treatment of patient C, including,

but not limited to:

"

(a)

(b)
(©)

(d)

Paragraphs 31 through 40, above, are hereby incorporated by reference
and realleged as if fully set forth herein;

Failing to obtain adequate consultations for co'mplex pain issues;
Failing to adequately document a detailed physical examination of all
areas of patient C’s pain complaints; and

Failing to adequately document treatment objectives of continued opioid

therapy.
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THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Violations of Provisions of the Medical Practice Act) 4
45. Respondent has further subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate
No. G 70647 to disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as defined by section 2234,
subdivision (a), of the Code in that he violated or attempted to violate, directly or indirectly, any
provision of the Medical Practice Act as more particularly alleged in paragraphs 7 to 44, above,
which are hereby incorporated by reference and realleged as if fully set forth herein.

DISCIPLINARY CONSIDERATIONS

46. To determine the degree of discipline, if any, to be imposed on Respondent Kevin
Sanford Smith, M.D.; Complainant alleges that on or about July 25, 2013, in a prior investigation
of Kevin Sanford Smith, M.D., by the Medical Board of California in Case No. 10-2011-213184,
Respondent’s license was publicly reprimanded for repeated negligent acts, in violation of séction
2234, subdivision (c), of the Code. That decision is now final and is incorporated by reference as
if fully set forth herein.

n
"
"
"
"
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PRAYER

WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein alleged,
and that following the hearing, the Medical Board of California issue a decision:

1.  Revoking or suspending Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. G 70647, issued
to Respondent Kevin Sanford Smith, M.D.;

2. Révoking, suspending or denying approval of Respondent Kevin Sanford Smith,
M.D.’s authority to supervise physician assistants and advanced practice nurses;

3. Ordering Respondent Kevin Sanford Smith, M.D., if placed on probation, to pay the
Board the costs of probation monitoring;

4, Ordering Respondent Kevin Sanford Smith, M.D., if placed on probation, to disclose
the disciplinary order to patients pursuant to section 2228.1 of the Code; and

5. Taking such other and further action as deemed necessary and proper.

.

DATED:AuguSt 15, 2019

KIMBERLY/KIRCHMEYHER
Executive Divector

Medical Board of California
Department of Consumer Affairs
State of California
Complainant

SD2019701755
13995720.docx
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